NEUROINFLAMMATION AS A TARGET FOR INTERVENTION IN SUBARACHNOID HEMORRHAGE

EDITED BY: Fernando Testai and J. Marc Simard PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neurology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-303-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-303-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

NEUROINFLAMMATION AS A TARGET FOR INTERVENTION IN SUBARACHNOID HEMORRHAGE

Topic Editors:

Fernando Testai, University of Illinois at Chicago, United States J. Marc Simard, University of Maryland, Baltimore, United States

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is a stroke subtype that affects, preponderantly, young adults. This condition carries a mortality of approximately 30-50% and a rate of permanent neurological disability of 30%. In addition, a substantial number of patients with an apparent good outcome suffer from residual neurocognitive impairment which, though subtle, prevents them from returning to work and having a normal life. Based on these data, it has been estimated that SAH is responsible for almost a guarter of all the years lost because of stroke. The calcium channel blocker nimodipine remains the only pharmacological treatment for SAH. This drug, however, has limited effectiveness and its use in clinical practice may be limited due to hypotension. Therefore, novel and effective treatments for this condition are desperately needed. The outcome in SAH has been associated with early brain injury, vasospasm, and delayed cerebral ischemia. Mechanistically, these processes are characterized by micro- and macro-vascular dysfunction, microthrombi formation, blood-brain barrier (BBB) dysregulation, brain edema, and neural-cell survival. Soon after SAH, there is a robust inflammatory response characterized by pyrexia, leukocytosis, and upregulation of adhesion molecules and cytokines in the periphery and in the CNS. Observational studies have shown that patients with more severe inflammatory responses experience worse outcomes after SAH. At the molecular level, different proinflammatory intracellular signaling pathways, including mitogen-activated protein-kinase and nuclear factor kappa- β , are activated in cerebral vessels after experimental SAH and their inhibition has been shown to decrease the occurrence of vasospasm. In addition, clinical and preclinical data have linked cytokine upregulation (interleukins [IL]-1B, IL-6 and IL-8, tumor necrosis factor- α , and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1), enhanced expression of adhesion molecules (selectins, integrins, and ICAM), and neutrophil activation to vasospasm of large cerebral arteries, microvascular dysregulation, and cell death. Moreover, immune cells regulate hemostasis and secrete active proteases, including matrix metalloproteinase 9, which promote microthrombosis and induce blood brain barrier dysfunction, respectively. In this context, it has been suggested that an enhanced inflammatory burden might contribute to brain injury in SAH through numerous downstream mechanisms. On the other hand, growing evidence demonstrates that neuroinflammation may influence the proliferation and migration of progenitor cells that participate of synaptic plasticity, neurogenesis, and neurorepair.

Citation: Testai, F., Simard, J. M., eds. (2019). Neuroinflammation as a Target for Intervention in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-303-6

Table of Contents

04 Plasma Soluble Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator Receptor is not Associated With Neurological Outcome in Patients With Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Heikki Kiiski, Ville Jalkanen, Marika Ala-Peijari, Mari Hämäläinen, Eeva Moilanen, Jukka Peltola and Jyrki Tenhunen

11 High Compliance With Scheduled Nimodipine is Associated With Better Outcome in Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Patients Cotreated With Heparin Infusion

Aaron Wessell, Matthew J. Kole, Neeraj Badjatia, Gunjan Parikh, Jennifer S. Albrecht, David L. Schreibman and J. Marc Simard

- 20 Amino Acids in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients With Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage: An Observational Study Bartosz Sokół, Bartosz Urbaniak, Norbert Wąsik, Szymon Plewa, Agnieszka Klupczyńska, Roman Jankowski, Barbara Więckowska, Robert Juszkat and Zenon Kokot
- 31 Corrigendum: Amino Acids in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients With Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage: An Observational Study Bartosz Sokół, Bartosz Urbaniak, Norbert Wąsik, Szymon Plewa, Agnieszka Klupczyńska, Roman Jankowski, Barbara Więckowska, Robert Juszkat and Zenon Kokot
- 38 Xenon Reduces Neuronal Hippocampal Damage and Alters the Pattern of Microglial Activation After Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Randomized Controlled Animal Trial

Michael Veldeman, Mark Coburn, Rolf Rossaint, Hans Clusmann, Kay Nolte, Benedikt Kremer and Anke Höllig

46 The Role of Thromboinflammation in Delayed Cerebral Ischemia After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Devin W. McBride, Spiros L. Blackburn, Peeyush Kumar T, Kanako Matsumura and John H. Zhang

- 55 Hypothesis on the Role of Cryptochromes in Inflammation and Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Outcome
 Adriano Barreto Nogueira, Ariel Barreto Nogueira, José Carlos Esteves Veiga and Manoel Jacobsen Teixeira
- 62 Time Courses of Inflammatory Markers After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage and Their Possible Relevance for Future Studies Anke Höllig, Birgit Stoffel-Wagner, Hans Clusmann, Michael Veldeman, Gerrit A. Schubert and Mark Coburn
- 71 *Heparin: The Silver Bullet of Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage?* Nicolas K. Khattar and Robert F. James
- 75 Neuroinflammation as a Target for Intervention in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Airton Leonardo de Oliveira Manoel and R. Loch Macdonald





Plasma Soluble Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator Receptor Is Not Associated with Neurological Outcome in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Heikki Kiiski^{1*†}, Ville Jalkanen^{1†}, Marika Ala-Peijari¹, Mari Hämäläinen², Eeva Moilanen², Jukka Peltola³ and Jyrki Tenhunen^{1,4}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

J. Marc Simard, University of Maryland Baltimore, USA

Reviewed by:

Anke Höllig, Uniklinik RWTH Aachen, Germany Caron Hong, University of Maryland Medical Center, USA

*Correspondence:

Heikki Kiiski heikki.kiiski@fimnet.fi

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 15 February 2017 Accepted: 30 March 2017 Published: 18 April 2017

Citation:

Kiiski H, Jalkanen V, Ala-Peijari M, Hämäläinen M, Moilanen E, Peltola J and Tenhunen J (2017) Plasma Soluble Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator Receptor Is Not Associated with Neurological Outcome in Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Front. Neurol. 8:144. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00144 ¹ Critical Care Medicine Research Group, Department of Intensive Care, Tampere University Hospital, Tampere, Finland, ² The Immunopharmacology Research Group, Faculty of Medicine and Life Sciences, University of Tampere, Tampere University Hospital, Tampere, Finland, ³ Department of Neurology, University of Tampere, Tampere University Hospital, Tampere, Finland, ⁴ Department of Surgical Sciences, Division of Anesthesiology and Intensive Care, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

Object: Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) is a common cause of death or long-term disability. Despite advances in neurocritical care, there is still only a very limited ability to monitor the development of secondary brain injury or to predict neurological outcome after aSAH. Soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (suPAR) has shown potential as a prognostic and as an inflammatory biomarker in a wide range of critical illnesses since it displays an association with overall immune system activation. This is the first time that suPAR has been evaluated as a prognostic biomarker in aSAH.

Methods: In this prospective population-based study, plasma suPAR levels were measured in aSAH patients (n = 47) for up to 5 days. suPAR was measured at 0, 12, and 24 h after patient admission to the intensive care unit (ICU) and daily thereafter until he/ she was transferred from the ICU. The patients' neurological outcome was evaluated with the modified Rankin Scale (mRS) at 6 months after aSAH.

Results: suPAR levels (n = 47) during the first 24 h after aSAH were comparable in groups with a favorable (mRS 0–2) or an unfavorable (mRS 3–6) outcome. suPAR levels during the first 24 h were not associated with the findings in the primary brain CT, with acute hydrocephalus, or with antimicrobial medication use during 5-days' follow-up. suPAR levels were associated with generally accepted inflammatory biomarkers (C-reactive protein, leukocyte count).

Conclusion: Plasma suPAR level was not associated with either neurological outcome or selected clinical conditions. While suPAR is a promising biomarker for prognostication in several conditions requiring intensive care, it did not reveal any value as a prognostic biomarker after aSAH.

Keywords: aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage, biomarkers, neurological outcome, secondary brain injury, soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor, neuroinflammation

4

INTRODUCTION

Urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR) (CD87) is present on various immunologically active cells, and its expression becomes elevated by inflammatory conditions and ischemic diseases (1, 2). The soluble form [soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (suPAR)] in serum or plasma has emerged as an inflammatory biomarker capable of reflecting overall immune system activation (3, 4).

Previously, it has been shown that uPAR expression is induced in cerebral ischemia (5) and traumatic brain injury (6). Moreover, it has been claimed that uPAR may further augment cerebral injury (7). The induction of uPAR expression on the cell surface is believed to increase the levels of the soluble form of uPAR (8). Previously, suPAR has been shown to have predictive value in acutely, critically ill patients (9–13), including those who have suffered brain trauma (14). However, as far as we are aware, suPAR concentrations have not been evaluated as a prognostic biomarker in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage.

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) is a devastating disease causing long-term disability and up to 50% mortality (15). A significant proportion of the patients are young and previously healthy in comparison to individuals suffering other types of strokes (16). The main causes for poor prognosis are early brain injury and delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI), which cause permanent neurological deficits (17–19). The prediction of outcome is difficult and unsatisfactory as the secondary injury process in aSAH is multifactorial and incompletely understood (17, 20).

It is well established that inflammation plays a major role in vasospasm and subsequent DCI after aSAH (21, 22). A plethora of biomarkers have been studied in aSAH and DCI, e.g., neuron and astrocyte-specific markers (e.g., NSE, s100b, and UCHL-1), inflammatory biomarkers (e.g., IL-6, HMGB-1), and molecular adhesion and extracellular matrix markers (e.g., MMP-9) (16, 23–25). However, none of these putative biomarkers has so far proved to be useful in clinical decision-making. As ischemic events and inflammation are one characteristic feature of aSAH, it seemed reasonable to speculate that circulating plasma suPAR concentrations would increase during the acute stage after aSAH. Therefore, we hypothesized that either the plasma suPAR concentration or alternatively its changes over time could be useful in predicting the neurological outcome following aSAH.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The clinical data and blood samples from this patient cohort have been used in a previously published study (25). Following registration in Clinical Trials (NCT02026596, https://clinicaltrials. gov) and approval by the institutional ethics committee, we conducted a prospective, observational, single-center clinical study in Tampere University Hospital (Tampere, Finland) intensive care unit (ICU). The study population consisted of 61 consecutive adult aSAH patients admitted to our tertiary referral center during a 10-month period in 2013. Written informed consent was obtained from each of the patients or from their next of kin. All patients were treated according to standard in-house guidelines, which included intravenous nimodipine to prevent vasospasm and routine laboratory samples. In the final analyses, we chose to exclude those 14 patients with an unknown time of onset of symptoms or in whom the suPAR concentration was not measured during the first 24 h after the onset of symptoms. By including only those 47 patients with a known onset of clinical ictus and suPAR measurement during the first 24 h after the onset of symptoms, we eliminated the possibility that changes in suPAR concentrations would be attributable to different delays to hospital admission after aSAH.

The plasma suPAR concentration was measured at 0, 12, and 24 h after the admission and every 24 h for up to 5 days or until the patient was transferred from the ICU. World Federation of Neurological Surgeons Grading Scale, Fisher grade, and 6-month modified Rankin Scale (mRS) were used to evaluate the severity of aSAH and neurological recovery as previously described (25). The incidence of acute hydrocephalus was defined as the need for ventriculostomy on a clinical basis during the first 24 h after aSAH. Infection was defined as the need for antimicrobial medication during intensive care follow-up period.

As a part of our in-house guideline, an arterial cannula was routinely inserted. Blood samples for suPAR were collected into EDTA-containing tubes from the arterial cannula and the samples were immediately centrifuged for 10 min at 2,000 g at room temperature. After centrifugation, the plasma was collected and frozen at -70° C. After thawing, plasma suPAR levels were measured with a commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (suPARnostic[®], ViroGates, Birkeroed, Denmark). The detection limit and inter-assay coefficient of variation were 0.45 ng/ml and 3.2%, respectively.

Before the statistical analysis, the suPAR measurements were divided into consecutive 24 h intervals, starting from the onset of symptoms. If suPAR was measured more than once per interval, the mean concentration was used. In a subgroup of 22 patients who had up to 5-days' follow-up, we also checked whether the patient had been treated for DCI. Initiation of this treatment was based on clinical evaluation. Statistical analyses were performed with R (version 3.3.2 for Mac Os X). Fisher's exact test was used with the categorical variables. Due to the non-normal distribution of measured biomarkers, Mann–Whitney *U*-test was used for between-group comparisons. Correlations were evaluated with Spearman's correlation test. Linear regression was used in the time interval analyses.

RESULTS

The basic characteristics of the study cohort and the subset of patients with 5-day follow-up have been previously reported (25). The time course of plasma suPAR concentrations in the two groups according to neurological outcome are depicted in **Figure 1**.

Plasma suPAR concentrations during the first 24 h after aSAH were comparable in the groups with a favorable (mRS 0–2) and an unfavorable (mRS 3–6) outcome (**Figure 2A**). Similarly, no differences were detected in the suPAR levels between those patients presenting with severe (WFNS 4–5) vs. non-severe (WFNS 1–3)





(n = 22) with a favorable or an unfavorable neurological outcome (B).

findings in terms of their clinical status on admission (**Table 1**). Furthermore, the plasma suPAR concentration during the first 24 h was not associated with the findings from the primary brain CT (Fisher grade) with acute hydrocephalus or with antimicrobial medication during the 5-days' follow-up (**Table 1**). Age over 70 years was a strong predictor of an unfavorable neurological outcome, i.e., only one patient over 70 years experienced a neurologically favorable outcome (p = 0.037, **Table 2**).

suPAR was measured daily up to 5 days after the admission unless the patient died or was transferred from the ICU. In the 22 patients in whom we had suPAR concentrations measured up to 5 days, four patients achieved a favorable neurological outcome

TABLE 1 Soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor	
(suPAR) concentrations ($n = 47$) within 24 h from aneurysmal	
subarachnoid hemorrhage and the association with selected clinic	al
conditions.	

suPAR (ng/ml)	Mean	SD	Median	IQR	<i>p</i> -Value
Modified Rankin Scale					0.234
0–2 (n = 16)	2.30	0.75	2.21	1.73-2.77	
3–6 (n = 31)	2.66	0.96	2.37	2.06-3.05	
World Federation of					0.803
Neurological Surgeons					
grading scale					
1–3 (n = 28)	2.59	1.05	2.26	2.00-2.79	
4–5 (n = 19)	2.47	0.66	2.41	2.00-2.86	
Fisher					0.240
1-2 (n = 14)	2.36	0.93	2.05	1.67-2.78	
3-4 (n = 33)	2.61	0.90	2.41	2.07-2.80	
Infection					0.402
Yes $(n = 14)$	2.55	0.64	2.61	2.21-2.88	
No (n = 33)	2.53	1.01	2.22	1.92-2.79	
Acute hydrocephalus					0.845
Yes (n = 19)	2.54	0.83	2.27	2.09-2.80	
No (n = 28)	2.53	0.97	2.34	1.92–2.83	

Mann–Whitney U-test was used.

TABLE 2 | The relationship between neurological outcome and age.

	Age ≤ 70	Age > 70	p-Value
			0.037
Modified Rankin Scale (mRS) 0–2	15	1	
mRS 3-6	20	11	

Fisher's exact test was used.

(mRS 0–2). The linear regression did not detect any statistically significant elevation of suPAR levels during the 5-days' follow-up in patients with either a favorable (mRS 0–2) or an unfavorable (mRS 3–6) neurological outcome (**Figure 3**). In addition, at day five, plasma suPAR concentrations were comparable in the two groups (**Figure 2B**).

Delayed cerebral ischemia treatment was initiated in 16/22 patients during the hospital stay in the subgroup in which we had at least a 5-day ICU follow-up. Neither DCI treatment nor infection or acute hydrocephalus was associated with plasma suPAR concentrations (**Table 3**).

The peak plasma suPAR concentration during the 5 days of follow-up was positively correlated with peak levels of C-reactive protein (CRP) (p = 0.039) and leukocyte numbers (p = 0.006). The plasma suPAR concentration was positively correlated with the leukocyte count during the first 24 h (p = 0.049). In contrast, suPAR levels were not associated with age (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

The present study aimed to evaluate the potential prognostic value of plasma suPAR concentrations after an aSAH. In contrast to our working hypothesis, plasma suPAR did not show any association with neurological outcome, survival, acute hydrocephalus, clinical infection, or DCI in our patient cohort.

The inflammatory reaction and increase of systemic inflammatory mediators in aSAH is well documented (22, 26). Even though substantial evidence is accumulating in the literature highlighting the significant role of neuroinflammation in the outcome of aSAH, it is still unclear which, if any, inflammatory biomarkers can be used to guide clinical decision-making. The apparent biphasic nature of the inflammatory response after aSAH makes this challenge even more demanding. Neuroinflammation seems to have properties, which can be considered in some cases as protective, but in others, as deleterious, e.g., depending on the magnitude of the response, time-point after the ictus when activation of the inflammatory response occurs, and the type of cells recruited in the response (27). Hence, it is not surprising that there is inconsistency regarding the prognostic value of many inflammatory biomarkers such as IL-6 and HMGB1 after aSAH (19, 25, 28, 29). Nevertheless, although no biomarker has been identified, these studies have increased our understanding of the inflammatory process in aSAH and, in fact, also novel inflammatory biomarkers are claimed to have some prognostic potential, e.g., toll-like receptor 4 (30).

suPAR is considered as an inflammatory biomarker and mediator, a proposal that is well supported in the literature. Previously, increased serum or plasma suPAR levels have been postulated as a prognostic factor for poor outcome in critically ill patients with an inflammatory condition (31). The plasma suPAR concentrations in our aSAH cohort were low compared to septic and non-septic ICU patients with organ dysfunction (32). Nosocomial infections, organ dysfunction, and SIRS are frequent after aSAH (33, 34). Although the value of suPAR has been verified in infections and organ dysfunction (13, 32, 35), we did not detect high levels of suPAR, even later in the course of intensive care. One possible confounding factor distinguishing aSAH from other acute neurological conditions is that all of our patients received nimodipine to prevent DCI. Nimodipine has been shown to decrease plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) activity (36). As PAI-1 is the major inhibitor of urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA), plasminogen activity and fibrinolysis may increase as a consequence of decreased PAI-1 activity. UPA can cleave the GPI-anchor on cell surface, but since a correct ratio of uPA is required for cleavage, it is possible that excess uPA due to nimodipine may inhibit the cleavage of suPAR from the cell surface (4, 8). suPAR also displays uPA dose dependence for binding to vitronectin (37), which may alter suPAR levels. Furthermore, previous reports have described suPAR-fragment release from activated neutrophils (38) and inhibition of neutrophil activation by two calcium antagonists, felodipine, and nimodipine (39), thereby supporting the concept that nimodipine may indeed be the factor modifying the suPAR response in our patient cohort. This speculative hypothesis and thus the potential direct effect of nimodipine on plasma suPAR concentrations could not be further tested/evaluated in our patient cohort. Moreover, as nimodipine is considered as part of current best practice, it would be unethical to establish a control group not receiving nimodipine after aSAH. Any further experiments to test this hypothesis will need to be conducted as preclinical/animal studies.

Overall, the suPAR response, i.e., the increase in the plasma concentrations of suPAR observed in this study, was rather modest in comparison with that observed in other critically ill patients, even though there was biochemically logical correlation



TABLE 3 | Soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (suPAR) levels on day five from aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage patients (n = 22) in whom there was 5-days' intensive care unit follow-up data and their association with selected clinical conditions.

suPAR (ng/ml)	Mean	SD	Median	IQR	<i>p</i> -Value
Modified Rankin Scale					0.187
0-2 (n = 4)	2.24	0.72	2.18	1.99–2.43	
3–6 (<i>n</i> = 18)	2.95	0.81	2.90	2.49–3.70	
Delayed cerebral ischemia					0.854
treatment					
Yes $(n = 16)$	2.80	0.79	2.64	2.18–3.32	
No $(n = 6)$	2.89	1.00	3.12	2.25-3.48	
Infection					0.511
Yes $(n = 11)$	2.97	0.81	3.09	2.60-3.67	
No $(n = 11)$	2.68	0.86	2.46	2.01–3.17	
Acute hydrocephalus					0.511
Yes $(n = 11)$	2.70	0.91	2.64	1.91–3.45	
No (n = 11)	2.95	0.77	3.09	2.32–3.39	

Mann-Whitney U-test was used.

between suPAR levels and generally accepted inflammatory biomarkers (CRP, leukocyte count). The correlation, however, was weak in comparison to previously reported results (35, 40) possibly indicating that there are numerous factors influencing inflammatory biomarkers and mediators in aSAH. In addition, although higher age was associated with poor outcome *per se*, in our patient cohort, we observed no correlation between age and plasma suPAR levels. This finding contradicts the results of TABLE 4 | Soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor and its association with leukocyte count, C-reactive protein (CRP), and age.

	Spearman rho	p-Value
Day 1 (n = 47)		
Leukocyte count	0.289	0.049
CRP	0.261	0.077
AGE	0.228	0.123
5-day intensive care unit follow-up ($n = 22$)		
Maximum leukocyte count during follow-up	0.568	0.006
Maximum CRP during follow-up	0.443	0.039
Age	0.143	0.527

several previous studies (10, 13, 41, 42). Finally, the low incidence (29.8%) of nosocomial infections in our patient cohort may partially explain the observed low plasma suPAR levels.

Even though serum suPAR levels have been shown to be elevated in ischemic stroke (43) and in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) following disruption of the blood-brain barrier (44), no marked elevation of plasma suPAR was found in patients either diagnosed with DCI or acute hydrocephalus. Further analyses will be necessary to clarify potential importance of suPAR release to CSF in patients with DCI and acute hydrocephalus. In order to reveal the actual role of suPAR as a biomarker or mediator in aSAH, it would be worthwhile evaluating the potential value of suPAR levels in CSF in diagnosing ventriculitis related to ventriculostomy catheter.

Our study has some limitations. First, we had some patients that were lost to follow-up. In other words, we were not able to obtain samples late in the course of the acute illness as patients had either died or been transferred to some other health-care facility. These patients represent two extremes, i.e., either the best or the worst outcome, and this may have altered the results of our analysis. Second, our sample size was limited. In particular, only four patients with a favorable neurological outcome remained in the final analyses on day 5. However, some of our patients experienced mild whereas others had very severe presentations of aSAH. We followed suPAR levels during the whole ICU stay and suPAR levels were constantly low with no high peaks being observed. This suggests that aSAH does not induce high suPAR levels in plasma or they are depressed by some aspect of the treatment, for example, administration of the calcium antagonist. Third, our study is a single-center study. Although our unit is a tertiary referral hospital with a high patient influx, single-center bias is possible. Despite their relatively low numbers, it is of interest that those patients with a good neurological outcome had remarkably low plasma suPAR levels with a very small SD (Figure 2B). Our previous studies have suggested that while high suPAR levels may be prognostic for poor outcome, in contrast, a low plasma suPAR concentration is predictive of a good outcome (11, 45). In the present study, the number of patients is limited, but the same phenomenon may apply to aSAH.

CONCLUSION

This study reports the first population-based prospective, observational results evaluating plasma suPAR concentrations in aSAH. Plasma suPAR levels were not associated with neuro-

REFERENCES

- Fuhrman B. The urokinase system in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* (2012) 222:8–14. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.10.044
- Smith HW, Marshall CJ. Regulation of cell signalling by uPAR. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2010) 11:23–36. doi:10.1038/nrm2821
- Backes Y, van der Sluijs KF, Tuip de Boer AM, Hofstra JJ, Vlaar AP, Determann RM, et al. Soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor levels in patients with burn injuries and inhalation trauma requiring mechanical ventilation: an observational cohort study. *Crit Care* (2011) 15:R270. doi:10.1186/cc10550
- Thunø M, Macho B, Eugen-Olsen J. suPAR: the molecular crystal ball. Dis Markers (2009) 27:157–72. doi:10.3233/DMA-2009-0657
- Persson M, Östling G, Smith G, Hamrefors V, Melander O, Hedblad B, et al. Soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor: a risk factor for carotid plaque, stroke, and coronary artery disease. *Stroke* (2014) 45:18–23. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.003305
- Beschorner R, Schluesener HJ, Nguyen TD, Magdolen V, Luther T, Pedal I, et al. Lesion-associated accumulation of uPAR/CD87- expressing infiltrating granulocytes, activated microglial cells/macrophages and upregulation by endothelial cells following TBI and FCI in humans. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2000) 26:522–7. doi:10.1046/j.0305-1846.2000.287.x
- Nagai N, Okada K, Kawao N, Ishida C, Ueshima S, Collen D, et al. Urokinasetype plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR) augments brain damage in a murine model of ischemic stroke. *Neurosci Lett* (2008) 432:46–9. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2007.12.004
- Høyer-Hansen G, Ploug M, Behrendt N, Rønne E, Danø K. Cell-surface acceleration of urokinase-catalyzed receptor cleavage. *Eur J Biochem* (1997) 243:21–6. doi:10.1111/j.1432-1033.1997.0021a.x

logical outcome or selected clinical conditions. While suPAR is a promising biomarker in several conditions requiring intensive care, based on this study, it does not seem to be useful as a prognostic biomarker in patients with aSAH.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Pirkanmaa Hospital District. Written informed consent was obtained from each of the patients or from the next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HK contributed to study conception, neurological outcome evaluations, statistical analyses, and drafted of the manuscript. VJ contributed to patient recruitment, statistical analyses, and drafted the manuscript. MA-P contributed to patient recruitment, evaluation of the initial clinical severity, evaluation of the initial computed tomography findings, and drafted the manuscript. MH contributed to the laboratory analysis of suPAR and drafted the manuscript. EM contributed to the laboratory analysis of suPAR and drafted the manuscript. JP contributed to neurological outcome evaluations, and drafted the manuscript. JT contributed to study conception, statistical analyses, and drafted the manuscript.

FUNDING

The study was financially supported by the Competitive State Research Financing of the Expert Responsibility area of Tampere University Hospital.

- Donadello K, Scolletta S, Taccone FS, Covajes C, Santonocito C, Cortes DO, et al. Soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor as a prognostic biomarker in critically ill patients. *J Crit Care* (2014) 29:144–9. doi:10.1016/j. jcrc.2013.08.005
- Haupt TH, Petersen J, Ellekilde G, Klausen HH, Thorball CW, Eugen-Olsen J, et al. Plasma suPAR levels are associated with mortality, admission time, and Charlson Comorbidity Index in the acutely admitted medical patient: a prospective observational study. *Crit Care* (2012) 16:R130. doi:10.1186/ cc11434
- Jalkanen V, Yang R, Linko R, Huhtala H, Okkonen M, Varpula T, et al. suPAR and PAI-1 in critically ill, mechanically ventilated patients. *Intensive Care Med* (2013) 39:489–96. doi:10.1007/s00134-012-2730-x
- Zimmermann HW, Koch A, Seidler S, Trautwein C, Tacke F. Circulating soluble urokinase plasminogen activator is elevated in patients with chronic liver disease, discriminates stage and aetiology of cirrhosis and predicts prognosis. *Liver Int* (2012) 32:500–9. doi:10.1111/j.1478-3231.2011.02665.x
- Huttunen R, Syrjänen J, Vuento R, Hurme M, Huhtala H, Laine J, et al. Plasma level of soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor as a predictor of disease severity and case fatality in patients with bacteraemia: a prospective cohort study. *J Intern Med* (2011) 270:32–40. doi:10.1111/j. 1365-2796.2011.02363.x
- Yu L, Wu X, Wang H, Long D, Yang J, Zhang Y. Diagnostic and prognostic significance of suPAR in traumatic brain injury. *Neurol India* (2014) 62:498–502. doi:10.4103/0028-3886.144439
- Zacharia BE, Hickman ZL, Grobelny BT, DeRosa P, Kotchetkov I, Ducruet AF, et al. Epidemiology of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurg Clin* N Am (2010) 21:221–33. doi:10.1016/j.nec.2009.10.002
- 16. Carpenter KL, Czosnyka M, Jalloh I, Newcombe VF, Helmy A, Shannon RJ, et al. Systemic, local, and imaging biomarkers of brain injury: more needed,

and better use of those already established. Front Neurol (2015) 6:26. doi:10.3389/fneur.2015.00026

- Budohoski KP, Guilfoyle M, Helmy A, Huuskonen T, Czosnyka M, Kirollos R, et al. The pathophysiology and treatment of delayed cerebral ischaemia following subarachnoid haemorrhage. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2014) 85:1343–53. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2014-307711
- Rowland MJ, Hadjipavlou G, Kelly M, Westbrook J, Pattinson KT. Delayed cerebral ischaemia after subarachnoid haemorrhage: looking beyond vasospasm. Br J Anaesth (2012) 109:315–29. doi:10.1093/bja/aes264
- Sarrafzadeh AS, Vajkoczy P, Bijlenga P, Schaller K. Monitoring in neurointensive care – the challenge to detect delayed cerebral ischemia in highgrade aneurysmal SAH. *Front Neurol* (2014) 5:134. doi:10.3389/fneur.2014. 00134
- Macdonald RL, Pluta RM, Zhang JH. Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: the emerging revolution. *Nat Clin Pract Neurol* (2007) 3:256–63. doi:10.1038/ncpneuro0490
- Dumont AS, Dumont RJ, Chow MM, Lin CL, Calisaneller T, Ley KF, et al. Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: putative role of inflammation. *Neurosurgery* (2003) 53:123–35. doi:10.1227/01.NEU.0000068863. 37133.9E
- Miller BA, Turan N, Chau M, Pradilla G. Inflammation, vasospasm, and brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Biomed Res Int* (2014) 2014:384342. doi:10.1155/2014/384342
- Chou SH, Robertson CS; Participants in the International Multi-disciplinary Consensus Conference on the Multimodality Monitoring. Monitoring biomarkers of cellular injury and death in acute brain injury. *Neurocrit Care* (2014) 21(Suppl 2):S187–214. doi:10.1007/s12028-014-0039-z
- Hong CM, Tosun C, Kurland DB, Gerzanich V, Schreibman D, Simard JM. Biomarkers as outcome predictors in subarachnoid hemorrhage – a systematic review. *Biomarkers* (2014) 19:95–108. doi:10.3109/1354750X.2014.881418
- Kiiski H, Tenhunen J, Ala-Peijari M, Huhtala H, Hämäläinen M, Långsjö J, et al. Increased plasma UCH-L1 after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage is associated with unfavorable neurological outcome. *J Neurol Sci* (2016) 361:144–9. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.12.046
- Kiiski H, Långsjö J, Tenhunen J, Peltola J. Time-courses of plasma IL-6 and HMGB-1 reflect initial severity of clinical presentation but do not predict poor neurologic outcome following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *eNeurologicalSci* (2016) 6:55–62. doi:10.1016/j.ensci.2016.11.010
- Lucke-Wold BP, Logsdon AF, Manoranjan B, Turner RC, McConnell E, Vates GE, et al. Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and neuroinflammation: a comprehensive review. *Int J Mol Sci* (2016) 17:497. doi:10.3390/ ijms17040497
- Höllig A, Remmel D, Stoffel-Wagner B, Schubert GA, Coburn M, Clusmann H. Association of early inflammatory parameters after subarachnoid hemorrhage with functional outcome: a prospective cohort study. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2015) 138:177–83. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro.2015.08.030
- Zhu XD, Chen JS, Zhou F, Liu QC, Chen G, Zhang JM. Relationship between plasma high mobility group box-1 protein levels and clinical outcomes of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neuroinflammation* (2012) 9:194. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-194
- Ma C, Zhou W, Yan Z, Qu M, Bu X. Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) is correlated with delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) and poor prognosis in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurol Sci* (2015) 359:67–71. doi:10.1016/j. jns.2015.10.018
- Backes Y, van der Sluijs KF, Mackie DP, Tacke F, Koch A, Tenhunen JJ, et al. Usefulness of suPAR as a biological marker in patients with systemic inflammation or infection: a systematic review. *Intensive Care Med* (2012) 38:1418–28. doi:10.1007/s00134-012-2613-1
- 32. Donadello K, Scolletta S, Covajes C, Vincent JL. suPAR as a prognostic biomarker in sepsis. *BMC Med* (2012) 10:2. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-10-2

- Laban KG, Rinkel GJ, Vergouwen MD. Nosocomial infections after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: time course and causative pathogens. *Int J Stroke* (2015) 10:763–6. doi:10.1111/ijs.12494
- 34. Stevens RD, Nyquist PA. The systemic implications of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurol Sci (2007) 261:143–56. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2007.04.047
- 35. Koch A, Voigt S, Kruschinski C, Sanson E, Dückers H, Horn A, et al. Circulating soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor is stably elevated during the first week of treatment in the intensive care unit and predicts mortality in critically ill patients. *Crit Care* (2011) 15:R63. doi:10.1186/cc10037
- Roos Y, Levi M, Carroll TA, Beenen LFM, Vermeulen M. Nimodipine increases fibrinolytic activity in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2001) 32:1860–2. doi:10.1161/01.STR.32.8.1860
- Sidenius N, Andolfo A, Fesce R, Blasi F. Urokinase regulates vitronectin binding by controlling urokinase receptor oligomerization. J Biol Chem (2002) 277:27982–90. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111736200
- Pliyev BK. Activated human neutrophils rapidly release the chemotactically active D2D3 form of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR/ CD87). Mol Cell Biochem (2009) 321:111–22. doi:10.1007/s11010-008-9925-z
- Haga Y, Dumitrescu A, Zhang Y, Stain-Malmgren R, Sjöquist PO. Effects of calcium blockers on the cytosolic calcium, H2O2 production and elastase release in human neutrophils. *Pharmacol Toxicol* (1996) 79:312–7. doi:10.1111/j. 1600-0773.1996.tb00015.x
- Galliera E, Drago L, Marazzi MG, Romanò C, Vassena C, Corsi Romanelli MM. Soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (suPAR) as new biomarker of the prosthetic joint infection: correlation with inflammatory cytokines. *Clin Chim Acta* (2015) 441:23–8. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2014.11.029
- Eugen-Olsen J, Andersen O, Linneberg A, Ladelund S, Hansen TW, Langkilde A, et al. Circulating soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor predicts cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes and mortality in the general population. J Intern Med (2010) 268:296–308. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2010.02252.x
- Persson M, Engström G, Björkbacka H, Hedblad B. Soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor in plasma is associated with incidence of CVD. Results from the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study. *Atherosclerosis* (2012) 220:502–5. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.10.039
- Olson FJ, Thurison T, Ryndel M, Hoyer-Hansen G, Fagerberg B. Soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor forms in plasma as markers of atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability. *Clin Biochem* (2010) 43:124–30. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2009.09.028
- Garcia-Monco JC, Coleman JC, Benach JL. Soluble urokinase receptor (uPAR, CD 87) is present in serum and cerebrospinal fluid in patients with neurologic diseases. *J Neuroimmunol* (2002) 129:216–23. doi:10.1016/ S0165-5728(02)00186-8
- 45. Jalkanen V, Vaahersalo J, Pettilä V, Kurola J, Varpula T, Tiainen M, et al. The predictive value of soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (suPAR) regarding 90-day mortality and 12-month neurological outcome in critically ill patients after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Data from the prospective FINNRESUSCI study. *Resuscitation* (2014) 85:1562–7. doi:10.1016/j. resuscitation.2014.08.017

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Kiiski, Jalkanen, Ala-Peijari, Hämäläinen, Moilanen, Peltola and Tenhunen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





High Compliance with Scheduled Nimodipine Is Associated with Better Outcome in Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Patients Cotreated with Heparin Infusion

Aaron Wessell¹, Matthew J. Kole¹, Neeraj Badjatia^{1,2,3}, Gunjan Parikh², Jennifer S. Albrecht⁴, David L. Schreibman^{1,3} and J. Marc Simard^{1,5,6*}

¹ Department of Neurosurgery, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ² Department of Neurology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ³ Department of Anesthesiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁴ Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁵ Department of Pathology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁵ Department of Pathology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁶ Department of Physiology, University of Maryland School of Med

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Barak Bar, Loyola University Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Minjee Kim, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, United States M. Kamran Athar, Thomas Jefferson University Hospital, United States

*Correspondence: J. Marc Simard msimard@som.umaryland.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 10 February 2017 Accepted: 26 May 2017 Published: 09 June 2017

Citation:

Wessell A, Kole MJ, Badjatia N, Parikh G, Albrecht JS, Schreibman DL and Simard JM (2017) High Compliance with Scheduled Nimodipine Is Associated with Better Outcome in Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Patients Cotreated with Heparin Infusion. Front. Neurol. 8:268. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00268 **Introduction:** We sought to determine whether compliance with scheduled nimodipine in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients impacted patient outcomes, with the intent of guiding future nimodipine management in patients who experience nimodipine-induced hypotension.

Methods: We performed a retrospective analysis of 118 consecutive aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage patients treated with the Maryland Low-Dose IV Heparin Infusion Protocol. Patients were categorized into three independent nimodipine compliance groups: ≥ 1 dose held, ≥ 1 dose split, and no missed or split-doses. A split-dose was defined as 30 mg of nimodipine administered every 2 h. Our primary outcome was discharge to home. Bivariate and multivariable logistic regression analyses were used to assess predictors of discharge disposition as a function of nimodipine compliance.

Results: Of the 118 patients, 20 (17%) received all nimodipine doses, 6 (5%) received split-doses but never had a full dose held, and 92 (78%) had \geq 1 dose held. Forty-five percent of patients were discharged to home, including 75% who received all doses, 67% who received \geq 1 split-doses, and 37% with \geq 1 missed doses (*p* = 0.003). Multivariable analysis showed that, along with age and World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies grade, nimodipine compliance was an independent predictor of clinical outcome; compared to missing one or more nimodipine doses, full dosing compliance was associated with increased odds of discharge to home (odds ratio 5.20; 95% confidence intervals 1.46–18.56).

Conclusion: In aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage patients with modified Fisher scores 2 through 4 who are cotreated with a low-dose heparin infusion, full compliance with nimodipine dosing was associated with increased odds of discharge to home.

Keywords: nimodipine, subarachnoid hemorrhage, cerebral aneurysm, cerebral vasospasm, heparin, vascular disorders

INTRODUCTION

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage is associated with substantial morbidity and mortality (1). Approximately one-third of those who survive the initial hemorrhage remain dependent, while another 20–30% who present with a low clinical grade will experience further decline from their admission neurologic status (1, 2). For those who survive the ictus, the onset of delayed neurological deficit (DND), occurring in nearly 30% of patients, is the most important factor impacting patient outcome (3, 4). DND refers collectively to the neurological, psychological, and cognitive effects experienced by those who have suffered a subarachnoid hemorrhage. The mechanisms implicated in DND include arterial vasospasm, microthrombosis, oxidative damage, and neuroinflammation, with resultant cerebral infarction, demyelination, cerebral edema, endothelial, and neuronal cell death (5–14).

Nimodipine is the only pharmacological agent that has been consistently shown in randomized, placebo-controlled trials to improve outcomes in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (15–19). Nimodipine is a lipophilic dihydropyridine calcium-channel blocker that crosses the blood-brain barrier and prevents the influx of extracellular calcium into vascular smooth muscle, neuronal, and other cells (20). Nimodipine may exhibit a degree of selectivity for the cerebral vasculature due to its greater dependence on extracellular calcium for smooth muscle contraction. However, hypotension, along with other adverse systemic effects such as edema, abnormal liver function, headache, flushing, and gastrointestinal symptoms, have been reported with nimodipine use (15–19).

A significant percentage of patients admitted with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage demonstrate sensitivity to nimodipine's hypotensive effect. This presents a clinical dilemma that served as the impetus for the present study—should nimodipine dosing be reduced or stopped in the face of drug-induced hypotension, or should dosing be maintained, with vasopressors used as required to counteract hypotension? Patients who cannot tolerate nimodipine will not benefit from its neuroprotectant, anti-inflammatory, and pro-fibrinolytic effects (21–33), and consequently may have poorer outcomes after subarachnoid hemorrhage.

The purpose of this study was to assess the association between nimodipine dosing compliance and clinical outcome at time of discharge after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage in patients cotreated with a continuous low-dose heparin infusion.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient Selection

The present study was conducted with approval of the University of Maryland Medical Center IRB. The records of all patients treated for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage by a single cerebrovascular neurosurgeon (J. Marc Simard) between July 1, 2008 and July 1, 2015 were reviewed. Patients underwent surgical clipping, endovascular coiling, or a combination of the two. All patients underwent treatment with the Maryland Low-Dose IV Heparin Infusion Protocol, consisting of 12 U/kg/h of unfractionated heparin, administered by constant IV infusion, beginning 12 h after aneurysm treatment, which is a practice pattern of the senior author (34–36). Patients with modified Fisher scores of 2 through 4 were included, as this group is at greatest risk of developing cerebral vasospasm. Those with insufficient hospital and medication-administration records were excluded from analysis. None of the patients in the present cohort were included in a previous retrospective analysis by Simard et al. published in 2013 (36).

Management of Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Patients

All patients were treated according to the American Heart Association's Guidelines for the Management of Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage (37, 38), with an emphasis on prompt aneurysm obliteration, drainage of cerebrospinal fluid for treatment of hydrocephalus, maintenance of euvolemia, and administration of oral nimodipine. Radiographic studies, such as computed tomography (CT), CT angiogram (CTA), digital subtraction angiogram (DSA), and/or magnetic resonance angiography, were obtained routinely within 24 h of treatment to confirm obliteration of the aneurysm, rule out any complication of treatment, and evaluate for the development of hydrocephalus.

If patients experienced neurological deterioration attributed to vasospasm, regardless of radiographic confirmation, patients were treated with hemodynamic augmentation consisting of IV fluid bolus to assure euvolemia and vasopressor-induced hypertensive therapy with phenylephrine or norepinephrine to increase systolic blood pressure by 20-40%. The decision to obtain vascular imaging for evaluation of vasospasm, such as a CTA or DSA, was at the discretion of the attending neurointensivist. Daily monitoring for vasospasm with transcranial Doppler or electroencephalogram was not routinely performed. If clinical deterioration persisted despite hemodynamic augmentation, and radiographic study confirmed the presence of vasospasm, selective catheter angiography was performed with administration of intra-arterial calcium-channel blocker. Angioplasty was performed at the discretion of the attending neuro-interventional radiologist in select cases when intra-arterial vasodilator therapy did not produce a sufficient radiographic improvement in blood vessel caliber and/or arterial filling as observed on catheter cerebral angiogram.

Nimodipine Use in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Patients were treated with 60 mg of oral nimodipine every 4 h beginning within 96 h of the ictus according to the AHA guidelines (37). At our institution, patients are initiated on oral nimodipine at the time of admission and are maintained on this medication until discharge, up to a maximum of 21 days. The onset of hypotension (systolic blood pressure <90 mm Hg) following administration of nimodipine, regardless of whether or not a patient was actively undergoing treatment with vasopressor-induced hypertension, may have prompted a change in dosing to 30 mg every 2 h. Alternatively, a given dose may have been withheld if the hypotension was lasting, associated with a change

in neurological examination, or associated with reoccurring blood pressure drops in the setting of active vasospasm requiring frequent rescue therapy with vasopressors. The decision to do so was based on individual patient characteristics, as determined by the attending neurointensivist.

The Maryland Low-Dose IV Heparin Infusion Protocol

The Maryland Low-Dose IV Heparin Infusion Protocol for use in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage has been described previously (36). In the original report, use of a low-dose heparin infusion for approximately 14 days after aneurysm treatment was associated with a reduced incidence of DND, requirement for rescue therapy, cerebral infarction, and discharge to inpatient rehabilitation (36). Heparin is a pleiotropic drug that may antagonize several biomolecular pathways implicated in delayed neurologic decline following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Unfractionated heparin complexes with oxyhemoglobin, blocks the activity of free radicals, antagonizes endothelinmediated vasoconstriction, smooth muscle depolarization, and inflammation (34, 35). All of the patients included in the present analysis underwent treatment with a low-dose heparin infusion. On post-bleed day 14, a screening CTA with perfusion analysis was performed to assess for radiographic vasospasm. If there was only mild or no vasospasm, the heparin infusion was discontinued and in the patient was considered for downgrading to a lower level of care if they did not have a ventriculostomy catheter in place. In select cases of low World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS) grade subarachnoid hemorrhage, if the patient had not suffered any delayed neurologic decline and had a stable neurologic examination, an early screening CTA (at post-bleed day 10, for example) was performed and the patient was then downgraded to a lower level of care as deemed appropriate by the ICU provider.

Data Compilation

Patient records, including hospital records, operative reports, clinic notes, and radiographic studies, were reviewed. Demographic, clinical, radiographic, and outcomes data were compiled.

The occurrence of angiographic vasospasm was determined from review of CTA and DSA studies by two neurosurgeons and independently by neuroradiologists from the University of Maryland. Studies demonstrating angiographic vasospasm in any vascular territory in comparison to a baseline study were characterized as mild (0-33%), moderate (34-66%), or severe (67-100%) vessel narrowing, independent of the patient's clinical/neurologic status (39). The incidence of DND was determined from review of the patient's neurologic status as documented in hospital records. The presence of angiographic vasospasm in a patient with neurological deterioration was deemed clinical vasospasm, or a delayed neurologic deficit. DND was further defined to include any neurologic decline, such as a change in mental status, pronator drift, or focal neurologic deficit without any other attributable medical causes regardless of radiographic confirmation of vasospasm.

The occurrence of new ischemia-related CT hypodensities was determined from review of all CT scans by two neurosurgeons

and independently by neuroradiologists from the University of Maryland. CT scans obtained during hospitalization and on follow-up were correlated with CTA or DSA and neurological examination to determine whether new hypodensities were attributable to vasospasm (within a discrete vascular or watershed territory), as opposed to resulting from intraparenchymal hemorrhage, intraventricular catheter placement, surgical retraction, or surgery-related loss of a perforating artery.

Exposure Definition

We created three independent groups based on compliance with nimodipine dosing during hospitalization. Nimodipine administration was evaluated by review of medication-administration records. Blood pressure data were obtained from review of nursing flow sheets recorded during the first 21 days of hospitalization following aneurysm rupture. Nimodipine doses held for relative hypotension, irrespective of whether or not a patient was actively undergoing treatment with vasopressor-induced hypertension, were recorded. Nimodipine administered as 30 mg every 2 h was considered a split-dose. A patient who required a split-dose but later had a dose held was grouped among patients who missed one or more complete doses. Patients receiving all scheduled doses, with no split-doses received, were the final group. A small number of patients (n = 5, 4%) never received Nimodipine due to significant hemodynamic instability on admission or cardiac dysfunction and were grouped with the doses held group. Dosing alterations during surgical or endovascular treatment were not considered in the analysis.

Outcome Definition

We defined a good outcome as discharge to home. Discharge disposition previously has been reported as an outcome measure in studies of subarachnoid hemorrhage, serving as a surrogate for short-term functional outcome (40, 41). While several non-clinical factors may influence one's discharge disposition, past reports have shown that discharge status correlates with modified Rankin Scale score and functional outcome at 90 days in stroke patients (40, 42). Recommendations for discharge to home versus inpatient rehabilitation or nursing facility were made independently by physical and/or occupational therapists according to activities of daily living based on the patient's degree of functional independence. All other discharge locations, including in-hospital mortality, comprised "discharge to other." Glasgow Outcomes Scale (GOS) scores at time of discharge were calculated in a retrospective manner from clinical documentation.

We assessed the distribution and frequency of all variables. Covariates were compared between nimodipine compliance categories using the Fisher–Freeman–Halton test, ANOVA, or the Kruskal–Wallis test. Covariates were compared between outcome groups using Chi-Square Goodness of Fit, Student's *t*-test, or the Wilcoxon rank sum test. We assessed the unadjusted association between nimodipine compliance categories and discharge to home using logistic regression. Covariates that were associated with the exposure and outcome but not in the causal pathway (i.e., did not occur after initial nimodipine exposure) were considered for inclusion in our final logistic regression model (43, 44). We assessed potential effect modification *a priori* by age and WFNS grade by creating interaction terms in the logistic regression model. Odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) are reported.

Due to the small number of patients who received a split-dose of nimodipine but did not miss any doses, we conducted sensitivity analyses to assess whether inclusion of these individuals with the other compliance groups would change effect estimates. All analyses were conducted using SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). A *p*-value <0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Demographic Characteristics

Data from 118 consecutive patients were analyzed, all of whom were treated with the Maryland Low-Dose IV Heparin Infusion Protocol (36). The demographic characteristics of patients, grouped according to their nimodipine compliance, are shown in **Table 1**. Age, sex, medical history, WFNS grade, GCS motor score, and modified Fisher score did not differ significantly among compliance groups. Anterior cerebral artery aneurysms were the most common (45.8%). The majority of patients underwent treatment of their aneurysm within 20 h of admission, with 108 patients undergoing surgical clipping and 10 undergoing endovascular coiling. 11 (10.2%) patients had an intraparenchymal hematoma evacuated during open surgery. Admission echocardiograms were performed on 45 (38%) patients with a mean ejection fraction of 60.87% (SD, 13.63).

Nimodipine Use

Twenty patients (17%) received 100% of the scheduled nimodipine doses from the time of admission through the end of their treatment period, 6 patients (5%) received at least one split-dose, and 92 (78%) missed one or more doses.

Vasospasm

A total of 79 patients (67%) were found to have angiographic vasospasm on CTA or DSA, with 27 (23%) of those cases being severe. As shown in **Table 1**, vasospasm severity (p = 0.04), DND (p = 0.03), use of vasopressor-induced hypertension (p = 0.01), days on vasopressors (p = 0.008), and the use of intra-arterial therapy (p = 0.003) differed significantly among compliance groups. There was no significant difference in the use of angioplasty or systolic blood pressure.

Outcomes

Overall, patients suffered a very low rate of CT infarction, with an incidence of 12%. As shown in **Table 1**, the incidence of CT infarction, shunt insertion, and death did not differ significantly between compliance groups. Patients with full compliance were more likely to be discharged home (75%), compared to those who received one or more split nimodipine doses (67%) or those who missed one or more full-doses (37%) (p = 0.003). Similarly, patients with full compliance tended to have a shorter ICU stay (p = 0.04) and GOS > 3 at discharge (95%) compared to those who received one or more split-doses (83%) or those who missed one or more full-doses (71%) (p = 0.05). All patients who died missed one or more nimodipine doses.

Discharge Disposition

The characteristics of patients grouped by discharge disposition are shown in **Table 2**. Fifty-three patients (45%) were discharged to home and 65 (55%) were discharged to other locations, including 7 who died. There were no readmissions for late DND after discharge. In bivariate analysis, age (p < 0.001), WFNS grade (p < 0.001), admission GCS motor score (p = 0.003), and modified Fisher score (p = 0.002) were significantly associated with discharge disposition, whereas the only medical history that was significantly associated was hypertension (p = 0.03).

Nimodipine dosing compliance was significantly associated with discharge disposition (p = 0.003). Also, vasopressor-induced hypertension, systolic blood pressure, days on vasopressors, and the use of intra-arterial therapy were significantly associated with discharge disposition (all p < 0.001). In addition, DND, CT infarction, shunt insertion, and ICU length of stay were significantly associated with discharge disposition (p values ranging from 0.04 to <0.001).

Prior to adjustment for confounding, we found that full nimodipine dosing compliance was significantly associated with discharge to home (OR, 5.12; 95% CI, 1.71–15.33) compared to missing at least one dose. Receiving at least one split-dose but not missing any doses also was associated with discharge to home (OR, 3.41; 95% CI, 0.59–19.62), but this association was not statistically significant.

Our final logistic regression model included an indicator for the nimodipine compliance categories, age, and a WFNS grade indicator (3 and 4 were grouped due to small cell sizes) (**Table 3**). There was no effect modification by age or WFNS grade. Full nimodipine dosing compliance was significantly associated with discharge to home (OR, 5.20; 95% CI, 1.46–18.56). In addition, greater age (OR, 0.95; 95% CI, 0.91–0.98), and WFNS grades 3/4 (OR, 0.16; 95% CI, 0.05–0.60) or 5 (OR, 0.12; 95% CI, 0.02–0.70) were significantly associated with poor discharge disposition. Receiving a split-dose of nimodipine (30 mg every 2 h) was not significantly associated with a worse outcome. Sensitivity analyses revealed that varying groupings by receiving a split-dose of nimodipine had no impact on effect estimates (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

Nimodipine is the only pharmacologic agent shown in randomized placebo-controlled trials to improve outcome (15–19). Despite its widespread use, there are little data to guide the management of hypotension following nimodipine administration. The original randomized-controlled trial of nimodipine by Allen et al. (15) did not report any hypotensive effects. Subsequent studies comprised of patients with higher clinical grades reported various adverse effects of nimodipine, most commonly hypotension, leading to early cessation of the medication (16–19). In our study population, 45% of patients had a WFNS grade of III or higher, and 78% of patients experienced hypotension requiring that one or more doses be held.

Characteristic	Full nimodipine compliance, n = 20	At least one nimodipine dose split, n = 6	At least one nimodipine dose held, n = 92	<i>p</i> -Value ^a
Age, mean (SD)	51.4 (10.3)	58.3 (9.9)	56.5 (13.0)	0.23
Female, n (%)	14 (70)	4 (67)	59 (64)	0.93
History of tobacco use, n (%)	11 (55)	2 (33)	51 (55)	0.64
History of hypertension, n (%)	12 (60)	4 (67)	57 (62)	>0.99
History of statin use, n (%)	2 (10)	0	6 (7)	0.76
History of cocaine use, n (%)	0	0	3 (3)	>0.99
History of marijuana use, n (%)	2 (10)	0	6 (7)	0.76
WFNS (admission), n (%)	2 (10)	5	0 (1)	0.17
1	8 (40)	4 (67)	19 (21)	0
2	4 (20)	0	30 (33)	
3	0	0	1 (1)	
4	7 (35)	1 (17)	33 (36)	
5			. ,	
	1 (5)	1 (17)	9 (10)	0.74
GCS motor score, n (%)	10 (00)	4 (07)	01 (00)	0.74
6	16 (80)	4 (67)	61 (66)	
5	3 (15)	1 (17)	21 (23)	
4	1 (5)	0	5 (5)	
<4	0	1 (17)	5 (5)	
MFS (admission), n (%)				0.39
2	3 (15)	1 (17)	5 (5)	
3	14 (70)	4 (67)	70 (76)	
4	3 (15)	1 (17)	17 (18)	
Aneurysm location, n (%) ^b				0.69
Internal carotid artery	6 (30)	2 (33)	23 (26)	
Anterior cerebral artery	6 (30)	3 (50)	45 (49)	
Middle cerebral artery	7 (35)	1 (17)	18 (20)	
Posterior circulation	1 (5)	0	6 (7)	
Procedure type, n (%)				0.82
Clip	19 (95)	6 (100)	83 (90)	
Coil	1 (5)	0	9 (10)	
>20 h to surgery, <i>n</i> (%)	7 (35)	2 (33)	35 (38)	>99.0
Vasospasm severity, n (%)	. ()	= (()	()	0.04
none	11 (55)	3 (50)	25 (27)	
mild	0	2 (33)	20 (22)	
moderate	5 (25)	0	25 (27)	
severe	4 (20)	1 (17)	22 (24)	
VIH, <i>n</i> (%)	3 (15)	3 (50)	46 (50)	0.01
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD)	139.2 (15.5)	148.1 (16.4)	145.2 (20.5)	0.41
Days on pressors, mean (SD)	0.3 (0.8)	5.2 (6.5)	2.9 (4.2)	0.008
IAT needed, n (%)	0.0 (0.0)	1 (17)	22 (24)	0.000
Angioplasty, n (%)	0	0	6 (7)	0.03
DND, <i>n</i> (%)	4 (20)	3 (50)	6 (7) 48 (52)	0.70
			. ,	
CT infarction, n (%)	1 (5)	1 (17)	12 (13)	0.45
Shunt inserted, n (%)	2 (10)	2 (33)	27 (29)	0.17
ICU length of stay, mean (SD)	15.7 (7.0)	25.3 (18.5)	19.9 (8.5)	0.04
GOS > 3, n (%)	19 (95)	5 (83)	65 (71)	0.05
Discharged home, n (%)	15 (75)	4 (67)	34 (37)	0.003
Died, <i>n</i> (%)	0	0	7 (8)	0.55

^ap-Values from the Fisher–Freeman–Halton test, ANOVA, or the Kruskal–Wallis test.

WFNS, World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies Scale; GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale; MFS, Modified Fisher Scale; DND, delayed neurological deficit; VIH, vassopressor-induced hypertension; IAT, intra-arterial treatment; ICU, intensive care unit; GOS, Glasgow Outcomes Scale.

^bAneurysms by location: anterior cerebral artery (A1, anterior communicating artery, A2 and pericallosal aneurysms); middle cerebral artery; internal carotid artery (anterior choroidal artery, posterior communicating artery, and carotid terminus aneurysms); posterior circulation (vertebral artery, basilar artery, posterior inferior cerebellar artery, anterior inferior cerebellar artery and superior cerebellar artery aneurysms).

The Neurocritical Care Society's Multidisciplinary Consensus Conference states that if nimodipine causes hypotension, then dosing should be lowered and administered at more frequent intervals (38). Alternative dosing options include splitting the nimodipine dose into a 30 mg dose given every 2 h, halving the nimodipine dose by giving 30 mg every 4 h, holding nimodipine altogether, or administering volume resuscitation or vasopressor agents to counteract the hypotensive effects. Our institutional practice is that, if patients develop hypotension, dosing of nimodipine is changed to 30 mg every 2 h, and if patients continue to experience hypotension, nimodipine may be held altogether. TABLE 2 | Characteristics of patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage from brain aneurysm rupture 2008–2015 by discharge to home, n = 118.

Characteristic	Discharge home, $n = 53$	Discharge to Other location, $n = 65$	<i>p</i> -Value ^a
Age, mean (SD)	51.3 (11.1)	59.4 (12.4)	<0.001
Female, n (%)	34 (64.2)	43 (66.2)	0.82
History of tobacco use, n (%)	25 (47.2)	39 (60.0)	0.16
History of hypertension, n (%)	27 (50.9)	46 (70.8)	0.03
History of statin use, n (%)	3 (5.7)	5 (7.7)	0.66
History of cocaine use, n (%)	1 (1.9)	2 (3.1)	>0.99
History of marijuana use, n (%)	4 (7.6)	4 (6.2)	>0.99
WFNS, n (%)			< 0.001
1	21 (39.6)	10 (15.4)	
2	20 (37.7)	14 (21.5)	
3	0	1 (1.5)	
4	10 (18.9)	31 (47.7)	
5	2 (3.8)	9 (13.9)	
GCS motor score, n (%)	2 (0.0)	0 (10.0)	0.003
6	46 (87)	35 (54)	0.000
5	5 (9)	20 (31)	
4	2 (4)	4 (6)	
<4	0	6 (9)	
MFS, <i>n</i> (%)	0	0 (3)	0.002
2	5 (9.4)	4 (6.2)	0.002
3	46 (86.8)	4 (0.2) 42 (64.6)	
4			
	2 (3.8)	19 (29.2)	0.00
Aneurysm location, n (%) ^b	10 (00)	10 (00)	0.39
Internal carotid artery	12 (23)	19 (29)	
Anterior cerebral artery	22 (42)	32 (49)	
Middle cerebral artery	15 (28)	11 (17)	
Posterior circulation	4 (8)	3 (5)	
Procedure type, n (%)			0.18
Clip	51 (96.2)	57 (87.7)	
Coil	2 (3.8)	8 (12.3)	
>20 h to surgery, <i>n</i> (%)	18 (34.0)	26 (40.0)	0.50
Nimodipine compliance, n (%)		5 (8)	0.18
All doses received	15 (28)	5 (8)	
At least one dose split	4 (8)	2 (3)	
At least one dose missed	34 (64)	58 (89)	
Vasospasm severity, n (%)			0.05
none	21 (39.6)	18 (27.9)	
mild	12 (22.6)	10 (15.4)	
moderate	14 (26.4)	16 (24.6)	
severe	6 (11.3)	21 (32.3)	
VIH, n (%)	12 (22.6)	40 (61.5)	< 0.001
Systolic blood pressure, mean (SD)	134.5 (20.0)	152.4 (15.3)	< 0.001
Days on pressors, M (IQR)	O (O,O)	2.0 (0, 6.0)	< 0.001
IAT needed, n (%)	3 (5.7)	20 (30.8)	< 0.001
Angioplasty, n (%)	0	6 (9.2)	0.02
DND, <i>n</i> (%)	12 (22.6)	43 (66.2)	< 0.001
CTinfarction, n (%)	1 (1.9)	13 (20.0)	0.003
Shunt inserted, <i>n</i> (%)	9 (17.0)	22 (33.9)	0.04
ICU length of stay, mean (SD)	15.5 (5.4)	22.8 (10.2)	<0.001
GOS > 3, n (%)	53 (100)	36 (55.4)	<0.001
Died, <i>n</i> (%)	0	7 (10.8)	0.01
	U	1 (10.0)	0.01

^ap-Value from Chi-square Goodness of Fit, Student's t-test, or Wilcoxon rank sum.

WFNS, World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies Scale; GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale; MFS, Modified Fisher Scale; DND, delayed neurological deficit; VIH, vassopressor-induced hypertension; IAT, intra-arterial treatment; ICU, intensive care unit; GOS, Glasgow Outcomes Scale.

^bAneurysms by location: anterior cerebral artery (A1, anterior communicating artery, A2 and pericallosal aneurysms); middle cerebral artery; internal carotid artery (anterior choroidal artery, posterior communicating artery, and carotid terminus aneurysms); posterior circulation (vertebral artery, basilar artery, posterior inferior cerebellar artery, anterior inferior cerebellar artery, anterior inferior cerebellar artery, anterior inferior cerebellar artery.

We evaluated the predictors of discharge to home after admission for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage, to determine the impact of nimodipine compliance on outcomes at the time of discharge. Our study demonstrates that, along with age and WFNS grade, compliance with scheduled nimodipine is an independent predictor of clinical outcome. We found that patients who missed one or more doses of nimodipine experienced a significantly worse clinical outcome. The recent study by Sandow et al. (45) compared outcomes in patients who received all doses of nimodipine to those who received 30 mg every 4 h or **TABLE 3** | Adjusted odds ratios of Discharge to Home Among Patients with Subarachnoid Hemorrhage from Brain Aneurysm Rupture 2008–2015, n = 118.

	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval)
Unadjusted association	
Nimodipine compliance	
At least one dose held	Reference
At least one dose split	3.41 (0.59, 19.62)
All doses received	5.12 (1.71, 15.33)
Adjusted association	
Nimodipine compliance	
At least one dose held	Reference
At least one dose split	3.99 (0.54, 29.60)
All doses received	5.20 (1.46, 18.56)
Age, per year	0.95 (0.91, 0.98)
WFNS	
1	Reference
2	0.89 (0.28, 2.79)
3, 4	0.16 (0.05, 0.50)
5	0.12 (0.02, 0.70)

WFNS, World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies Scale.

TABLE 4 | Sensitivity analyses.ª

	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval)
Nimodipine compliance	
At least one dose held	Reference
All doses received or at least one split	4.86 (1.58, 14.93)
Nimodipine compliance	
At least one dose split or held	Reference
All doses received	4.71 (1.33, 16.63)

^aAdjusted for recoded World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies Scale and age.

underwent early cessation of nimodipine due to its hypotensive effects. They found that only 43.6% of patients completed a full 14-day course of nimodipine without dose reduction or early cessation. Patients with dose reductions or early cessation experienced greater rates of angiographic vasospasm and cerebral ischemia and were found to have unfavorable clinical outcomes on multivariate analysis.

Various systemic effects, primarily catecholamine-mediated, have been described in association with subarachnoid hemorrhage (46). However, a link between these physiologic derangements and an increased sensitivity to nimodipine remains unproven. While patients with higher grades of subarachnoid hemorrhage may have a greater impairment of cerebral autoregulatory capacity in the days following the ictus, a clear explanation for a greater sensitivity to nimodipine's hypotensive effect is lacking (47-51). Many patients with high Hunt and Hess subarachnoid hemorrhage exhibit increased cardiac troponin I release, regional wall motion abnormalities on echocardiogram, and are more likely to require vasopressor/inotropic infusions (52). Reversible neurogenic myocardial "stunning" related to aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage leads to an increased propensity to delayed ischemic neurologic deterioration related to vasospasm (53), theoretically making compliance with the administration of nimodipine more important.

Although many of our findings are consistent with those of Sandow et al. (45), there were some differences. Some of our patients received 30 mg every 2 h, whereas patients in the Sandow et al. study received doses of 30 mg every 4 h. Sandow et al. determined that the vasopressor dose during the first 14 days was an independent predictor of outcome on multivariable analysis, while we did not include this parameter in our final logistic regression model. Perhaps most notable, our patient's experienced lower rates of cerebral infarction across all dosing groups, which may be attributed to unknown patient characteristics or, as previously reported (36), to the use of a continuous low-dose heparin infusion in our patients.

This study has several limitations, including its retrospective nature and modest sample size. While we stratified patients based on the clinical and radiographic severity of hemorrhage, our classification of patients may not fully account for unmeasured markers of severity, such as concomitant cardiac dysfunction or infection/sepsis, which may confound outcomes data. The study of patients who were all treated with a low-dose IV heparin infusion may limit the generalizability of our findings. Causality remains enigmatic-it is not known whether forcing full compliance would yield more favorable outcomes, or whether patients intolerant to nimodipine, regardless of treatment, are destined to poor outcomes. Regardless, our results are consistent with recent reports that highlight the negative effects of missing nimodipine doses (45). Prospective, randomized-controlled trials will be required to advance understanding of the effects of nimodipine compliance and of combined therapeutic agents in subarachnoid hemorrhage.

CONCLUSION

Nimodipine is the only agent that has consistently been shown to improve outcomes in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. From a practical standpoint, however, the hypotensive effect of nimodipine limits compliance with scheduled dosing. Our study reinforces the importance of nimodipine compliance and its effect on outcomes in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage, as it was one of three statistically significant predictors of discharge to home.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was conducted under the approval of the Institutional Review Board at the University of Maryland School of Medicine. All procedures performed involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors made substantial contributions to the following: study design; data acquisition, analysis, and interpretation; manuscript preparation and final manuscript approval.

REFERENCES

- van Gijn J, Kerr RS, Rinkel GJ. Subarachnoid haemorrhage. Lancet (2007) 369:306–18. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60153-6
- Molyneux AJ, Kerr RS, Yu LM, Clarke M, Sneade M, Yarnold JA, et al. International subarachnoid aneurysm trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomised comparison of effects on survival, dependency, seizures, rebleeding, subgroups and aneurysm occlusion. *Lancet* (2005) 366: 809–17. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67214-5
- Roos YB, de Haan RJ, Beenen LF, Groen RJ, Albrecht KW, Vermeulen M. Complications and outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a prospective hospital based cohort study in the Netherlands. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2000) 68:337–41. doi:10.1136/jnnp.68. 3.337
- Hijdra A, Van Gijn J, Stefanko S, Van Dongen KJ, Vermeulen M, Van Crevel H. Delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: clinicoanatomic correlations. *Neurology* (1986) 36:329–33. doi:10.1212/ WNL.36.3.329
- RL M. Delayed neurological deterioration after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Nat Rev Neurol (2014) 10:44–58. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2013.246
- Crowley RW, Medel R, Kassell NF, Dumont AS. New insights into the causes and therapy of cerebral vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Drug Discov Today* (2008) 13:254–60. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2007.11.010
- Hansen-Schwartz J. Cerebral vasospasm: a consideration of the various cellular mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology. *Neurocrit Care* (2004) 1:235–46. doi:10.1385/NCC:1:2:235
- Kranc KR, Pyne GJ, Tao L, Claridge TD, Harris DA, Cadoux-Hudson TA, et al. Oxidative degradation of bilirubin produces vasoactive compounds. *Eur J Biochem* (2000) 267:7094–101. doi:10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01812.x
- Macdonald RL, Pluta RM, Zhang JH. Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: the emerging revolution. Nat Clin Pract Neurol (2007) 3:256–63. doi:10.1038/ncpneuro0490
- Provencio JJ, Vora N. Subarachnoid hemorrhage and inflammation: bench to bedside and back. *Semin Neurol* (2005) 25:435–44. doi:10.1055/s-2005-923537
- Pyne-Geithman GJ, Caudell DN, Prakash P, Clark JF. Glutathione peroxidase and subarachnoid hemorrhage: implications for the role of oxidative stress in cerebral vasospasm. *Neurol Res* (2009) 31:195–9. doi:10.1179/1743132 09X393906
- Suarez JI, Tarr RW, Selman WR. Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. N Engl J Med (2006) 354:387–96. doi:10.1056/NEJMra052732
- Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, Coert BA, Stroes ES, Roos YB. Microthrombosis after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an additional explanation for delayed cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2008) 28:1761–70. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2008.74
- Zhang ZD, Macdonald RL. Contribution of the remodeling response to cerebral vasospasm. *Neurol Res* (2006) 28:713–20. doi:10.1179/016164106X151990
- Allen GS, Ahn HS, Preziosi TJ, Battye R, Boone SC, Boone SC, et al. Cerebral arterial spasm – a controlled trial of nimodipine in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. N Engl J Med (1983) 308:619–24. doi:10.1056/ NEJM198303173081103
- Pickard JD, Murray GD, Illingworth R, Shaw MD, Teasdale GM, Foy PM, et al. Effect of oral nimodipine on cerebral infarction and outcome after subarachnoid haemorrhage: British aneurysm nimodipine trial. *BMJ* (1989) 298(6674):636–42. doi:10.1136/bmj.298.6674.636
- Petruk KC, West M, Mohr G, Weir BK, Benoit B, Gentili F, et al. Nimodipine treatment in poor-grade aneurysm patients. Results of a multicenter double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *J Neurosurg* (1988) 64:505–17. doi:10.3171/ jns.1988.68.4.0505
- Philippon J, Grob R, Dagreou F, Guggiari M, Rivierez M, Viars P. Prevention of vasospasm in subarachnoid haemorrhage. A controlled study with nimodipine. Acta Neurochir (Wien) (1986) 82:110–4. doi:10.1007/BF01456369
- Mee E, Dorrance D, Lowe D, Neil-Dwyer G. Controlled study of nimodipine in aneurysm patients treated early after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neuro*surgery (1988) 22:484–91. doi:10.1097/00006123-198803000-00006
- Langley MS, Sorkin EM. Nimodipine. A review of its pharmacodynamic properties, and therapeutic potential in cerebrovascular disease. *Drugs* (1989) 37:669–99. doi:10.2165/00003495-198937050-00004

- Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, de Haan RJ, Levi M, Roos YB. Dihydropyridine calcium antagonists increase fibrinolytic activity: a systematic review. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2007) 27:1293–308. doi:10.1038/ sj.jcbfm.9600431
- 22. Hopp SC, Royer SE, D'Angelo HM, Kaercher RM, Fisher DA, Wenk GL. Differential neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory effects of L-type voltage dependent calcium channel and ryanodine receptor antagonists in the sub-stantia nigra and locus coeruleus. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* (2015) 10:35–44. doi:10.1007/s11481-014-9568-7
- Hopp SC, D'Angelo HM, Royer SE, Kaercher RM, Crockett AM, Adzovic L, et al. Calcium dysregulation via L-type voltage-dependent calcium channels and ryanodine receptors underlies memory deficits and synaptic dysfunction during chronic neuroinflammation. *J Neuroinflammation* (2015) 12:56. doi:10.1186/s12974-015-0262-3
- Hopp SC, D'Angelo HM, Royer SE, Kaercher RM, Adzovic L, Wenk GL. Differential rescue of spatial memory deficits in aged rats by L-type voltage-dependent calcium channel and ryanodine receptor antagonism. *Neuroscience* (2014) 280:10–8. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.09.007
- Bork K, Wurm F, Haller H, Strauss C, Scheller C, Gnanapragassam VS, et al. Neuroprotective and neuroregenerative effects of nimodipine in a model system of neuronal differentiation and neurite outgrowth. *Molecules* (2015) 20:1003–13. doi:10.3390/molecules20011003
- 26. Herzfeld E, Strauss C, Simmermacher S, Bork K, Horstkorte R, Dehghani F, et al. Investigation of the neuroprotective impact of nimodipine on Neuro2a cells by means of surgery-like stress model. *Int J Mol Sci* (2014) 15:18453–65. doi:10.3390/ijms151018453
- Koskimäki J, Matsui N, Umemori J, Rantamäki T, Castrén E. Nimodipine activates TrkB neurotrophin receptors and induces neuroplastic and neuroprotective signaling events in the mouse hippocampus and prefrontal cortex. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* (2015) 35:189–96. doi:10.1007/s10571-014-0110-5
- Babu CS, Ramanathan M. Post-ischemic administration of nimodipine following focal cerebral ischemic-reperfusion injury in rats alleviated excitotoxicity, neurobehavioural alterations and partially the bioenergetics. *Int J Dev Neurosci* (2011) 29:93–105. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2010.08.001
- Oehmke MJ, Schirrmeister D, Kuhn DF, Fritz T, Engel J, Hempelmann G. Perioperative changes in cerebral ischemic markers in the cerebrospinal fluid after preoperative nimodipine treatment. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* (2003) 47:1287–91. doi:10.1046/j.1399-6576.2003.00250.x
- Horn J, de Haan RJ, Vermeulen M, Luiten PG, Limburg M. Nimodipine in animal model experiments of focal cerebral ischemia: a systematic review. *Stroke* (2001) 32:2433–8. doi:10.1161/hs1001.096009
- Korenkov AI, Pahnke J, Frei K, Warzok R, Schroeder HW, Frick R, et al. Treatment with nimodipine or mannitol reduces programmed cell death and infarct size following focal cerebral ischemia. *Neurosurg Rev* (2000) 23:145–50. doi:10.1007/PL00011946
- Ichihara S, Tsuda Y, Hosomi N, Kitadai M, Matsuo H. Nimodipine improves brain energy metabolism and blood rheology during ischemia and reperfusion in the gerbil brain. *J Neurol Sci* (1996) 144:84–90. doi:10.1016/ S0022-510X(96)00185-2
- Krieglstein J, Lippert K, Pöch G. Apparent independent action of nimodipine and glutamate antagonists to protect cultured neurons against glutamateinduced damage. *Neuropharmacology* (1996) 35:1737–42. doi:10.1016/S0028-3908(96)00104-9
- Simard JM, Schreibman D, Aldrich EF, Stallmeyer B, Le B, James RF, et al. Unfractionated heparin: multitargeted therapy for delayed neurological deficits induced by subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2010) 13:439–49. doi:10.1007/s12028-010-9435-1
- Simard JM, Tosun C, Ivanova S, Kurland DB, Hong C, Radecki L, et al. Heparin reduces neuroinflammation and transsynaptic neuronal apoptosis in a model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Transl Stroke Res* (2012) 3:155–65. doi:10.1007/ s12975-012-0166-9
- Simard JM, Aldrich EF, Schreibman D, James RF, Polifka A, Beaty N. Lowdose intravenous heparin infusion in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a preliminary assessment. *J Neurosurg* (2013) 119:1611–9. doi:10.3171/2013.8.JNS1337
- 37. Connolly ES Jr, Rabinstein AA, Carhuapoma JR, Derdeyn CP, Dion J, Higashida RT, et al. Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the

American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2012) 43:1711–37. doi:10.1161/STR.0b013e3182587839

- Diringer MN, Bleck TP, Claude Hemphill J III, Menon D, Shutter L, Vespa P, et al. Critical care management of patients following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: recommendations from the Neurocritical Care Society's Multidisciplinary Consensus Conference. *Neurocrit Care* (2011) 15:211–40. doi:10.1007/s12028-011-9605-9
- Weidauer S, Lanfermann H, Raabe A, Zanella F, Seifert V, Beck J. Impairment of cerebral perfusion and infarct patterns attributable to vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a prospective MRI and DSA study. *Stroke* (2007) 38:1831–6. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.106.477976
- Bekelis D, Missios S, Coy S, Rahmani R, Singer RJ, Mackenzie TA. Surgical clipping versus endovascular intervention for the treatment of subarachnoid hemorrhage patients in New York State. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0137946. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0137946
- Samuels O, Webb A, Culler S, Martin K, Barrow D. Impact of a dedicated neurocritical care team in treating patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2011) 14:334–40. doi:10.1007/ s12028-011-9505-z
- 42. Belagaje SR, Zander K, Thackeray L, Gupta R. Disposition to home or acute rehabilitation is associated with a favorable clinical outcome in the SENTIS trial. J Neurointerv Surg (2015) 7:322–5. doi:10.1136/neurintsurg-2014-011132
- 43. Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. *Modern Epidemiology*. 3rd ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins (2008).
- Schisterman EF, Cole SR, Platt RW. Overadjustment bias and unnecessary adjustment in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiology* (2009) 20:488–95. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181a819a1
- Sandow N, Diesing D, Sarrafzadeh A, Vajkoczy P, Wolf S. Nimodipine dose reductions in the treatment of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2016) 25:29–39. doi:10.1007/s12028-015-0230-x
- Chen S, Li Q, Wu H, Krafft PR, Wang Z, Zhang JH. The harmful effects of subarachnoid hemorrhage on extracerebral organs. *Biomed Res Int* (2014) 2014:858496. doi:10.1155/2014/858496
- 47. Fontana J, Moratin J, Ehrlich G, Scharf J, Weib C, Schmeider K, et al. Dynamic autoregulatory response after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and its relation to angiographic vasospasm and clinical outcome. *Neurocrit Care* (2015) 23:355–63. doi:10.1007/s12028-014-0104-7
- Budohoski KP, Czosnyka M, Smielewski P, Kasprowicz M, Helmy A, Bulters D, et al. Impairment of cerebral autoregulation predicts delayed

cerebral ischemia after subarachnoid hemorrhage: a prospective observational study. *Stroke* (2012) 43:3230–7. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.669788

- Jaeger M, Soehle M, Schuhmann MU, Meixensberger J. Clinical significance of impaired cerebrovascular autoregulation after severe aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2012) 43:2097–101. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.112.659888
- Soehle M, Czosnyka M, Pickard JD, Kirkpatrick PJ. Continuous assessment of cerebral autoregulation in subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Anesth Analg* (2004) 98:1133–9. doi:10.1213/01.ANE.0000111101.41190.99
- 51. Macdonald RL, Kassell NF, Mayer S, Ruefenacht D, Schmiedek P, Weidauer S, et al. Clazosentan to overcome neurological ischemia and infarction occurring after subarachnoid hemorrhage (CONSCIOUS-1): randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 dose-finding trial. *Stroke* (2008) 39:3015–21. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.519942
- Hravnak M, Frangiskakis JM, Crago EA, Chang Y, Tanabe M, Gorcsan J III, et al. Elevated cardiac troponin I and relationship to persistence of electrocardiographic and echocardiographic abnormalities after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2009) 40:3478–84. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA. 109.556753
- Mayer SA, Lin J, Homma S, Solomon RA, Lennihan L, Sherman D, et al. Myocardial injury and left ventricular performance after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (1999) 30:780–6. doi:10.1161/01.STR.30.4.780

Conflict of Interest Statement: AW, MK, NB, GP, and DS have no disclosures or conflicts of interest. JA has no conflicts of interest. She is supported by an AHRQ grant 1K01HS024560. JS has no disclosures or conflicts of interest. He is supported by grants from the NINDS (NS060801) and the Department of Veterans Affairs (BX001629; BX002889). This research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as potential conflicts of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Wessell, Kole, Badjatia, Parikh, Albrecht, Schreibman and Simard. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Amino Acids in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage: An Observational Study

Bartosz Sokół¹*, Bartosz Urbaniak², Norbert Wąsik¹, Szymon Plewa², Agnieszka Klupczyńska², Roman Jankowski¹, Barbara Więckowska³, Robert Juszkat⁴ and Zenon Kokot²

¹ Department of Neurosurgery, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland, ²Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Inorganic and Analytical Chemistry, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland, ³Department of Computer Science and Statistics, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland, ⁴Department of General and Interventional Radiology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

J. Marc Simard, University of Maryland, Baltimore, United States

Reviewed by:

Mel Wichter, Advocate Christ Hospital, United States Benjamin Aaron Emanuel, Keck School of Medicine of USC, United States

> *Correspondence: Bartosz Sokół bartosz.sokol@ump.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 20 June 2017 **Accepted:** 10 August 2017 **Published:** 28 August 2017

Citation:

Sokół B, Urbaniak B, Wąsik N, Plewa S, Klupczyńska A, Jankowski R, Więckowska B, Juszkat R and Kokot Z (2017) Amino Acids in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage: An Observational Study. Front. Neurol. 8:438. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00438 **Background:** The authors are aware of only one article investigating amino acid concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) in patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms, and this was published 31 years ago. Since then, both management of subarachnoid haemorrhage (SAH) and amino acid assay techniques have seen radical alterations, yet the pathophysiology of SAH remains unclear.

Objective: To analyse the pattern of concentrations of amino acids and related compounds in patients with different outcomes following aneurysmal SAH.

Methods: 49 CSF samples were collected from 23 patients on days 0–3, 5, and 10 post-SAH. Concentrations of 33 amino acids and related compounds were assayed by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry in patients with good [Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) 1–3] and poor (GOS 4–5) outcome.

Results: Of the 33 compounds assayed, only hydroxyproline and 3-aminoisobutyric acid appeared not to increase significantly following SAH. In poor outcome patients, we found significantly higher concentrations of aspartic acid (p = 0.038), glutamic acid (p = 0.038), and seven other compounds on days 0–3 post-SAH; glutamic acid (p = 0.041) on day 5 post-SAH, and 2-aminoadipic acid (p = 0.033) on day 10 post-SAH. The most significant correlation with GOS at 3 months was found for aminoadipic acid on day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.81).

Conclusion: Aneurysmal rupture leads to a generalised increase of amino acids and related compounds in CSF. The patterns differ between good and poor outcome cases. Increased excitatory amino acids are strongly indicative of poor outcome.

Keywords: subarachnoid haemorrhage, amino acids, early brain injury, delayed cerebral ischaemia, biomarkers

INTRODUCTION

Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) due to ruptured intracranial aneurysms is a life-threatening condition with an annual incidence of 2-22.5/100,000 population per annum. The average annual attack rate per 100,000 population for men and women aged 25-64 years in Poland is 10.9 and

20

Amino Acids in SAH

9.1, respectively, and the 28 day fatality rates 39 and 44% (1, 2). Cumulative morbidity and mortality following SAH remain high, despite the considerable efforts of neuroclinicians worldwide (3, 4). Traditionally, rebleeding and cerebral vasospasm have been regarded as the main causes of poor outcome in these cases (5). Although cerebral vasospasm has been extensively studied, and subjected to numerous drug trials during the past several decades, the outcome appears not to have been improved by its reversal (2, 6, 7). Several recent studies indicate that early brain injury (EBI), which occurs during the 24-72 h following aneurysmal rupture, makes a significant contribution to patient outcome, and may be responsible for the detrimental effects seen in patients after SAH (3, 8-10). EBI was first reported by Kusaka et al. (11). Since then, the knowledge of mechanisms involved in EBI significantly progressed, but it still warrants further investigation (12-20). During EBI, the central nervous system (CNS) suffers from "primary" insults (involving acute changes of intracranial pressure, cerebral perfusion pressure, and cerebral blood flow with vascular constriction and obstruction of the microcirculation), and "secondary" ischaemic processes (including anaerobic cellular respiration, energy depletion, impaired protein synthesis, excitotoxicity, free radical attack, neuronal stress, and DNA damage, leading to apoptosis and necrosis) (16). Many of these processes may potentially be initiated, mediated, or terminated by amino acids and related compounds. Von Holst and Hagenfeldt in 1985 appear to be the only group to have demonstrated increased levels of amino acids in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) after SAH, and proposed mechanisms leading to it (21). Since then, no new studies analysing CSF amino acids involved in SAH has been published. Our present aim is to look into the role of amino acids and related compounds potentially involved in the process of brain injury following SAH. Determination of amino acid levels in CSF samples may provide a means of determining prognosis at an early stage and extending the knowledge about the pathophysiology of SAH.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethics and Consent

This is a prospective observational study conducted in a single medical centre in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The local bioethics committee approved the study protocol, consenting protocol, and consent forms. Patients were assessed by two specialists (neurosurgeon and anaesthesiologist) as to their ability to give informed consent. Depending on this assessment, either the patient or next of kin gave consent for entry to the study and use a blinded medical data for analysis and further publication.

Population, Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

132 patients with SAH [confirmed by non-contrast computed tomography (CT)] were referred to our department during study recruitment period (from May 2015 to October 2016). Inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) aneurysmal SAH treated endovascularly <24 h post rupture, (2) external ventricular drainage (EVD) placed <48 h post rupture. The aim was early prevention of rebleeding while managing acute hydrocephalus

(HCP), but avoiding the trauma associated with open surgery. Exclusion criteria for the study were as follows: (1) history of CNS disease (meningitis, stroke), (2) active CNS infection, (3) active systemic disease (diabetes mellitus, rheumatoid arthritis, malignancy, cirrhosis, renal failure), (4) age below 18, and (5) pregnancy. Conditions with potential impact on CSF homeostasis as well as subpopulations with distinct SAH features were not enrolled. Control CSF was obtained during spinal anaesthesia from age- and sex-matched patients with a negative history of CNS diseases.

Management, Definitions, and End Points

On admission, the clinical status was assessed using GCS and specific SAH grading scales [Hunt and Hess (HH), World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies (WFNS)]. An initial head CT scan was used to confirm SAH and assess the presence of HCP. EVD was placed secondary to endovascular treatment in patients with GCS score below 15 and: (1) relative bicaudate index >1, (2) focal dilation of ventricular system due to obstruction, or (3) thick intraventricular blood clot. A second CT scan was performed within 24 h of aneurysmal occlusion and EVD placement to assess any procedure related brain injury. Patients received a continuous infusion of nimodipine for at least 10 days, hypotension was avoided using vasopressors, and euvolemia was maintained. Induced hypertension (20-30% above baseline levels) was used to treat patients diagnosed with delayed cerebral ischaemia (DCI), based on the appearance of a new focal deficit, or a drop of at least two points on the GCS lasting at least 2 h after the exclusion of systematic causes EVD infection screening involved CSF cell count at least twice per patient, and CSF culture at least once on day 10 post-SAH. The primary end point was the treatment outcome assessed at 3 months using the Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) (22). Patients were divided into two groups according to GOS. Good outcome consisted of those with no disability, moderate disability, and severe disability (GOS grades 5, 4, and 3); poor outcome were those with persistent vegetative state or death (GOS grades 2 and 1). DCI related infarction was defined as a new cerebral infarction identified on a head CT scan within 6 weeks of rupture and not present on the immediate posttreatment scan [as proposed by Vergouwen et al. (23)].

Plasma Assays and CSF Sample Collection

Haemoglobin, white blood cell (WBC) count, C-reactive protein (CRP) level, and fibrinogen level were assessed daily. Automatic analysers XT 2000i (Sysmex, Japan), Cobas 6000 (Roche Diagnostic, USA), and ACL TOP 500 (Instrumentation Laboratory, Italy) were used for measurements. CSF samples were collected from the EVD at three time points, on post-SAH days 0-3, 5, and 10. Each CSF sample was centrifugated and stored at -80° C until assayed.

Determination of Free Amino Acid Profiles

The applied methodology was based on an aTRAQ[™] kit (Sciex, Framingham, MA, USA). The detailed description of a sample preparation procedure as well as liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry/mass spectrometry (LC–MS/MS) parameters

have been described in our previous report (24). The sample preparation comprised the following steps: protein precipitation by 10% sulphosalicyclic acid, dilution with borate buffer, amino acids labelling with aTRAQ[™] reagent, and addition of internal standard mixture. Labelling efficiency was confirmed using norleucine (contained in sulphosalicylic acid solution) and norvaline (contained in borate buffer). LC-MS/MS assays were carried out on a high-performance liquid chromatography instrument 1260 Infinity (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) coupled with 4000 QTRAP triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (Sciex, Framingham, MA, USA). Chromatographic separation of amino acids was performed using a Sciex C18 column (4.6 mm \times 150 mm, 5 μ m) and a flow rate of 800 μ L/ min in a gradient elution mode. Solvent A was water and solvent B was methanol, both with 0.1% formic acid and 0.01% heptafluorobutyric acid. The injection volume was 2 µL. The mass spectrometer was equipped with an electrospray ionisation source and operated in positive ionisation mode. For detection and quantification of amino acids, a highly selective schedule multiple reaction monitoring mode was used. Data acquisition and processing were performed with Analyst 1.5 software (Sciex, Framingham, MA, USA). The applied methodology is suitable for simultaneous determination of a wide range of 33 free amino acids, both proteinogenic and non-proteionogenic, with high sensitivity and specificity in time below 20 min (24-26). Due to simplification used in this article, o-phosphoethanolamine and ethylamine are counted to amino acids, yet in fact they are amino acids derivatives.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using STATISTICA 10 (Stat Soft Inc., Tulsa, OK, USA). Values for normally distributed numerical data have been expressed as mean and SDs; for ordinal or non-normally distributed numerical data as median and interquartile range, and for categorical data as counts and percentages. The normality of data distribution was assessed using the Shapiro–Wilk test. Amino acids levels are presented on figures as median and interquartile range since in nearly all cases they do not show normal distribution. Comparisons were made by using (1) Mann–Whitney test, (2) Student's *t*-test, (3) Friedman test with Conover–Iman *post hoc*, and (4) repeated measures ANOVA test with Fisher *post hoc*. The correlations were assessed by Spearman's test, and correlation coefficient (cc) >0.6 (cc < -0.6) was considered significant. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant when comparing.

RESULTS

The concentrations of the 33 compounds were established for 49 samples derived from 23 SAH patients (**Table 1**), and 25 samples collected from 25 control patients. Assays were available from 22 samples at days 0–3 post-SAH, 15 from days 5, and 12 from day 10. Rupture of an aneurysm led to a significant elevation of 27 of the 33 compounds in the CSF at days 0–3 post-SAH (**Table 2**). On days 0–3 post-SAH, the six exceptions were ethylamine (p = 0.798), gamma-aminobutyric acid (p = 0.669), 3-amino-isobutyric acid (p = 0.164), threonine (p = 0.079),

and arginine (p = 0.062). On day 5 post-SAH, three compounds showed no significant difference—aspartic acid (p = 0.175), 3-amino-isobutyric acid (p = 0.563), and hydroxyproline (p = 0.658). On day 10 post-SAH, there were four—aspartic acid (p = 0.054), 3-amino-isobutyric acid (p = 0.806), hydroxyproline (p = 0.289), and ethylamine (p = 0.292). Thus, hydroxyproline and 3-amino-isobutyric acid are the only 2 of the 33 substances assayed which appear to show no increase following SAH.

Patients were now divided into two groups as good and poor outcomes as defined above (**Table 3**). On days 0–3 post-SAH, concentrations of nine amino acids were significantly higher in patients with poor outcome than those with good outcome: taurine (p = 0.038), aspartic acid (p = 0.038), citrulline (p = 0.035), glutamic acid (p = 0.038), gamma-amino-butyric acid (p = 0.043), 3-methyl-histidine (p = 0.01), ornithine (p = 0.033), cystathionine (p = 0.01), and isoleucine (p = 0.045). WBC level (p = 0.01) also differentiated these two groups (**Figure 1**). On day 5 post-SAH, glutamic acid (p = 0.041) was the only amino acid showing significantly higher levels in the poor outcome group.

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of study patients

	o or olday patiente.			
Male		12 (52%)		
Age (years)	57.	26 ± 14.78		
Aneurysm location				
Anterior communicating artery		8 (35%)		
Middle cerebral artery		6 (26%)		
Anterior cerebral artery	3 (13%)			
Basilar artery	3 (13%)			
Internal carotid artery		1 (4%)		
Posterior cerebral artery		1 (4%)		
Posterior inferior cerebellar artery		1 (4%)		
Aneurysmal size (mm)	4.	74 ± 1.82		
Cerebral infarction due to DCI on CT	15 (65%)			
Intracerebral haemorrhage on CT	15 (65%)			
Intraventricular blood on CT	:	21 (91%)		
Fisher CT score		4 (4-4)		
Modified Fisher CT score		4 (3–4)		
WFNS score on admission		4 (3–5)		
HH score on admission		4 (3–5)		
GCS on admission		5 (4–12)		
	On	Post-SAH	Post-SAH	
	admission	day 5	day 10	
WBC count (10 ⁶ /mm ³)	13.69 ± 5.4	11.86 ± 5.7	12.51 ± 4.3	
CRP level (mg/L)	119.50 ± 79.5	89.42 ± 54.4		
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	446.70 ± 151	608.20 ± 205	592.90 ± 249	
Hgb (g/dL)	16.40 ± 17.41		10.93 ± 1.3	
Treatment outcome (according	g to GOS at 3 mont	ths)		
Good recovery (score of 5)		6 (26%)		
Moderate disability (score of 4)	2 (9%)			
Severe disability (score of 3)		2 (9%)		
Persistent vegetative state (score of 2)		5 (22%)		
Death (score of 1)		8 (35%)		

Data presented as mean ± SD; median (interquartile range) or count (percentage). CRP, C-reactive protein; CT, computed tomography; DCl, delayed cerebral ischaemia; GCS, Glasgow Coma Scale; GOS, Glasgow Outcome Scale; HH, Hunt and Hess scale; Hgb, plasma haemoglobin; WBC, white blood cell; WFNS, World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies scale. TABLE 2 | Differences in cerebrospinal fluid amino acid level at days 0–3, 5, and 10 post-SAH in healthy individuals (control group) and subarachnoid haemorrhage (SAH) patients (study group).

Amino acid	Control group	Study group, day 0–3 post-SAH	Control group vs study group, days 0–3 post-SAH. <i>p</i> value	Study group, day 5 post-SAH	Control group vs study group, day 5 post-SAH. <i>p</i> value	Study group, day 10 post-SAH	Control group vs study group, day 10 post-SAH. <i>p</i> value
O-phosphoethanolamine (µM)	3.00	5.95	<0.01	5.15	<0.001	6.60	<0.001
Ethylamine (µM)	9.80	9.40	0.798	9.65	<0.001	11.10	0.292
Taurine (µM)	7.00	16.00	<0.001	14.30	<0.001	10.75	<0.01
Asparagine (µM)	5.70	10.35	0.01	19.50	<0.001	21.75	<0.001
Serine (µM)	24.20	55.70	<0.001	75.40	<0.001	83.75	<0.001
Glycine (µM)	8.90	38.75	<0.001	34.85	<0.001	35.20	<0.001
Hydroxyproline (µM)	0.60	1.00	0.164	1.35	0.658	1.35	0.289
Glutamine (µM)	407.60	520.65	<0.01	791.10	<0.001	796.30	<0.001
Aspartic acid (µM)	0.50	1.55	<0.001	0.80	0.175	0.95	0.054
Citruline (µM)	1.60	2.75	0.011	2.55	<0.01	3.30	<0.01
Threonine (µM)	24.80	29.05	0.079	56.10	<0.001	63.40	<0.001
Beta-alanine (µM)	20.30	22.00	0.040	29.00	<0.01	27.30	<0.01
Alanine (µM)	35.00	88.05	<0.001	114.55	<0.001	122.55	<0.001
Glutamic acid (µM)	1.20	5.40	<0.001	3.00	< 0.001	2.35	<0.01
Histidine (µM)	11.40	28.20	<0.001	43.35	<0.001	40.20	<0.001
3-Methylhistidine (µM)	0.50	1.00	<0.01	1.40	<0.001	1.05	<0.01
2-Aminoadipic acid (µM)	0.00	1.65	<0.001	2.10	<0.001	1.45	<0.001
Gamma-aminobutyric acid (µM)	0.40	0.50	0.699	0.30	0.012	0.20	0.051
3-Aminoisobutyric acid (µM)	0.50	0.30	0.668	0.30	0.563	0.35	0.806
2-Aminobutyric acid (µM)	3.20	6.20	<0.01	6.60	<0.001	7.30	<0.001
Arginine (µM)	15.70	19.25	0.062	26.60	<0.001	24.35	<0.01
Proline (µM)	0.80	11.80	<0.001	13.95	<0.001	16.15	<0.001
Ornithine (µM)	4.30	19.80	<0.001	17.95	<0.001	17.75	<0.001
Cystathionine (µM)	0.30	2.05	<0.001	1.05	<0.001	1.40	<0.001
Cysteine (µM)	0.40	2.05	<0.001	1.75	<0.001	1.65	<0.001
Lysine (µM)	22.50	53.80	<0.001	73.05	<0.001	72.40	<0.001
Methionine (µM)	3.10	6.20	<0.01	11.70	<0.001	13.65	<0.001
Valine (µM)	16.20	38.65	<0.01	66.20	<0.001	76.30	<0.001
Tyrosine (µM)	7.80	26.70	<0.001	36.20	<0.001	37.30	<0.001
Isoleucine (µM)	4.40	9.65	0.001	13.05	<0.001	15.05	<0.001
Leucine (µM)	11.40	29.20	<0.001	43.50	<0.001	56.80	<0.001
Phenylalanine (µM)	9.40	26.45	<0.001	43.25	<0.001	44.45	<0.001
Tryptophan (µM)	1.90	9.70	<0.001	13.60	<0.001	12.85	<0.001

Median levels of the amino acids are presented in the table. p values were calculated either by Mann–Whitney or Student's t-test. Amino acids increasing significantly during SAH (on days 0–3, 5, or 10) are shown in bold.

At this stage, CRP (p = 0.020) and WBC (p = 0.044) were also significantly higher in the poor outcome group (**Figure 2**). On day 10 post-SAH, 2-amino-adipic acid (p = 0.033) and fibrinogen (p = 0.014) were the only parameters showing significantly higher levels in the poor outcome group (**Figure 3**).

In the course of the study, it was possible to undertake assays at all three time points in 10 of the subjects; 7 of these were in the good outcome group. In this group, the Friedman test with Conover–Iman *post hoc*, or ANOVA test with Fisher *post hoc*, revealed significant changes in the concentrations of 18 of the compounds tested (**Table 4**). The number of poor outcome patients was too small to carry out such testing.

The levels of four of the compounds tested showed a significant correlation with GOS at 3 months. These were 2-amino-adipic acid on day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.81), cystathionine on day 5 post-SAH (cc = -0.72) and day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.67), 3-methylhistidine on days 0–3 post-SAH (cc = -0.64), and *o*-phosphoethanolamine on day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.62). As might be expected, there was a correlation between all three admission assessments (WFNS, HH, and GCS) and outcome.

There were also correlations between outcome and CRP on days 5 and 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.64 and cc = -0.79, respectively) as well as fibrinogen level on day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.97) (**Figure 4**).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we have analysed the profiles of amino acids and related compounds in the CSF of patients following SAH. The most significant findings are as follows:

- (1) Increase in 31 of 33 compounds in the days following SAH, with 26 increasing in the first 3 days after rupture
- (2) Significant increase in 18 of these compounds between days 0-3 and days 5 and 10
- (3) Higher levels of excitatory amino acids (EAAs) (glutamic acid, aspartic acid, and 2-amino-adipic acid) appear to predict a poor outcome.

As far as we are aware, it is 31 years since an article investigating amino acids in SAH has been published. In view of the paucity TABLE 3 | Differences in monitored parameters at days 0-3, 5, and 10 post-SAH in patients with good (GO-SAH) and poor (PO-SAH) treatment outcome.

Monitored parameter		Days 0–3 p	ost-SAH		Day 5 pos	st-SAH	I	Day 10 pos	st-SAH
	GO-SAH	PO-SAH	GO-SAH vs PO-SAH. <i>p</i> value	GO-SAH	PO-SAH	GO-SAH vs PO-SAH. <i>p</i> value	GO-SAH	PO-SAH	GO-SAH vs PO-SAH. <i>p</i> value
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	125.00	130.00	0.715	50.70	115.80	0.020	22.40	109.70	0.139
White blood cell count (10 ⁶ /mm ³)	9.86	17.47	<0.001	10.57	15.03	0.044	9.66	16.84	0.445
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	12.10	13.10	0.212	11.30	10.90	0.262	10.60	11.50	0.672
Temperature (°C)	37.00	37.00	0.736	37.40	37.20	0.273	36.90	35.70	0.512
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	485.00	550.00	0.879	509.00	676.00	0.257	428.00	698.00	0.014
O-phosphoethanolamine (µM)	4.10	6.80	0.161	4.90	7.70	0.161	5.95	8.50	0.019
Taurine (µM)	13.10	19.40	0.038	14.60	13.40	0.514	12.20	7.35	0.138
Asparagine (µM)	9.00	11.50	0.256	30.20	12.50	0.397	22.90	20.45	0.423
Serine (µM)	45.10	76.50	0.161	77.00	61.40	0.947	79.50	94.75	0.503
Glycine (µM)	29.60	41.00	0.182	30.00	43.00	0.204	35.20	35.65	0.671
Hydroxyproline (µM)	0.70	1.30	0.066	1.70	0.80	0.518	1.35	1.10	0.793
Ethylaminev (µM)	5.80	15.80	0.102	7.90	12.10	0.134	8.85	14.50	0.35
Glutamine (µM)	489.90	602.50	0.182	837.30	505.10	0.585	852.50	715.60	0.483
Aspartic acid (µM)	0.80	2.20	0.038	0.40	1.00	0.071	0.95	1.30	0.551
Citruline (µM)	1.90	5.90	0.035	2.50	3.10	0.396	3.30	3.30	1
Threonine (µM)	25.90	50.00	0.35	86.30	34.20	0.327	63.40	57.95	0.298
Beta-alanine (µM)	28.30	22.00	0.07	30.00	28.60	0.497	26.85	27.85	0.893
Alanine (µM)	70.70	138.10	0.109	115.50	113.60	0.447	120.30	141.70	0.954
Glutamic acid (µM)	3.40	9.30	0.038	2.70	5.80	0.024	2.00	17.10	0.269
Histidine (µM)	18.90	38.10	0.256	63.60	23.70	0.711	43.55	37.45	0.753
3-Methylhistidine (µM)	0.70	1.50	<0.01	1.80	1.20	0.958	1.35	1.05	0.733
2-Aminoadipic acid (µM)	1.30	1.70	0.076	1.50	4.10	0.071	1.30	2.45	0.033
Gamma-aminobutyric acid (µM)	0.30	0.90	0.043	0.30	0.30	0.932	0.35	0.15	0.266
3-Aminoisobutyric acid (µM)	0.20	0.40	0.066	0.30	0.30	0.958	0.35	0.45	0.93
2-Aminobutyric acid	4.60	8.20	0.088	11.40	5.50	0.542	10.75	6.50	0.124
Arginine (µM)	18.50	22.30	0.182	30.90	26.00	0.525	24.35	20.45	0.21
Proline (µM)	4.50	14.80	0.204	18.70	10.90	0.672	16.15	18.40	0.759
Ornithine (µM)	7.60	27.50	0.033	17.30	28.30	0.09	17.35	33.05	0.552
Cystathionine (µM)	0.80	2.80	<0.01	1.00	1.80	0.089	1.30	1.50	0.199
Cysteine (µM)	1.60	2.30	0.141	1.50	2.20	0.243	1.95	1.40	0.329
Lysine (µM)	43.00	74.50	0.095	87.10	55.90	0.341	72.40	72.60	0.612
Methionine (µM)	4.60	12.30	0.204	16.20	7.70	0.491	13.65	13.70	0.687
Valine (µM)	31.80	62.40	0.109	102.50	33.60	0.397	87.75	72.20	0.377
Tyrosine (µM)	23.00	32.50	0.083	36.60	35.80	0.876	38.60	37.30	0.676
Isoleucine (µM)	6.00	13.00	0.045	17.60	11.80	0.597	15.05	13.70	0.45
Leucine (µM)	22.90	39.70	0.109	80.30	29.80	0.397	60.95	50.55	0.532
Phenylalanine (µM)	21.20	38.80	0.062	51.30	32.40	0.665	45.40	44.45	0.913
Tryptophan (µM)	8.00	12.20	0.066	13.60	13.60	0.606	12.60	13.55	0.804

Median levels of the amino acids are presented in the table. p values were calculated either by Mann-Whitney or Student's t-test. Significant differences are shown in bold.

of publications, knowledge of this subject remains rudimentary. With the introduction of microdialysis, interest in this subject has been renewed since it allows in vivo sampling of brain interstitial fluid (27). This method allows continuous monitoring of brain metabolism, but this is limited to the tissue around the probe (28). On the other hand, the commonly available CSF analysis gives a more general picture of conditions in the brain. Physiologically, the exchange between brain interstitial fluid and CSF is bidirectional (29). In mice, levels of amino acids in brain interstitial fluid were found to be approximately 5-10 times lower than in the CSF (30). Although the latest studies of amino acids in SAH have focussed on microdialysis, widespread use of this monitoring technique is limited by its high cost. By contrast, EVD is a relatively inexpensive procedure commonly performed in patients following SAH. In the clinical setting, CSF seems to be a more convenient source for examining biomarkers.

In our patients, rupture of an aneurysm led to an increase in 31 of 33 amino acids and related compounds we assayed. In the study

by von Holst et al., there was no increase in taurine levels following SAH. Because the concentration of taurine in whole blood is four to eight times greater than in blood plasma alone, von Holst et al. concluded that red blood cell (RBC) lysis did not contribute to the amino acid concentrations (31). We do not agree with this statement as in our series, the CSF taurine levels increased by a factor of 2. RBC lysis begins within 2-4 h of SAH and continues at least until the clot has cleared (32, 33). In our opinion, this process contributes to the amino acid levels at every stage following SAH. Microdialysis studies indicate that an early increase of taurine in the brain interstitial fluid is a reliable marker of poor outcome (34, 35). In the both articles, brain cells activated in the course of SAH were indicated as a potential source of taurine in the interstitial fluid. In our series, significantly higher taurine levels were observed on days 0-3 post-SAH in patients with a poor outcome. This observation suggests that taurine may have some value as a clinical marker and encourage further studies. In experimental settings, both detrimental and beneficial roles for taurine have



FIGURE 1 | Significant differences in monitored parameters on days 0–3 post-SAH between patients with good (GO-SAH) and poor (PO-SAH) treatment outcome. Mann–Whitney test revealed significantly higher levels of (**A**) taurine (p = 0.038), (**B**) aspartic acid (p = 0.038), (**C**) citruline (p = 0.035), (**D**) glutamic acid (p = 0.038), (**E**) 3-methylhistidine (p < 0.01), (**F**) gamma-aminobutyric acid (p = 0.043), (**G**) ornithine (p = 0.033), (**H**) cystathionine (p < 0.01), and (**I**) isoleucine (p = 0.045) in patients with poor outcome. Student's *t*-test revealed significantly higher level of white blood cell count (p < 0.01) in patients with poor outcome (**J**). In all cases, median levels and the 25th and 75th percentiles are presented.



FIGURE 2 | Significant differences in monitored parameters on day 5 post-SAH between patients with good (GO-SAH) and poor (PO-SAH) treatment outcome. (A) Student's *t*-test revealed significantly higher levels of glutamic acid (p = 0.041) in patients with poor outcome. Mann–Whitney test revealed significantly higher C-reactive protein level (p 0.020) (B) and white blood cell count (p = 0.044) (C) in patients with poor outcome. In all cases, median levels and the 25th and 75th percentiles are presented.

been described. Kofler et al. have extensively discussed this matter in the context of SAH (34). Our study suggests predominantly harmful effects from taurine.

Among 33 assayed compounds, only 2 did not increase at any stage; these were hydroxyproline and 3-aminoisobutyric acid, neither of which is encoded in the eukaryotic genetic code.



FIGURE 3 | Significant differences in monitored parameters on day 10 post-SAH between patients with good (GO-SAH) and poor (PO-SAH) treatment outcome. Mann–Whitney test revealed significantly higher 2-aminoadipic acid (p = 0.033) (**A**) and fibrinogen (p = 0.014) (**B**) levels in patients with poor outcome. Median levels and the 25th and 75th percentiles are presented.

TABLE 4 Amino acid leve	el changes in time ir	n good outcome	SAH patients with (GO-	-SAH).
---------------------------	-----------------------	----------------	------------------------	--------

Monitored parameter	Days 0–3 post-SAH	Day 5 post-SAH	Day 10 post-SAH	Omnibus test p value	Days 0–3 vs Day 5 p value post hoc	Days 0–3 vs Day 10 p value post hoc	Day 5 vs Day 10 p value post hoc
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	125.00	50.70	27.00	0.049	0.345	0.012	0.073
White blood cell count (10 ⁶ /mm ³)	9.86	10.57	9.34	0.631			
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	12.10	10.60	10.50	0.066			
Temperature (°C)	37.00	37.30	36.90	0.382			
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	485.00	442.00	423.00	0.327			
O-phosphoethanolamine (µM)	6.20	5.00	5.80	0.325			
Taurine (µM)	13.90	14.60	10.80	0.867			
Asparagine (µM)	8.40	18.30	21.20	0.180			
Serine (µM)	45.10	73.80	76.10	0.031	0.039	0.013	0.566
Glycine (µM)	29.60	32.60	42.50	0.565			
Hydroxyproline (µM)	0.70	1.10	1.40	0.094			
Ethylaminev (µM)	5.70	10.10	9.80	0.039	0.078	<0.01	0.187
Glutamine (µM)	454.30	818.70	828.30	0.001	<0.01	<0.001	0.565
Aspartic acid (µM)	0.70	0.40	1.20	0.215			
Citruline (µM)	1.90	2.40	2.80	0.069			
Threonine (µM)	22.90	52.50	61.20	0.012	0.128	<0.01	<0.01
Beta-alanine (µM)	28.30	26.80	26.70	0.553			
Alanine (µM)	70.70	106.20	120.30	0.124			
Glutamic acid (µM)	4.50	2.70	2.10	0.898			
Histidine (µM)	16.80	38.10	37.40	0.156			
3-Methylhistidine (µM)	0.60	1.50	0.90	0.369			
2-Aminoadipic acid (µM)	1.30	1.50	1.30	0.129			
Gamma-aminobutyric acid (µM)	0.30	0.20	0.50	0.633			
3-Aminoisobutyric acid (µM)	0.20	0.30	0.30	0.215			
2-Aminobutyric acid (µM)	4.60	11.40	11.40	0.010	0.019	<0.01	0.427
Arginine (µM)	18.50	26.50	24.10	0.050	0.073	0.012	0.345
Proline (µM)	3.40	11.90	15.20	0.062			
Ornithine (µM)	7.60	17.30	14.30	0.368			
Cystathionine (µM)	1.00	1.00	1.20	0.648			
Cysteine (µM)	1.60	1.70	2.10	0.368			

(Continued)

TABLE 4 | Continued

Monitored parameter	Days 0–3 post-SAH	Day 5 post-SAH	Day 10 post-SAH	Omnibus test <i>p</i> value	Days 0–3 vs Day 5 p value post hoc	Days 0–3 vs Day 10 p value post hoc	Day 5 vs Day 10 p value post hoc
Lysine (µM)	43.00	83.20	70.80	0.017	0.017	<0.01	0.735
Methionine (µM)	4.60	10.00	11.90	0.008	0.029	<0.01	0.200
Valine (µM)	28.20	61.60	78.10	0.015	0.017	<0.01	0.683
Tyrosine (µM)	23.00	35.10	28.50	0.020	0.023	<0.01	0.647
Isoleucine (µM)	5.90	11.10	13.60	0.024	0.081	<0.01	0.219
Leucine (µM)	22.60	39.70	60.50	0.024	0.022	0.013	0.801
Phenylalanine (µM)	20.90	35.20	37.50	0.038	0.040	0.018	0.700
Tryptophan (µM)	8.00	11.80	11.10	0.072			

Median levels of the amino acids are presented in the table. Omnibus statistical test (Friedman or repeated measures ANOVA) revealed significant changes in concentration of 13 amino acids (shown in bold). Next, post hoc analysis (Conover–Iman for Friedman test and Fisher for repeated measures ANOVA) was run for those 13 amino acids to specify between what time points (days 0–3, 5, or 10 post-SAH) the differences in concentration were significant (shown in bold).

Hydroxyproline is produced by hydroxylation of proline and incorporated into collagen protein (36). In patients with blood– CSF barrier dysfunction, hydroxyproline has a smaller biological variation in CSF when compared with other amino acids (37). Hydroxyproline is increased in the blood plasma in Alzheimer's disease, but shows no increase in Parkinson's disease (38, 39). High protein bound of hydroksyproline in human erythrocytes could be an explanation of its elevation absence in CSF following SAH (40). Even less data are available for 3-aminoisobutyric acid, although it is known that it is a product of thymine catabolism and plays a role in fatty acid metabolism (41). The alterations of 3-aminoisobutyric acid could be a potential marker for the monitoring of the blood–brain barrier condition in the future studies (42).

Immediately after aneurysmal rupture, significantly higher levels of nine of the compounds investigated identified the patients with a poorer prognosis. Furthermore, none of the substances showed a significant decrease in CSF following SAH. We suspect that the initial increase is due to extravasated blood, and its extent related to the amount of blood. The main source is likely to be plasma, since the majority of amino acids (except glutamine and glutamic acid) have a CSF:plasma ratio of 0.1-0.2 (43). This is consistent with the fact that patients with a greater volume of subarachnoid blood have a poorer outcome (44).

In 18 of the compounds we investigated, there was a significant increase from days 0–3 post-SAH to days 5 and 10. There are several possible mechanisms for this delayed rise: (1) increased amino acid turnover as a response to injury. Zetterling et al. proposed this mechanism as an explanation for an increase in the concentrations of eight non-transmitter amino acids in brain interstitial fluid (45). (2) Cytokine-stimulated amino acid release. High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1), which is a proinflammatory cytokine [found in CSF of SAH patients (46)], which induces the release of the glutamate analogue from gliosomes (glial resealed subcellular particles) in a concentration-dependent manner (47). Conversely, HMGB1 was found to accumulate in glutamate treated primary cortical culture media, and supernatants collected from these cultures were found to trigger microglial activation (48). (3) Disruption of CSF homeostasis affecting transport with both the bloodstream and the interstitial fluid. (4) Lysis of RBCs (mentioned above) subsequent to their continuous release from the clot during its clearance (33).

Glutamic acid, as an important EAA, is the most extensively studied amino acid in SAH. Levels of glutamic acid in the interstitial fluid increase within minutes of SAH, peak at 40 min, and remain elevated for days (49). The increase is most pronounced in patients with acute ischaemic neurological deficit (50). Increase in interstitial glutamic acid was identified as one of the earliest markers of impending ischaemia, typically increasing before the onset of clinical symptoms (27, 50). Our results are in line with these observations. Glutamic acid, aspartic acid, and 2-aminoadipic acid levels increase on days 0-3 post-SAH, and are all significantly higher at some point in the poor outcomes group of patients. In fact, in this group, outcome was most accurately predicted by 2-aminoadipic acid levels in CSF on day 10 post-SAH. 2-Aminoadipic acid is a structural homologue of glutamic acid and a natural product of lysine metabolism in mammalian cells (51). Huck et al. described gliotoxic properties of this amino acid (52), while Kato et al. observed enhanced susceptibility of glial cell to oxidative stress after 2-aminoadipic acid administration (53).

In this prospective observational study, some limitations need to be considered. First, specific enrolment criteria (acute HCP and EVD insertion) interfere with typical SAH pathophysiology. They will aggravate the SAH-associated brain injury and may well alter amino acid concentrations. Consequently, our observations may only be applicable to this subpopulation of SAH patients. Second, the relatively small number of examined samples and enrolled patients limits the extent of our conclusions. Nevertheless, the statistical relationships in our study follow the pattern of large scale studies (e.g., high correlation between admission status and treatment outcome). Third, EVD infection and CNS microbial inflammation could potentially affect the results, but our protocols specifically aim to minimise such problems. We have assumed a relationship between CSF and interstitial fluid, but this may itself be corrupted by the pathology. Future studies should include more good-grade patients without severe complications (e.g., acute HCP) with CSF drawn by LP.



FIGURE 4 | Scatter charts showing the correlation between treatment outcome (measured by Glasgow Outcome Scale at 3 months) and other parameters. Spearman's test revealed significant correlations (cc > 0.6 or cc < -0.6) for (**A**) 2-aminoadipic acid on day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.81), (**B**, **C**) cystathionine on day 5 post-SAH (cc = -0.72) and day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.67), (**D**) 3-methylhistidine on days 0–3 post-SAH (cc = -0.64), (**E**) *o*-phosphoethanolamine on day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.62), (**F**) World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies scale (cc = -0.64), (**G**) Hunt and Hess scale (cc = -0.61), (**H**) Glasgow coma scale (cc = 0.72), (**I**, **J**) C-reactive protein on day 5 post-SAH (cc = -0.64) and day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.79), and (**K**) fibrinogen on day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.97). *p* values are <0.05 in all cases.

CONCLUSION

Aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage leads to a generalised increase of amino acids and related compounds in CSF. The patterns of concentrations differ between good and poor outcome patients. Increased EAAs are strongly indicative of poor outcome.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This is a prospective observational study conducted in a single medical centre in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The local bioethics committee approved the study protocol, consenting protocol, and consent forms.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BS conceived and designed the study. BS, NW, RJa, and RJu analysed and interpreted the patient clinical data. BU, SP, AK, and ZK performed the amino acid assay and interpreted the laboratory data. BW performed statistical analysis. BS, NW, BW, and BU wrote the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Ingall T, Asplund K, Mähönen M, Bonita R. A multinational comparison of subarachnoid hemorrhage epidemiology in the WHO MONICA stroke study. *Stroke* (2000) 31:1054–61. doi:10.1161/01.STR.31.5.1054
- Connolly ES, Rabinstein A, Carhuapoma JR, Derdeyn CP, Dion J, Higashida RT, et al. Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2012) 43:1711–37. doi:10.1161/STR.0b013e3182587839
- Schubert GA, Seiz M, Hegewald AA, Manville J, Thomé C. Hypoperfusion in the acute phase of subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (2011) 110:35–8. doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-0353-1_6
- Schwartz C, Pfefferkorn T, Ebrahimi C, Ottomeyer C, Fesl G, Bender A, et al. Long-term neurological outcome and quality of life after World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies Grades IV and V Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in an Interdisciplinary Treatment Concept. *Neurosurgery* (2017) 39:2722–7. doi:10.1093/neuros/nyw138
- Veldeman M, Höllig A, Clusmann H, Stevanovic A, Rossaint R, Coburn M, et al. Delayed cerebral ischaemia prevention and treatment after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a systematic review. *Br J Anaesth* (2016) 117(1):17–40. doi:10.1093/bja/aew095
- Pickard JD, Murray GD, Illingworth R, Shaw MD, Teasdale GM, Foy PM, et al. Effect of oral nimodipine on cerebral infarction and outcome after subarachnoid haemorrhage: British aneurysm nimodipine trial. *BMJ* (1989) 298:636–42. doi:10.1136/bmj.298.6674.636
- Fisher CM, Roberson GH, Ojemann RG. Cerebral vasospasm with ruptured saccular aneurysm – the clinical manifestations. *Neurosurgery* (1977) 1:245–8. doi:10.1227/00006123-197711000-00004
- Lin B, Dan W, Jiang L, Yin X, Wu H, Sun X. Association of APOE polymorphism with the change of brain function in the early stage of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (2011) 110:39–42. doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-0353-1_7
- Cahill WJ, Calvert JW, Zhang JH. Mechanisms of early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2006) 26:1341–53. doi:10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600307
- Sabri M, Lass E, Macdonald RL. Early brain injury: a common mechanism in subarachnoid hemorrhage and global cerebral ischemia. *Stroke Res Treat* (2013) 2013:394036. doi:10.1155/2013/394036
- Kusaka G, Ishikawa M, Nanda A, Granger DN, Zhang JH. Signaling pathways for early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2004) 24:916–25. doi:10.1097/01.WCB.0000125886.48838.7E
- Ma CX, Yin WN, Cai BW, Wu J, Wang JY, He M, et al. Toll-like receptor 4/ nuclear factor-kappa B signaling detected in brain after early subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Chin Med J (Engl)* (2009) 122(13):1575–81.
- Sehba FA, Friedrich V. Early micro vascular changes after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir Suppl (2011) 110:49–55. doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-0353-1_9
- Sehba FA, Hou J, Pluta RM, Zhang JH. The importance of early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Prog Neurobiol* (2012) 97:14–37. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.02.003
- Friedrich V, Flores R, Sehba FA. Cell death starts early after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Neurosci Lett (2012) 512(1):6–11. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2012.01.036
- Sehba FA, Bederson JB. Mechanisms of acute brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurol Res* (2006) 28:381–98. doi:10.1179/0161641 06X114991
- Sokół B, Wasik N, Jankowski R, Hołysz M, Więckowska B, Jagodziński P. Soluble toll-like receptors 2 and 4 in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with acute

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Mr Paul H. Walter—Consultant Neurosurgeon for the thorough review and valuable suggestions. They are also grateful to the nursing staff of ICU of Heliodor Swiecicki Clinical Hospital of the Poznan University of Medical Sciences.

hydrocephalus following aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0156171. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0156171

- Sokół B, Woźniak A, Jankowski R, Jurga S, Wasik N, Shahid H, et al. HMGB1 level in cerebrospinal fluid as a marker of treatment outcome in patients with acute hydrocephalus following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis (2015) 24(8):1897–904. doi:10.1016/j. jstrokecerebrovasdis.2015.05.002
- Feng H, Mao Y, Zhang JH, editors. Early Brain Injury or Cerebral Vasospasm, Acta Neurochirurgica, Wien: Springer (Vol. 110/1) (2011). p. 3–7.
- Helbok R, Kurtz P, Vibbert M, Schmidt MJ, Fernandez L, Lantigua H, et al. Early neurological deterioration after subarachnoid haemorrhage: risk factors and impact on outcome. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2013) 84:266–70. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2012-302804
- von Holst H, Hagenfeldt L. Increased levels of amino acids in human lumbar and central cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir* (1985) 78:46–56. doi:10.1007/BF01808696
- Jennett B, Bond M. Assessment of outcome after severe brain damage. A Practical Scale. *Lancet* (1975) 305:480-4. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(75)92830-5
- 23. Vergouwen MDI, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Rinkel GJE, Wijdicks EF, Muizelaar JP, et al. Definition of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as an outcome event in clinical trials and observational studies: proposal of a multidisciplinary research group. *Stroke* (2010) 41:2391–5. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.589275
- Matysiak J, Dereziński P, Klupczyńska A, Matysiak J, Kaczmarek E, Kokot ZJ. Effects of a honeybee sting on the serum free amino acid profile in humans. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e103533. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0103533
- Klupczynska A, Dereziński P, Dyszkiewicz W, Pawlak K, Kasprzyk M, Kokot ZJ. Evaluation of serum amino acid profiles' utility in non-small cell lung cancer detection in Polish population. *Lung Cancer* (2016) 100:71–6. doi:10.1016/j.lungcan.2016.04.008
- Held PK, White L, Pasquali M. Quantitative urine amino acid analysis using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry and aTRAQ[®] reagents. *J Chromatogr B* (2011) 879:2695–703. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2011.07.030
- Unterberg AW, Sakowitz OW, Sarrafzadeh AS, Benndorf G, Lanksch WR. Role of bedside microdialysis in the diagnosis of cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2001) 94:740–9. doi:10.3171/jns.2001.94.5.0740
- Helbok R, Schiefecker AJ, Beer R, Dietmann A, Antunes AP, Sohm F, et al. Early brain injury after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a multimodal neuromonitoring study. *Crit Care* (2015) 19:75. doi:10.1186/ s13054-015-0809-9
- 29. Matsumae M, Sato O, Hirayama A, Hayashi N, Takizawa K, Atsumi H, et al. Research into the physiology of cerebrospinal fluid reaches a new horizon: intimate exchange between cerebrospinal fluid and interstitial fluid may contribute to maintenance of homeostasis in the central nervous system. *Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo)* (2016) 56:416–41. doi:10.2176/nmc.ra.2016-0020
- Dolgodilina E, Imobersteg S, Laczko E, Welt T, Verrey F, Makrides V. Brain interstitial fluid glutamine homeostasis is controlled by blood-brain barrier SLC7A5/LAT1 amino acid transporter. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2016) 36:1929–41. doi:10.1177/0271678X15609331
- Trautwein EA, Hayes KC. Taurine concentrations in plasma and whole blood in humans: estimation of error from intra- and interindividual variation and sampling technique. *Am J Clin Nutr* (1990) 52:758–64.
- McPherson RA, Pincus MR, Henry JB. Cerebrospinal, synovial, serous body fluids. 22nd ed. In: McPherson RA, Pincus M, editors. *Henry's Clinical Diagnosis and Management by Laboratory Methods*. Philadelphia: Elsevier/ Saunders (2011). p. 480–506.

- Whitmore RG, Grant RA, Leroux P, El-Falaki O, Stein SC. How large is the typical subarachnoid hemorrhage? A review of current neurosurgical knowledge. *World Neurosurg* (2012) 77:686–97. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2011.02.032
- Kofler M, Schiefecker A, Ferger B, Beer R, Sohm F, Broessner G, et al. Cerebral Taurine levels are associated with brain edema and delayed cerebral infarction in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2015) 23:321–9. doi:10.1007/s12028-015-0140-y
- StaubF, GrafR, GabelP, KöchlingM, KlugN, HeissW-D. Multiple interstitial substances measured by microdialysis in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* (2000) 47:1106–16. doi:10.1097/00006123-200011000-00016
- Jenkins CL, Bretscher LE, Guzei IA, Raines RT. Effect of 3-hydroxyproline residues on collagen stability. J Am Chem Soc (2003) 125:6422–7. doi:10.1021/ ja034015j
- Kruse T, Reiber H, Neuhoff V. Amino acid transport across the human blood-CSF barrier. J Neurol Sci (1985)70:129–38. doi:10.1016/0022-510X(85)90082-6
- Molina JA, Jiménez-Jiménez FJ, Vargas C, Gómez P, de Bustos F, Ortí-Pareja M, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid levels of non-neurotransmitter amino acids in patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm (Vienna) (1998) 105:279– 86. doi:10.1007/s007020050057
- Antonio Molina J, Javier Jiménez-Jiménez F, Gómez P, Vargas C, Antonio Navarro J, Ortí-Pareja M, et al. Decreased cerebrospinal fluid levels of neutral and basic amino acids in patients with Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Sci* (1997) 150:123–7. doi:10.1016/S0022-510X(97)00069-5
- Siddiqi NJ, Alhomida AS. Distribution of total, free, peptide-bound and protein- bound hydroxyproline in the erythrocytes from different species. *Comp Clin Path* (2002) 11:123–8. doi:10.1007/s005800200010
- Roberts LD, Boström P, O'Sullivan JF, Schinzel RT, Lewis GD, Dejam A, et al. β-Aminoisobutyric acid induces browning of white fat and hepatic β-oxidation and is inversely correlated with cardiometabolic risk factors. *Cell Metab* (2014) 19:96–108. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2013.12.003
- Choi YH, Fletcher PJ, Wong CCS, Anderson GH. Measurement of bloodbrain barrier permeability of rats with alpha-aminoisobutyric acid during microdialysis: possible application to behavioral studies. *Physiol Behav* (1999) 67:587–98. doi:10.1016/S0031-9384(99)00110-9
- Benarroch EE. Basic Neurosciences with Clinical Applications. Butterworth: Heinemann/Elsevier (2006).
- Hijdra A, van Gijn J, Nagelkerke NJ, Vermeulen M, van Crevel H. Prediction of delayed cerebral ischemia, rebleeding, and outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (1988) 19(10):1250–6.
- 45. Zetterling M, Hillered L, Samuelsson C, Karlsson T, Enblad P, Ronne-Engström E. Temporal patterns of interstitial pyruvate and amino acids after subarachnoid haemorrhage are related to the level of consciousness—a

clinical microdialysis study. Acta Neurochir (2009) 151:771-80; discussion 780. doi:10.1007/s00701-009-0384-4

- Nakahara T, Tsuruta R, Kaneko T, Yamashita S, Fujita M, Kasaoka S, et al. High-mobility group box 1 protein in CSF of patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2009) 11:362–8. doi:10.1007/s12028-009-9276-y
- Pedrazzi M, Raiteri L, Bonanno G, Patrone M, Ledda S, Passalacqua M, et al. Stimulation of excitatory amino acid release from adult mouse brain glia subcellular particles by high mobility group box 1 protein. *J Neurochem* (2006) 99:827–38. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04120.x
- Kim J-B, Sig Choi J, Yu Y-M, Nam K, Piao C-S, Kim S-W, et al. HMGB1, a novel cytokine-like mediator linking acute neuronal death and delayed neuroinflammation in the postischemic brain. *J Neurosci* (2006) 26:6413–21. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3815-05.2006
- Sehba FA, Pluta RMR, Zhang JJH. Metamorphosis of subarachnoid hemorrhage research: from delayed vasospasm to early brain injury. *Mol Neurobiol* (2011) 43:27–40. doi:10.1007/s12035-010-8155-z
- Sarrafzadeh AS, Sakowitz OW, Kiening KL, Benndorf G, Lanksch WR, Unterberg AW. Bedside microdialysis: a tool to monitor cerebral metabolism in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients? *Crit Care Med* (2002) 30:1062–70. doi:10.1097/00003246-200205000-00018
- Guidetti P, Schwarcz R. Determination of α-aminoadipic acid in brain, peripheral tissues, and body fluids using GC/MS with negative chemical ionization. Mol Brain Res (2003) 118:132–9. doi:10.1016/j.molbrainres.2003.08.004
- Huck S, Grass F, Hatten ME. Gliotoxic effects of alpha-aminoadipic acid on monolayer cultures of dissociated postnatal mouse cerebellum. *Neuroscience* (1984) 12:783–91. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(84)90170-2
- Kato S, Ishita S, Sugawara K, Mawatari K. Cystine/glutamate antiporter expression in retinal Müller glial cells: implications for DL-alpha-aminoadipate toxicity. *Neuroscience* (1993) 57:473–82. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(93)90080-Y

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Sokół, Urbaniak, Wąsik, Plewa, Klupczyńska, Jankowski, Więckowska, Juszkat and Kokot. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Corrigendum: Amino Acids in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients With Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage: An Observational Study

Bartosz Sokół^{1*}, Bartosz Urbaniak², Norbert Wąsik¹, Szymon Plewa², Agnieszka Klupczyńska², Roman Jankowski¹, Barbara Więckowska³, Robert Juszkat⁴ and Zenon Kokot²

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: J. Marc Simard, University of Maryland, Baltimore, United States

*Correspondence:

Bartosz Sokół bartosz.sokol@ump.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> **Received:** 03 May 2018 **Accepted:** 22 May 2018 **Published:** 13 June 2018

Citation:

Sokół B, Urbaniak B, Wąsik N, Plewa S, Klupczyńska A, Jankowski R, Więckowska B, Juszkat R and Kokot Z (2018) Corrigendum: Amino Acids in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients With Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage: An Observational Study. Front. Neurol. 9:416. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00416 ¹ Department of Neurosurgery, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland, ² Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Inorganic and Analytical Chemistry, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland, ³ Department of Computer Science and Statistics, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland, ⁴ Department of General and Interventional Radiology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland

Keywords: subarachnoid haemorrhage, amino acids, early brain injury, delayed cerebral ischaemia, biomarkers

A corrigendum on

Amino Acids in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage: An Observational Study

by Sokół, B., Urbaniak, B., Wasik, N., Plewa, S., Klupczynska, A., Jankowski, R., et al. (2017). Front. Neurol. 8:438. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00438

In the original article, there were mistakes in Table 2, Table 3, Table 4, Figure 1, Figure 2, Figure 3 and Figure 4.

In all mentioned tables and figures, quantity of amino acids was described in mM instead of μ M. The corrected tables and figures appear below. The authors apologize for this error and state that this does not change the scientific conclusions of the article in any way.

The original article has been updated.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Sokół, Urbaniak, Wąsik, Plewa, Klupczyńska, Jankowski, Więckowska, Juszkat and Kokot. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. TABLE 2 | Differences in CSF amino acid level at day 0-3, 5, and 10 post-SAH in healthy individuals (control group) and SAH patients (study group).

Amino acid	Control group	Study group, day 0-3 post-SAH	Control group vs. Study group, day 0-3 post-SAH. <i>P</i> -value	Study group, day 5 post-SAH	Control group vs. Study group, day 5 post-SAH. <i>P</i> -value	Study group, day 10 post-SAH	Control group vs. Study group, day 10 post-SAH. <i>P</i> -value
O-phosphoethanolamine (μ M)	3.00	5.95	<0.01	5.15	<0.001	6.60	<0.001
Ethylamine (µM)	9.80	9.40	0.798	9.65	<0.001	11.10	0.292
Taurine (µM)	7.00	16.00	<0.001	14.30	<0.001	10.75	<0.01
Asparagine (µM)	5.70	10.35	0.01	19.50	<0.001	21.75	<0.001
Serine (µM)	24.20	55.70	<0.001	75.40	<0.001	83.75	<0.001
Glycine (µM)	8.90	38.75	<0.001	34.85	<0.001	35.20	<0.001
Hydroxyproline (µM)	0.60	1.00	0.164	1.35	0.658	1.35	0.289
Glutamine (µM)	407.60	520.65	<0.01	791.10	<0.001	796.30	<0.001
Aspartic acid (µM)	0.50	1.55	<0.001	0.80	0.175	0.95	0.054
Citruline (µM)	1.60	2.75	0.011	2.55	<0.01	3.30	<0.01
Threonine (µM)	24.80	29.05	0.079	56.10	<0.001	63.40	<0.001
Beta-Alanine (µM)	20.30	22.00	0.040	29.00	<0.01	27.30	<0.01
Alanine (µM)	35.00	88.05	<0.001	114.55	<0.001	122.55	<0.001
Glutamic acid (µM)	1.20	5.40	<0.001	3.00	<0.001	2.35	<0.01
Histidine (µM)	11.40	28.20	<0.001	43.35	<0.001	40.20	<0.001
3-Methylhistidine (µM)	0.50	1.00	<0.01	1.40	<0.001	1.05	<0.01
2-Aminoadipic acid (µM)	0.00	1.65	<0.001	2.10	<0.001	1.45	<0.001
Gamma-aminobutyric acid (µM)	0.40	0.50	0.699	0.30	0.012	0.20	0.051
3-Aminoisobutyric acid (µM)	0.50	0.30	0.668	0.30	0.563	0.35	0.806
2-Aminobutyric acid (µM)	3.20	6.20	<0.01	6.60	<0.001	7.30	<0.001
Arginine (µM)	15.70	19.25	0.062	26.60	<0.001	24.35	<0.01
Proline (µM)	0.80	11.80	<0.001	13.95	<0.001	16.15	<0.001
Ornithine (µM)	4.30	19.80	<0.001	17.95	<0.001	17.75	<0.001
Cystathionine (µM)	0.30	2.05	<0.001	1.05	<0.001	1.40	<0.001
Cysteine (µM)	0.40	2.05	<0.001	1.75	<0.001	1.65	<0.001
Lysine (µM)	22.50	53.80	<0.001	73.05	<0.001	72.40	<0.001
Methionine (µM)	3.10	6.20	<0.01	11.70	<0.001	13.65	<0.001
Valine (µM)	16.20	38.65	<0.01	66.20	<0.001	76.30	<0.001
Tyrosine (µM)	7.80	26.70	<0.001	36.20	<0.001	37.30	<0.001
Isoleucine (µM)	4.40	9.65	0.001	13.05	<0.001	15.05	<0.001
Leucine (µM)	11.40	29.20	<0.001	43.50	<0.001	56.80	<0.001
Phenylalanine (µM)	9.40	26.45	<0.001	43.25	<0.001	44.45	<0.001
Tryptophan (µM)	1.90	9.70	<0.001	13.60	<0.001	12.85	<0.001

Median levels of the amino acids are presented in the table. P-values were calculated either by Mann–Whitney or t-Student test. Amino acids increasing significantly during SAH (on day 0–3, 5, or 10) are shown in bold.

TABLE 3 | Differences in monitored parameters at day 0-3, 5, and 10 post-SAH in patients with good (GO-SAH) and poor (PO-SAH) treatment outcome.

Monitored parameter		Day 0–3 post	-SAH		Day 5 post-S	SAH	Day 10 post-SAH		
	GO-SAH	PO-SAH	GO-SAH vs. PO-SAH. <i>P</i> -value	GO-SAH	PO-SAH	GO-SAH vs. PO-SAH. <i>P</i> -value	GO-SAH	PO-SAH	GO-SAH vs. PO-SAH. <i>P</i> -value
C-reactive protein (mg/l)	125.00	130.00	0.715	50.70	115.80	0.020	22.40	109.70	0.139
White blood cell count (10 ⁶ /mm ³)	9.86	17.47	<0.001	10.57	15.03	0.044	9.66	16.84	0.445
Haemoglobin (g/dl)	12.10	13.10	0.212	11.30	10.90	0.262	10.60	11.50	0.672
Temperature (^O C)	37.00	37.00	0.736	37.40	37.20	0.273	36.90	35.70	0.512
Fibrinogen (mg/dl)	485.00	550.00	0.879	509.00	676.00	0.257	428.00	698.00	0.014
O- phosphoethanolamine (μΜ)	4.10	6.80	0.161	4.90	7.70	0.161	5.95	8.50	0.019
Taurine (µM)	13.10	19.40	0.038	14.60	13.40	0.514	12.20	7.35	0.138
Asparagine (µM)	9.00	11.50	0.256	30.20	12.50	0.397	22.90	20.45	0.423
Serine (µM)	45.10	76.50	0.161	77.00	61.40	0.947	79.50	94.75	0.503
Glycine (µM)	29.60	41.00	0.182	30.00	43.00	0.204	35.20	35.65	0.671
Hydroxyproline (µM)	0.70	1.30	0.066	1.70	0.80	0.518	1.35	1.10	0.793
Ethylaminev (μM)	5.80	15.80	0.102	7.90	12.10	0.134	8.85	14.50	0.35
Glutamine (μM)	489.90	602.50	0.182	837.30	505.10	0.585	852.50	715.60	0.483
Aspartic acid (µM)	0.80	2.20	0.038	0.40	1.00	0.071	0.95	1.30	0.551
Citruline (µM)	1.90	5.90	0.035	2.50	3.10	0.396	3.30	3.30	1
Threonine (µM)	25.90	50.00	0.35	86.30	34.20	0.327	63.40	57.95	0.298
Beta-Alanine (µM)	28.30	22.00	0.07	30.00	28.60	0.497	26.85	27.85	0.893
Alanine (µM)	70.70	138.10	0.109	115.50	113.60	0.447	120.30	141.70	0.954
Glutamic acid (μM)	(µM)3.40	9.30	0.038	2.70	5.80	0.024	2.00	17.10	0.269
Histidine (µM)	18.90	38.10	0.256	63.60	23.70	0.711	43.55	37.45	0.753
3-Methylhistidine (μM)	0.70	1.50	<0.01	1.80	1.20	0.958	1.35	1.05	0.733
2-Aminoadipic acid (μM)	1.30	1.70	0.076	1.50	4.10	0.071	1.30	2.45	0.033
Gamma- aminobutyric acid (μΜ)	0.30	0.90	0.043	0.30	0.30	0.932	0.35	0.15	0.266
3-Aminoisobutyric acid (μM)	0.20	0.40	0.066	0.30	0.30	0.958	0.35	0.45	0.93
2-Aminobutyric acid	4.60	8.20	0.088	11.40	5.50	0.542	10.75	6.50	0.124
Arginine (µM)	18.50	22.30	0.182	30.90	26.00	0.525	24.35	20.45	0.21
Proline (µM)	4.50	14.80	0.204	18.70	10.90	0.672	16.15	18.40	0.759
Ornithine (µM)	7.60	27.50	0.033	17.30	28.30	0.09	17.35	33.05	0.552
Cystathionine (μ M)	0.80	2.80	<0.01	1.00	1.80	0.089	1.30	1.50	0.199
Cysteine (µM)	1.60	2.30	0.141	1.50	2.20	0.243	1.95	1.40	0.329
Lysine (µM)	43.00	74.50	0.095	87.10	55.90	0.341	72.40	72.60	0.612
Methionine (µM)	4.60	12.30	0.204	16.20	7.70	0.491	13.65	13.70	0.687
Valine (µM)	31.80	62.40	0.109	102.50	33.60	0.397	87.75	72.20	0.377
Tyrosine (µM)	23.00	32.50	0.083	36.60	35.80	0.876	38.60	37.30	0.676
lsoleucine (µM)	6.00	13.00	0.045	17.60	11.80	0.597	15.05	13.70	0.45
Leucine (µM)	22.90	39.70	0.109	80.30	29.80	0.397	60.95	50.55	0.532
Phenylalanine (μ M)	21.20	38.80	0.062	51.30	32.40	0.665	45.40	44.45	0.913
Tryptophan (μM)	8.00	12.20	0.066	13.60	13.60	0.606	12.60	13.55	0.804

Median levels of the amino acids are presented in the table. P-values were calculated either by Mann–Whitney or t-Student test. Significant differences are shown in bold.

TABLE 4 | Amino acid level changes in time in good outcome SAH patients with (GO-SAH).

Parameter	Day 0–3 post-SAH	Day 5 post-SAH	Day 10 post-SAH	Omnibus test <i>P</i> -value	Day 0–3 vs. Day 5 <i>P</i> -value Post-hoc	Day 0–3 vs. Day 10 <i>P</i> -value <i>Post-hoc</i>	Day 5 vs. Day 10 <i>P</i> -value <i>Post-hoc</i>
C-reactive protein (mg/l)	125.00	50.70	27.00	0.049	0.345	0.012	0.073
White blood cell count (10 ⁶ /mm ³)	9.86	10.57	9.34	0.631			
Haemoglobin (g/dl)	12.10	10.60	10.50	0.066			
Temperature (^O C)	37.00	37.30	36.90	0.382			
Fibrinogen (mg/dl)	485.00	442.00	423.00	0.327			
O-phosphoethanolamine (μ M)	6.20	5.00	5.80	0.325			
Taurine (µM)	13.90	14.60	10.80	0.867			
Asparagine (μM)	8.40	18.30	21.20	0.180			
Serine (µM)	45.10	73.80	76.10	0.031	0.039	0.013	0.566
Glycine (µM)	29.60	32.60	42.50	0.565			
Hydroxyproline (µM)	0.70	1.10	1.40	0.094			
Ethylaminev (µM)	5.70	10.10	9.80	0.039	0.078	<0.01	0.187
Glutamine (µM)	454.30	818.70	828.30	0.001	<0.01	<0.001	0.565
Aspartic acid (µM)	0.70	0.40	1.20	0.215			
Citruline (µM)	1.90	2.40	2.80	0.069			
Threonine (µM)	22.90	52.50	61.20	0.012	0.128	<0.01	<0.01
Beta-Alanine (µM)	28.30	26.80	26.70	0.553			
Alanine (µM)	70.70	106.20	120.30	0.124			
Glutamic acid (µM)	4.50	2.70	2.10	0.898			
Histidine (µM)	16.80	38.10	37.40	0.156			
3-Methylhistidine (µM)	0.60	1.50	0.90	0.369			
2-Aminoadipic acid (μM)	1.30	1.50	1.30	0.129			
Gamma-aminobutyric acid (μ M)	0.30	0.20	0.50	0.633			
3-Aminoisobutyric acid (µM)	0.20	0.30	0.30	0.215			
2-Aminobutyric acid (µM)	4.60	11.40	11.40	0.010	0.019	<0.01	0.427
Arginine (µM)	18.50	26.50	24.10	0.050	0.073	0.012	0.345
Proline (µM)	3.40	11.90	15.20	0.062			
Ornithine (µM)	7.60	17.30	14.30	0.368			
Cystathionine (µM)	1.00	1.00	1.20	0.648			
Cysteine (µM)	1.60	1.70	2.10	0.368			
Lysine (µM)	43.00	83.20	70.80	0.017	0.017	<0.01	0.735
Methionine (µM)	4.60	10.00	11.90	0.008	0.029	<0.01	0.200
Valine (µM)	28.20	61.60	78.10	0.015	0.017	<0.01	0.683
Tyrosine (µM)	23.00	35.10	28.50	0.020	0.023	<0.01	0.647
Isoleucine (µM)	5.90	11.10	13.60	0.024	0.081	<0.01	0.219
Leucine (µM)	22.60	39.70	60.50	0.024	0.022	0.013	0.801
Phenylalanine (µM)	20.90	35.20	37.50	0.038	0.040	0.018	0.700
Tryptophan (μM)	8.00	11.80	11.10	0.072			

Median levels of the amino acids are presented in the table. Omnibus statistical test (Friedman or repeated measures ANOVA) revealed significant changes in concentration of 13 amino acids (shown in bold). Next, post-hoc analysis (Conover–Iman for Friedman test and Fisher for repeated measures ANOVA) was run for those 13 amino acids to specify between what time points (day 0–3, 5, or 10 post-SAH) the differences in concentration were significant (shown in bold).



FIGURE 1 | Significant differences in monitored parameters on day 0–3 post-SAH between patients with good (GO-SAH) and poor (PO-SAH) treatment outcome. Mann–Whitney test revealed significantly higher levels of: (A) taurine (p = 0.038), (B) aspartic acid (p = 0.038), (C) citruline (p = 0.035), (D) glutamic acid (p = 0.038), (E) 3-methylhistidine (p < 0.01), (F) gamma-aminobutyric acid (p = 0.043), (G) ornithine (p = 0.033), (H) cystathionine (p < 0.01), (I) isoleucine (p = 0.045) in patients with poor outcome. *T*-Student test revealed significantly higher level of white blood cell count (p < 0.01) in patients with poor outcome (J). In all cases median levels and the 25th and 75th percentile are presented.



FIGURE 2 | Significant differences in monitored parameters on day 5 post-SAH between patients with good (GO-SAH) and poor (PO-SAH) treatment outcome. (A) T-Student test revealed significantly higher levels of glutamic acid (p = 0.041) in patients with poor outcome. Mann–Whitney test revealed significantly higher C-reactive protein level (p = 0.020) (B) and white blood cell count (p = 0.044) (C) in patients with poor outcome. In all cases median levels and the 25th and 75th percentile are presented.


FIGURE 3 | Significant differences in monitored parameters on day 10 post-SAH between patients with good (GO-SAH) and poor (PO-SAH) treatment outcome. Mann–Whitney test revealed significantly higher 2-aminoadipic acid (p = 0.033) (**A**) and fibrinogen (p = 0.014) (**B**) levels in patients with poor outcome. Median levels and the 25th and 75th percentile are presented.



FIGURE 4 | Scatter charts showing the correlation between treatment outcome (measured by Glasgow outcome scale at 3 months) and other parameters. Spearman's test revealed significant correlations (cc > 0.6 or cc < -0.6) for: **(A)** 2-aminoadipic acid on day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.81), **(B,C)** cystathionine on day 5 post-SAH (cc = -0.72) and day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.67), **(D)** 3-methylhistidine on day 0–3 post-SAH (cc = -0.64), **(E)** o-phosphoethanolamine on day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.62), **(F)** World Federation of Neurosurgical Societies scale (cc = -0.64), **(G)** Hunt and Hess scale (cc = -0.61), **(H)** Glasgow coma scale (cc = 0.72), **(I,J)** C-reactive protein on day 5 post-SAH (cc = -0.64) and day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.79), **(K)** Fibrinogen on day 10 post-SAH (cc = -0.97). *P*-values are <0.05 in all cases.





Xenon Reduces Neuronal Hippocampal Damage and Alters the Pattern of Microglial Activation after Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Randomized Controlled Animal Trial

Michael Veldeman^{1,2*}, Mark Coburn², Rolf Rossaint², Hans Clusmann¹, Kay Nolte³, Benedikt Kremer¹ and Anke Höllig¹

¹ Department of Neurosurgery, RWTH Aachen University Hospital, Aachen, Germany, ²Department of Anesthesiology, RWTH Aachen University Hospital, Aachen, Germany, ³Department of Neuropathology, RWTH Aachen University

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hospital, Aachen, Germany

J. Marc Simard, University of Maryland, Baltimore, United States

Reviewed by:

Benjamin Aaron Emanuel, Keck School of Medicine of USC, United States Christoph Stretz, Yale School of Medicine, United States

*Correspondence: Michael Veldeman

mveldeman@ukaachen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 20 July 2017 Accepted: 13 September 2017 Published: 27 September 2017

Citation:

Veldeman M, Coburn M, Rossaint R, Clusmann H, Nolte K, Kremer B and Höllig A (2017) Xenon Reduces Neuronal Hippocampal Damage and Alters the Pattern of Microglial Activation after Experimental Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Randomized Controlled Animal Trial. Front. Neurol. 8:511. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00511 **Objective:** The neuroprotective properties of the noble gas xenon have already been demonstrated using a variety of injury models. Here, we examine for the first time xenon's possible effect in attenuating early brain injury (EBI) and its influence on posthemorrhagic microglial neuroinflammation in an *in vivo* rat model of subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH).

Methods: Sprague-Dawley rats (n = 22) were randomly assigned to receive either Sham surgery (n = 9; divided into two groups) or SAH induction *via* endovascular perforation (n = 13, divided into two groups). Of those randomized for SAH, 7 animals were post-operatively ventilated with 50 vol% oxygen/50 vol% xenon for 1 h and 6 received 50 vol% oxygen/50 vol% nitrogen (control). The animals were sacrificed 24 h after SAH. Of each animal, a cerebral coronal section (-3.60 mm from bregma) was selected for assessment of histological damage 24 h after SAH. A 5-point neurohistopathological severity score was applied to assess neuronal cell damage in H&E and NeuN stained sections in a total of four predefined anatomical regions of interest. Microglial activation was evaluated by a software-assisted cell count of Iba-1 stained slices in three cortical regions of interest.

Results: A diffuse cellular damage was apparent in all regions of the ipsilateral hippocampus 24 h after SAH. Xenon-treated animals presented with a milder damage after SAH. This effect was found to be particularly pronounced in the medial regions of the hippocampus, CA3 (p = 0.040), and dentate gyrus (DG p = 0.040). However, for the CA1 and CA2 regions, there were no statistical differences in neuronal damage according to our histological scoring. A cell count of activated microglia was lower in the cortex of xenon-treated animals. This difference was especially apparent in the left piriform cortex (p = 0.017).

Abbreviations: SAH, subarachnoid hemorrhage; ICP, intracranial pressure; rCBF, regional cerebral blood flow; ROI, region of interest; ICA, internal carotid artery; HPF, high power field.

Conclusion: In animals treated with 50 vol% xenon (for 1 h) after SAH, a less pronounced neuronal damage was observed for the ipsilateral hippocampal regions CA3 and DG, when compared to the control group. In xenon-treated animals, a lower microglial cell count was observed suggesting an immunomodulatory effect generated by xenon. As for now, these results cannot be generalized as only some hippocampal regions are affected. Future studies should assess the time and localization dependency of xenon's beneficial properties after SAH.

Keywords: subarachnoid hemorrhage, early brain injury, animal model, xenon, neuroprotection

INTRODUCTION

Background

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is a subtype of stroke occurring at a relative young age causing either death or disability in many patients (1). Few people recover without impairments (2). The annual incidence is estimated to be about 9.1 patients per 100,000 (3). In around 85% of spontaneous SAHs, the underlying cause is the rupture of a cerebral aneurysm (4). The resulting increase in intracranial pressure (ICP), disruption of the blood-brain barrier and global ischemia contribute to early brain injury (EBI) (5). These injuries within the first 72 h of the initial ictus account for the later development of vasospasm and delayed cerebral ischemia (6). There is a substantial interest in EBI and in ways to reduce initial cerebral damage and thus indirectly attenuate secondary injuries.

The neuroprotective effect of the noble gas xenon has been well established in animal experiments for focal and global cerebral ischemia (7-11). Xenon has a proven additive neuroprotective effect to hypothermia in models of neonatal asphyxia (12-14). So far, xenon treatment has not been examined in the context of SAH. Multiple animal models of SAH have been established. The two most commonly used are the cisternal injection model and the endovascular perforation model (15). We opted for the latter as it better mimics the pathophysiology of an aneurysm rupture, and it is probably more suitable to investigate EBI (16). In this trial, the neuroprotective properties of the noble gas xenon were examined in the early phase after SAH using an endovascular perforation rat model. Despite its cost, xenon has demonstrated minimal side effects in extensive anesthesia studies, making it an interesting future treatment in human trials aiming for neuroprotection (17–21). Furthermore, xenon has already been approved in Europe for use as a general anesthetic.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

We performed a randomized four group controlled animal trial examining the neuroprotective effects of xenon inhalation (50 vol% for 1 h) with treatment initiation 1 h after SAH induction.

Ethical Statement

The study protocol was approved by the government agency for animal use and protection (Protocol number: TVA 10416G1

approved by "Landesamt für Natur, Umwelt und Verbraucherschutz NRW," Recklinghausen, Germany), all experiments were conducted in accordance with the Guide for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (National Research Council, and the Committee for the Update of the Guide for the Care and Use of laboratory Animals; 8th edition 2011).

Animals

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (body weight 300–400 g, Charles River, Sulzfeld, Germany) were housed for at least 1 week before surgery with free access to food in a specific pathogen-free environment maintaining a 12-h light/dark cycle. Prior to anesthesia induction, animals were randomly assigned to one of the following four groups by lot drawing: Sham N₂ (Sham surgery after 1 h delay followed by ventilation with 50 vol% $O_2/50$ vol% N₂ for 1 h), Sham Xe (Sham surgery after 1 h delay followed by ventilation with 50 vol% $O_2/50$ vol% N₂ for 1 h), and SAH Xe (SAH induction after 1 h delay followed by ventilation with 50 vol% $O_2/50$ vol% N₂ for 1 h), and SAH Xe (SAH induction after 1 h delay followed by ventilation with 50 vol% $O_2/50$ vol% Xe for 1 h) (see **Figure 1**).

Experimental Procedure

Anesthesia was induced by intraperitoneal injection of a mixture of midazolam (2 mg/kg), medetomidine (0.15 mg/kg), and



FIGURE 1 | Flow chart of included animals. Animals were randomized by lot drawing in one of four groups. Sham N₂ (Sham surgery after 1 h delay followed by ventilation with 50 vol% O₂/50 vol% N₂ for 1 h), Sham Xe (Sham surgery after 1 h delay followed by ventilation with 50 vol% O₂/50 vol% Xe for 1 h), SAH N₂ (SAH induction after 1 h delay followed by ventilation with 50 vol% O₂/50 vol% N₂ for 1 h), and SAH Xe (SAH induction after 1 h delay followed by ventilation with 50 vol% O₂/50 vol% Xe for 1 h).

fentanyl (0.0075 mg/kg) (22, 23). A quarter of the initial dosage was injected in 30-45 min intervals to maintain anesthesia. Postoperative analgesia was started directly after surgery via intramuscular injection of metamizole (20 mg/kg) and continued until euthanasia (24 h after SAH induction). Animals were intubated using an 18 gauge i.v. cannula. Blood pressure was monitored by cannulation of the tail artery, electrolytes, and blood gases were monitored by repeated arterial blood gas analysis and body temperature was maintained at 37°C via a heating pad (Physitemp Instruments, Inc., Clifton, NJ, USA). After anesthesia induction, two laser Doppler flowmetry probes were fixated in proximity of the bregma to measure regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF), as previously described (Moor Instruments, Axminster, Devon, UK) (23). A left side parietal ICP probe was inserted for continuous ICP monitoring (Microsensor/Codman ICP Express Monitor, Codman/De Puy, Raynham, MA, USA). Baseline recordings of blood pressure, bilateral rCBF, heart rate, and ICP were done prior to surgery, during intervention, and 90 min thereafter (PowerLab, ADInstruments, Spechbach, Germany). SAH was induced by the polypropylene monofilament perforation technique initially described by Bederson et al. and modified by Veelken et al. (24, 25). The procedure was performed as previously described (26). After exposing the left common carotid artery, the left internal carotid artery (ICA) was identified and a 3-0 polypropylene suture with a diameter ranging from 200 to 250 µm (Prolene suture, Ethicon Inc., Somerville, NJ, USA) was advanced intravascularly. Perforation of the vessel and subsequent SAH was verified by a sudden increase in ICP and a bilateral decrease in rCBF. Sham-operated animals underwent the same anesthesia and surgical procedure, but the monofilament was advanced into the ICA without perforation of the vessel.

One hour after SAH induction or Sham surgery, the animals were ventilated for 1 h with either a mixture of 50 vol% $O_2/50$ vol% xenon (Air Liquide, Paris, France) or 50 vol% $O_2/50$ vol% N_2 (control group). After treatment, anesthesia was stopped and animals were allowed to recover spontaneously. Analgesic treatment with metamizole (20 mg/kg intramuscular application every 8 h) was carried on until euthanasia (24 h after SAH induction). Euthanasia was performed 24 h after SAH induction by exsanguination under deep anesthesia followed by decapitation. Brains were harvested and cut into 2 mm coronal slices, fixated in paraformaldehyde, and embedded in paraffin.

Histology/Immunohistochemistry

Sections of 2 µm thickness were cut from the paraffin-embedded brain slices and placed on silane-coated slides. Of every animal, the same section 3.60 mm posterior to the bregma was searched based on anatomical landmarks. After deparaffinization, a section was routinely hematoxylin/eosin (H&E) stained. Two consecutive sections were de-waxed, rehydrated, and heated in citrate buffer for antigen retrieval. After blocking of nonspecific binding by incubation in PBS containing 2% normal goat serum, one slide per animal was incubated for 1 h with anti-NeuN (Millipore, MA, USA) as primary antibody diluted in blocking solution and one slide with anti-Iba-1. Appropriate biotinylated secondary antibodies were used (1:200, Vector Laboratories Ltd., Peterborough, UK) for 15 min, followed by DAB visualization (DAKO, Carpinteria, CA, USA). Appropriate negative controls without the primary antibodies were performed.

Neuronal Cell Damage

Neuronal cell damage was measured and quantified in four regions of the left hippocampus, in H&E and NeuN-stained section: CA1, CA2, CA3, and dentate gyrus (DG). A single high power field (HPF) was focused on the center of each of these four region of interest (ROI) and the image was photographed with an Axioplan microscope (ZEISS, Germany). An absolute neuronal cell count as well as a cell count of all ischemic damaged neurons was done using ImageJ/Fiji v 1.50 (ImageJ Software downloaded at https://imagej.nih.gov/ij). See Figure 2. Neuronal cell damage was cytomorphologically defined as a combination of hypereosinophilia, shrunken cytoplasm, and pyknotic nuclei. This counting process was done twice by a single investigator blinded to treatment allocation on two different time-points and results were compared for incongruence. In case of incongruence or doubt, the consecutive NeuN stained slices was consulted and the process was repeated. The ratio of damaged neurons too the complete neuronal cell count was graded into five categories (1 = 0-20%, 2 = 20-40%), 3 = 40-60%, 4 = 60-80%, and 5 = 80-100%). See Figure 3. The results of this scale for each ROI in the left hemisphere were then summed to yield an overall neurohistopathological severity score per animal.

Microglial Activation

An absolute microglial cell count was performed in a similar fashion in the Iba-1 (ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1) stained sections. Three cortical regions of interest per animal were photographed. The absolute number of activated Iba-1-positive cells was software-assisted counted out in the







FIGURE 3 | Histopathological severity score. Neuronal cell damage was evaluated in H&E and NeuN staining. Damaged neurons, characterized by hypereosinophilia, shrunken cytoplasm, and pyknotic nuclei, were software assisted counted and expressed as a ration to the total cell count per region. The resulting percentage was converted into grade 1 to grade 5.



lateral primary somatosensory cortex (Pta), postero-lateral cortex (PLCo1), and the piriform cortex (Pir1) of both hemispheres. **Figure 2** offers an overview of the selected regions of interest.

Experimental Outcomes

The primary outcome was left side histopathological hippocampal damage as measured by our neurohistopathological severity score. The secondary outcome was microglial activation. In the initial trial design, a 24-h clinical evaluation using an 18- and 28-point scoring system was included. After the negative results in a similar study with argon, where we observed no difference in neurologic function in the acute phase (26), no short-term neurological evaluation was done in this trial.

Statistical Methods

To estimate sample size data from previous experiments using argon as a neuroprotective agent were extrapolated (26). Using these data, an effect size of 0.62 was calculated (alpha: 0.1; beta: 0.8). As xenon is known to be more potent, we estimated an effect size of 0.7 (alpha: 0.1; beta: 0.8) resulting in a sample size of n = 6 (G*Power 3.9.1.2 downloaded at http://www.gpower. hhu.de/).

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS v 23.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). All graphics were plotted using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). A *p*-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. After normality testing (Kolmogorov–Smirnov test), an unpaired *t*-test was used to analyze normally distributed numeric variables. Group comparisons were performed using

one-way or two-way ANOVA testing followed by the appropriate *post hoc* test. All data are presented as means \pm SD unless stated otherwise.

RESULTS

Baseline Data

The course of ICP and left side rCBF is illustrated in **Figure 4**. The SAH Xe group reached an overall higher peak in ICP increase after SAH induction compared to the control group. However, this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.064). The initial decrease in rCBF after SAH induction did not differ significantly between the xenon and control group (p = 0.1964).

Neuronal Cell Damage in H&E and NeuN-Stained Sections

Routine hematoxylin and eosin staining was used to cytomorphologically quantify ischemic damage. Apoptotic neurons were clearly demarcated in the cell layers of all four assessed hippocampal regions. To compare treatment groups, the four scores (0-5) for each hippocampus were summed up to obtain a single score per animal between 0 and 20. Sham animals presented with mild baseline cell damage in all four hippocampal regions. The Sham N2 group had a summedup score of 4.5 \pm 1.83. The Sham Xe group presented with a summed-up score of 10 ± 4.05 . The SAH N₂ group had a summed-up score of 16 ± 2.52 , and the SAH Xe group showed a summed-up score of 12.71 ± 4.13 . These data are presented in Figure 5. The xenon-treated SAH group scored a lower summed-up score compared to the SAH N₂ group, suggesting a protective effect of xenon after SAH. These differences proved, however, not to be statistically significant (p = 0.287). There was a significant difference between the Sham N₂ and SAH N₂ groups (p = 0.0001) illustrating the overall damage caused by the induced SAH. For the summed-up scoring, there was no significant difference between the Sham Xe and SAH Xe groups (p = 0.326). Once comparing individual hippocampal regions, it became apparent that the more medial located CA3 and DG regions were generally more intensely damaged compared to the more lateral located CA1 and CA2 regions. In those regions with more pronounced damaged the inter-group differences



region, a single score per animal between 0 and 20 was yielded. The summed-up scores were 4.5 ± 1.83 (Sham N₂), 10 ± 4.05 (Sham Xe), 16 ± 2.52 (SAH N₂), and 12.71 ± 4.13 (SAH Xe) group. There was no difference between the SAH N₂ and SAH Xe groups. There was a significant difference between the SAH N₂ and SAH N₂ groups, *p = 0.0001. There was no significant difference between Sham Xe and SAH N₂ groups, *p = 0.4280. (C) In the CA3 regions, a significant difference group-score was seen, 4.5 ± 0.76 (SAH N₂) vs. 2.71 ± 1.58 (SAH Xe) group, #p = 0.040. (D) The difference was also statistically significant in the DG regions 4.24 ± 1.38 vs. 3.09 ± 1.28 , ##p = 0.040.



increased. Comparing the CA1 region of the SAH N₂ group and the SAH Xe group, the mean histopathological severity score was 3.33 ± 1.70 vs. 3.0 ± 1.60 (p = 0.428). Whereas comparing the CA3 regions in the SAH N₂ group, a mean score was yielded of 4.5 ± 0.76 vs. 2.71 ± 1.58 in the SAH Xe group (p = 0.040). The difference between the SAH N₂ and SAH Xe group also became statistically significant in the DG regions 4.24 ± 1.38 vs. 3.09 ± 1.28 (p = 0.040).

Microglial Activation in Iba-1 Stained Sections

In the brain, ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1 (Iba-1) is specifically expressed in microglia and, therefore, can be used as a robust biomarker for these cell types. Activated microglial cells are morphologically characterized by cellular branches and are easily identified using confocal microscopy. We determined the presence of activated microglia within three cortical regions for each hemisphere. Two regions are located at the base of the brain, close to the source of the induced hemorrhage (PLCo1 and Pir1). One region was chosen more distal to the bleeding source in the cranial parietal cortex (Pta). Iba-1-positive cells were software-assisted quantified in a HPF, focusing on the center of

each ROI. In comparison to Sham-operated rats, SAH animals showed a clear increase in Iba-1-positive cells in all three cortical regions, reflecting the early inflammatory response after SAH. Once the absolute cell count of all three regions was summed up per animal, it became apparent that xenon-treated animals showed a lower overall microglial cell count compared to the control groups. See Figure 6. Also in all SAH animals, those regions closer to the initial bleeding source (left side Pir1 and PLCo1) showed a higher number of activated microglia reflecting the spatial distribution of severity of neuronal damage around the area of primary hit. This effect has been previously described in a rat SAH perforation model (27). In those regions of greater damage and microglial activation, the number of microglial cells was lower in the xenon-treated animals. This difference was statistically significant in the left side pir1 L where an average of 8 \pm 1.16 microglial cells were counted per HPF in the control group vs. 4 ± 1.07 cells in the xenon group, p = 0.017.

DISCUSSION

We investigated the effects of xenon to attenuate EBI in a rat SAH model. Although a xenon-mediated protective effect was seen

in all hippocampal regions, the protective effect of xenon was enhanced in the CA3 and DG regions. Second, we have shown a reduction in cortical microglial activity in xenon-treated animals. An intraparenchymal accumulation of microglia cells was more pronounced in regions closer to the site of vessel perforation. This effect has been previously demonstrated in animal as well as human tissue samples (28). In this trial by Schneider et al., a centrifugal spreading of microglia accumulation developed over time, from the base of the cortex of both hemispheres, resembling a wave of intracerebral immune cell activation. Similarly, we saw a gradual decrease of microglial activation in regions farther away from the site of primary hit. In the base of the left hemisphere, the regions with the highest accumulation of inflammatory cells, the immunomodulatory effect of xenon was the largest. Microglia plays a major role in the proinflammatory cytotoxic response and participates in the immunosuppressive processes contributing to further tissue damage (29). We postulate a possible immunomodulatory mechanism of xenon reducing microglial activation and contributing to a decrease in neuronal cell damage.

Although not significant (p = 0.168), it is unclear why the Sham Xe group presented a higher summed-up score and thus more hippocampal damage, compared to the Sham N₂ group. It could be that Xenon has no effect on the background damage occurring in our Sham animals indicating that the neuroprotective effect of Xenon cannot be generalized.

We have previously demonstrated a reduction in mortality after argon post-conditioning in a SAH animal model (26). Here, we present for the first time the beneficial effect of xenon treatment after experimental SAH with a reduction of hippocampal neuronal cell loss and a decrease in cortical microglial cell activity. Until now, the neuroprotective effects of xenon have been accredited to the inhibition of the NMDA receptor (30–32). *In vitro* research has shown that NMDA receptor stimulation triggers microglia activation and the secretion of neurotoxic factors (33). This could very well explain the immunomodulatory mechanism observed in our xenon-treated animals. Xenon may be a potential clinical treatment for EBI under carefully defined conditions. By attenuation of the complex inflammatory mechanisms, some of the devastating secondary injuries may be prevented and outcome in SAH patients could be improved.

Limitations

The primary weakness of our trial was the limited number of included animals. We estimated that a higher number of included animals could demonstrate a more pronounced therapeutic effect. Second, per ROI, only a single HPF was evaluated for calculation of neuronal cell loss (in H&E and NeuN Staining) and for the evaluation of microglial activation in Iba-1 staining. In the initial trial design, neuronal cell loss was manually counted in the entire hippocampus. As the trial continued, we observed a good congruence between these results and the estimated

REFERENCES

 van den Bergh WM, Dijkhuizen RM, Rinkel GJ. Potentials of magnesium treatment in subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Magnes Res* (2004) 17(4): 301–13. damage using only a single HPF. Additionally, to estimate neuronal cell loss, we only looked at the right hippocampus. This was done because the insertion of the ICP probe on the left side caused additional damage to the left hemisphere introducing potential bias. ROIs in the left hemisphere were included for the assessment of microglial activation since they were located at the base of the brain, farther away from the regions of iatrogenic damage.

Until now, we did not examine whether the xenon-mediated reduction in Iba-1-positive cells coincided with a reduction in cortical damage. Because of its higher cell count, estimating cortical damage is more time consuming but could be the focus of future research projects. Additionally, it is worth mentioning that Iba-1 is not a specific marker for microglia and unspecific binding of the antibody could have compromised our results.

CONCLUSION

This is the first time that a neuroprotective effect of xenon has been shown. The effect is potentially mediated by an inhibitory effect on microglial activation. Further animal research should focus on long-term clinical outcome post Xenon ventilation in a SAH model.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study protocol was approved by the government agency for animal use and protection (Protocol number: TVA 10416G1 approved by "Landesamt für Natur, Umwelt und Verbraucherschutz NRW," Recklinghausen, Germany), all experiments were conducted in accordance with the Guide for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (National Research Council, and the Committee for the Update of the Guide for the Care and Use of laboratory Animals; 8th edition 2011).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Animal experiments: AH. Data analysis: MV and AH. Manuscript drafting: MV. Manuscripts revision and editing: MV, MC, RR, HC, BK, and AH. Final approval of the manuscript: MV, MC, RR, HC, BK, and AH.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We like to thank Rosmarie Blaumeiser-Debarry and Birgit Nellessen for their support and technical assistance.

FUNDING

This trial was funded by the Start Program, RWTH Aachen. The funders had no role concerning study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

- Rinkel GJ, Algra A. Long-term outcomes of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Lancet Neurol* (2011) 10(4):349–56. doi:10.1016/ S1474-4422(11)70017-5
- de Rooij NK, Linn FH, van der Plas JA, Algra A, Rinkel GJ. Incidence of subarachnoid haemorrhage: a systematic review with emphasis on region,

age, gender and time trends. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2007) 78(12): 1365-72. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2007.117655

- Macdonald RL, Schweizer TA. Spontaneous subarachnoid haemorrhage. Lancet (2017) 389(10069):655–66. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30668-7
- Fujii M, Yan J, Rolland WB, Soejima Y, Caner B, Zhang JH. Early brain injury, an evolving frontier in subarachnoid hemorrhage research. *Transl Stroke Res* (2013) 4(4):432–46. doi:10.1007/s12975-013-0257-2
- Veldeman M, Hollig A, Clusmann H, Stevanovic A, Rossaint R, Coburn M. Delayed cerebral ischaemia prevention and treatment after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a systematic review. Br J Anaesth (2016) 117(1):17–40. doi:10.1093/bja/aew095
- Fries M, Brucken A, Cizen A, Westerkamp M, Lower C, Deike-Glindemann J, et al. Combining xenon and mild therapeutic hypothermia preserves neurological function after prolonged cardiac arrest in pigs. *Crit Care Med* (2012) 40(4):1297–303. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e31823c8ce7
- Fries M, Nolte KW, Coburn M, Rex S, Timper A, Kottmann K, et al. Xenon reduces neurohistopathological damage and improves the early neurological deficit after cardiac arrest in pigs. *Crit Care Med* (2008) 36(8): 2420–6. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181802874
- Sheng SP, Lei B, James ML, Lascola CD, Venkatraman TN, Jung JY, et al. Xenon neuroprotection in experimental stroke: interactions with hypothermia and intracerebral hemorrhage. *Anesthesiology* (2012) 117(6): 1262–75. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e3182746b81
- Limatola V, Ward P, Cattano D, Gu J, Giunta F, Maze M, et al. Xenon preconditioning confers neuroprotection regardless of gender in a mouse model of transient middle cerebral artery occlusion. *Neuroscience* (2010) 165(3):874–81. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.10.063
- Homi HM, Yokoo N, Ma D, Warner DS, Franks NP, Maze M, et al. The neuroprotective effect of xenon administration during transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in mice. *Anesthesiology* (2003) 99(4):876–81. doi:10.1097/0000542-200310000-00020
- Chakkarapani E, Dingley J, Liu X, Hoque N, Aquilina K, Porter H, et al.Xenon enhances hypothermic neuroprotection in asphyxiated new born pigs. *Ann Neurol* (2010) 68(3):330–41. doi:10.1002/ana.22016
- Hobbs C, Thoresen M, Tucker A, Aquilina K, Chakkarapani E, Dingley J. Xenon and hypothermia combine additively, offering long-term functional and histopathologic neuroprotection after neonatal hypoxia/ ischemia. *Stroke* (2008) 39(4):1307–13. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.107. 499822
- Martin JL, Ma D, Hossain M, Xu J, Sanders RD, Franks NP, et al. Asynchronous administration of xenon and hypothermia significantly reduces brain infarction in the neonatal rat. *Br J Anaesth* (2007) 98(2):236–40. doi:10.1093/bja/ael340
- Schuller K, Buhler D, Plesnila N. A murine model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Vis Exp (2013) 81:e50845. doi:10.3791/50845
- Lee JY, Sagher O, Keep R, Hua Y, Xi G. Comparison of experimental rat models of early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* (2009) 65(2):331–43; discussion 43. doi:10.1227/01.NEU.0000345649. 78556.26
- Coburn M, Kunitz O, Baumert JH, Hecker K, Haaf S, Zuhlsdorff A, et al. Randomized controlled trial of the haemodynamic and recovery effects of xenon or propofol anaesthesia. *Br J Anaesth* (2005) 94(2):198–202. doi:10.1093/bja/aei023
- Coburn M, Baumert JH, Roertgen D, Thiel V, Fries M, Hein M, et al. Emergence and early cognitive function in the elderly after xenon or desflurane anaesthesia: a double-blinded randomized controlled trial. *Br J Anaesth* (2007) 98(6):756–62. doi:10.1093/bja/aem103
- Schaefer W, Meyer PT, Rossaint R, Baumert JH, Coburn M, Fries M, et al. Myocardial blood flow during general anesthesia with xenon in humans: a positron emission tomography study. *Anesthesiology* (2011) 114(6): 1373–9. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e3182137d9c
- Stoppe C, Fahlenkamp AV, Rex S, Veeck NC, Gozdowsky SC, Schalte G, et al. Feasibility and safety of xenon compared with sevoflurane anaesthesia in coronary surgical patients: a randomized controlled pilot study. *Br J Anaesth* (2013) 111(3):406–16. doi:10.1093/bja/aet072

- Al Tmimi L, Van Hemelrijck J, Van de Velde M, Sergeant P, Meyns B, Missant C, et al. Xenon anaesthesia for patients undergoing off-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a prospective randomized controlled pilot trial. *Br J Anaesth* (2015) 115(4):550–9. doi:10.1093/bja/aev303
- 22. Hockel K, Trabold R, Scholler K, Torok E, Plesnila N. Impact of anesthesia on pathophysiology and mortality following subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. *Exp Transl Stroke Med* (2012) 4(1):5. doi:10.1186/2040-7378-4-5
- Ryang YM, Fahlenkamp AV, Rossaint R, Wesp D, Loetscher PD, Beyer C, et al. Neuroprotective effects of argon in an in vivo model of transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. *Crit Care Med* (2011) 39(6):1448–53. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e31821209be
- Bederson JB, Germano IM, Guarino L. Cortical blood flow and cerebral perfusion pressure in a new noncraniotomy model of subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rat. *Stroke* (1995) 26(6):1086–91; discussion 91–2. doi:10.1161/ 01.STR.26.6.1086
- Veelken JA, Laing RJ, Jakubowski J. The Sheffield model of subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats. *Stroke* (1995) 26(7):1279–83; discussion 84. doi:10.1161/01. STR.26.7.1279
- Hollig A, Weinandy A, Liu J, Clusmann H, Rossaint R, Coburn M. Beneficial properties of argon after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage: early treatment reduces mortality and influences hippocampal protein expression. *Crit Care Med* (2016) 44(7):e520–9. doi:10.1097/CCM.000000000001561
- Kooijman E, Nijboer CH, van Velthoven CT, Mol W, Dijkhuizen RM, Kesecioglu J, et al. Long-term functional consequences and ongoing cerebral inflammation after subarachnoid hemorrhage in the rat. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(6):e90584. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0090584
- Schneider UC, Davids AM, Brandenburg S, Muller A, Elke A, Magrini S, et al. Microglia inflict delayed brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Acta Neuropathol* (2015) 130(2):215–31. doi:10.1007/s00401-015-1440-1
- Perego C, Fumagalli S, De Simoni MG. Temporal pattern of expression and colocalization of microglia/macrophage phenotype markers following brain ischemic injury in mice. *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:174. doi:10.1186/ 1742-2094-8-174
- Harris K, Armstrong SP, Campos-Pires R, Kiru L, Franks NP, Dickinson R. Neuroprotection against traumatic brain injury by xenon, but not argon, is mediated by inhibition at the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor glycine site. *Anesthesiology* (2013) 119(5):1137–48. doi:10.1097/ALN. 0b013e3182a2a265
- Armstrong SP, Banks PJ, McKitrick TJ, Geldart CH, Edge CJ, Babla R, et al. Identification of two mutations (F758W and F758Y) in the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor glycine-binding site that selectively prevent competitive inhibition by xenon without affecting glycine binding. *Anesthesiology* (2012) 117(1):38–47. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e31825ada2e
- Banks P, Franks NP, Dickinson R. Competitive inhibition at the glycine site of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor mediates xenon neuroprotection against hypoxia-ischemia. *Anesthesiology* (2010) 112(3):614–22. doi:10.1097/ ALN.0b013e3181cea398
- 33. Kaindl AM, Degos V, Peineau S, Gouadon E, Chhor V, Loron G, et al. Activation of microglial N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors triggers inflammation and neuronal cell death in the developing and mature brain. *Ann Neurol* (2012) 72(4):536–49. doi:10.1002/ana.23626

Conflict of Interest Statement: AH lectured for Air Liquide. RR consulted and lectured for Baxter Healthcare and Air Liquide. His institution received grant Support from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, Baxter Healthcare, and Air Liquide. All remaining authors have no potential conflict of interest to declare.

Copyright © 2017 Veldeman, Coburn, Rossaint, Clusmann, Nolte, Kremer and Höllig. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Thromboinflammation in Delayed Cerebral Ischemia after Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Devin W. McBride^{1*}, Spiros L. Blackburn¹, Peeyush Kumar T¹, Kanako Matsumura¹ and John H. Zhang^{2,3}

¹ The Vivian L. Smith Department of Neurosurgery, McGovern Medical School, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States, ²Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Loma Linda School of Medicine, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States, ³Department of Neurosurgery, Loma Linda School of Medicine, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

J. Marc Simard, University of Maryland, Baltimore, United States

Reviewed by:

Rick Gill, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, United States Baback Arshi, University of Illinois at Chicago, United States Jose Javier Provencio, Cleveland Clinic, United States

*Correspondence:

Devin W. McBride devin.w.mcbride@uth.tmc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 16 August 2017 Accepted: 02 October 2017 Published: 23 October 2017

Citation:

McBride DW, Blackburn SL, Peeyush KT, Matsumura K and Zhang JH (2017) The Role of Thromboinflammation in Delayed Cerebral Ischemia after Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Front. Neurol. 8:555. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00555 Delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) is a major determinant of patient outcome following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Although the exact mechanisms leading to DCI are not fully known, inflammation, cerebral vasospasm, and microthrombi may all function together to mediate the onset of DCI. Indeed, inflammation is tightly linked with activation of coagulation and microthrombi formation. Thromboinflammation is the intersection at which inflammation and thrombosis regulate one another in a feedforward manner, potentiating the formation of thrombi and pro-inflammatory signaling. In this review, we will explore the role(s) of inflammation and microthrombi in subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) pathophysiology and DCI, and discuss the potential of targeting thromboinflammation to prevent DCI after SAH.

Keywords: thromboinflammation, delayed cerebral ischemia, subarachnoid hemorrhage, thrombosis, inflammation, cerebral vasospasm

INTRODUCTION

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) affects 9 per 100,000 individuals per year in the United States (1) and has high rates of morbidity and mortality (2). Since the mean affected age is 45–55 years old (3), the socioeconomic burden is great, and despite advances in aneurysmal securement technique and management of aSAH in the last 20 years, many of those who survive the initial insult develop significant neurological and cognitive disabilities (1, 4–6).

A major contributor to poor outcomes after aSAH is delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) (1, 5, 6). DCI affects 20–30% of survivors and occurs between 4 and 10 days after subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH), leading to cognitive decline (7–9), ultimately causing severe disability and worse quality of life or death (10–12). DCI is the clinical syndrome used to describe delayed development of neurological impairment (9). Historically, DCI was thought to be caused by cerebral vasospasm. However, multiple studies indicate that DCI is multifactorial, with vasospasm being just a contributing factor (13–17) along with cortical spreading depression, disrupted/altered cerebral autoregulation, microthrombosis, and inflammation (6, 18). Due to the multi-faceted nature of DCI involving both inflammation and microthrombosis, in this review, we will provide evidence that thromboinflammation is an unexplored therapeutic target for preventing DCI in aSAH patients.

46

SAH PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

Following the initial bleed and subsequent treatment of the ruptured aneurysm, the accumulated blood within the subarachnoid space triggers several response mechanisms, as well as pathological events. In response to extravascular blood, endogenous mechanisms of repair are initiated, including removal of the red blood cells (RBCs) (19). To this end, specific cell adhesion molecules are rapidly expressed on the luminal endothelial cell surface (19), which allows circulating macrophages and neutrophils to enter into the subarachnoid space. Extravasated blood is phagocytosed by infiltrating macrophages (20), and as a result, inflammatory cytokines are released by the infiltrated leukocytes and activated resident microglia, stimulating the immune cascade. Indeed, inflammation has been shown to be a major player in early brain injury (21, 22), and may be a factor leading to DCI (23, 24), contributing to long-term deficits (25–27).

A second pathological factor triggered after SAH is hypercoagulability (28). Although the coagulation cascade is immediately activated following aneurysm rupture to stop bleeding, the hypercoagulable state does not end when the bleeding ceases; a sub-set of aSAH patients will continue to have hypercoagulability for several days post-SAH which has been shown to correlate with the development of DCI (28) and result in poorer outcome (28, 29).

Mechanism of Thromboinflammation after SAH

While there are distinct mechanisms by which both inflammation and thrombosis can lead to deleterious events after SAH, both of these pathological events have cross talk by which they potentiate each other (30). The overlap between inflammation and thrombosis, called thromboinflammation, has been reported to play roles in a number of brain diseases/damage, including ischemia (31–34). Since ischemia also plays a role in patient outcome as a downstream deleterious event from SAH, thromboinflammation may be an overlooked pathophysiology after SAH.

Following SAH, activated macrophages release pro-inflammatory cytokines/chemokines for the recruitment of circulating macrophages to aid in RBC clearance (19). Phagocytosis of RBCs and subsequent death of the infiltrated leukocytes (occurring 2–4 days post-ictus) in the cerebrospinal fluid leads to release of a plethora of toxic molecules (35) including endothelins, oxygen free radicals, and hemoglobin/heme (and byproducts), thereby potentiating pro-inflammatory pathways and endothelial cellmediated thrombosis. The latter event induces a positive feedforward loop, potentiating thromboinflammation by continuing to recruit systemic immune cells for debris clean-up, causing cell adhesion molecules to continuedly activate platelets, leading to microthrombi formation (36) (**Figure 1**).

Production/release of reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide adds to endothelial damage (37), stimulating endothelial expression of adhesion molecules (e.g., ICAM-1, P-selectin, VCAM, collagen, fibrinogen, etc.) (37, 38), and release of tissue factor and vWF, thereby activating platelets. This process is controlled by ADAMTS13 (a disintegrin-like metalloprotease

with thrombospondin type 1 repeats-13), which acts to control clot formation by cleaving hyperactive ultralarge vWF to prevent platelet adherence (39). Interestingly, aSAH patients who go on to develop DCI are more hypercoagulable than aSAH patients who will not develop DCI (40, 41). Auxiliary to greater/sustained microthrombi formation, continued activation of coagulation by endothelial cells and platelets further promote inflammation *via* activation of circulating leukocytes through protease activated receptor-1 and toll-like receptor 4 signaling (36).

Finally, emerging evidence further displays the delicate balance that inflammation plays in modulating coagulation (36). In the non-diseased state, systemic leukocytes aid in preventing coagulation by expressing several anticoagulant factors (42–44). Yet, when pro-inflammatory signaling is initiated, leukocytes change phenotypes, thereby aiding in coagulation through the release of procoagulant factors (45, 46) and reduced expression and degradation of anti-coagulation factors (47–49). While leukocytes play a critical role in inducing and propagating inflammation, leukocytes also promote a hypercoagulable state after SAH (36) and may play a crucial role in DCI *via* thromboinflammation.

Clinical Evidence

To date, the exact role thromboinflammation plays in patients suffering from aSAH is not known. Yet, the following clinical studies suggest that thromboinflammation may be a key contributor to DCI after aSAH, and thus should be considered as a therapeutic target.

First, microthrombi have been reported as an associative cause of DCI and worse neurological outcome (50, 51). In human autopsy studies, microthrombi, reported to be throughout the brain, are associated with regions of infarct (50, 51), and also develop with a timing similar to DCI (6). Following aSAH, platelet activation is over-stimulated, resulting in microthrombi within small arterioles (51), peaking within 2 days and then again from 1 to 2 weeks post-ictus (50). Platelet-derived thromboxane B2 is higher and platelet count is lower in DCI patients compared to non-DCI patients (52, 53), suggesting platelet aggregation as a potential cause of microthrombi. In addition, aSAH patients are hypercoagulable with changes in platelet-activating factor (54), vWF (40, 54), and tissue plasminogen activator (55, 56) correlating with the incidence of DCI (54, 55) and poor patient outcome (28). Specific polymorphisms of plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI) have higher PAI activity (57) leading to a higher incidence of DCI (41). Finally, in addition to an over active coagulation cascade, fibrinolysis after aSAH is impaired (40, 56). ADAMTS13, proposed as a critical link between inflammation and thrombosis (39), has been observed to have low activity after aSAH, and is associated with an increased risk of ischemic stroke (58) and may potentiate microthrombi formation. The inherent roles of leukocytes and platelets in inflammation and thrombosis, as well as the involvement of ADAMTS13, argue for thromboinflammation being considered as a therapeutic target after SAH.

Not only is the coagulation cascade not functioning properly, so too is inflammation continually hyperactive. Several proinflammatory cytokines have been linked with worse clinical outcome after aSAH (25–27, 59, 60). Increases in tumor necrosis factor α , interleukin-1 α , interleukin-1 β , interleukin-6, and



interleukin-8 have all been found in the cerebrospinal fluid and blood (59, 61–68), with several factors also being associated with poor outcome and DCI (59, 61). Additionally, elevated adhesion molecules in the blood have also been observed after aSAH in patients, remaining elevated for 6–8 days, and are associated with DCI (69–71). Blood P-selectin is elevated in patients with DCI, suggesting that inflammation and platelet activation adhesion are associated with DCI (72, 73). Indeed, adhesion molecules are well documented to be at the crux of thromboinflammation (39, 74–76). These findings, which suggest thromboinflammation is active, are also supported by increased leukocyte infiltration into the brain following SAH (77–80) and also correlate with ischemia after SAH (81). Thus, the so-called "leukocyte–endothelial cell interaction" (78) may play a role in SAH pathophysiology (i.e., thromboinflammation).

A recent study on 106 aSAH patients showed that platelet activation and inflammation (*via* C-reactive protein measurement) occurred simultaneously and were associated with worse early brain injury and 3-month outcome (82). Similar to others (40, 54), Frontera et al. found that platelet activation and C-reactive protein levels were associated with DCI, but even more interesting, the authors reported that higher platelet activation and C-reactive protein levels at 72 h post-SAH correlate with DCI (82). The findings by Frontera et al. further support the potential role of thromboinflammation in DCI after aSAH, suggesting thromboinflammation may be an unexplored therapeutic target for improving aSAH outcome.

Evidence from Experimental Models

Thromboinflammation has also not been specifically studied in experimental models of SAH, nor has it been examined for correlation with microthrombi, ischemia, or DCI in animals. While DCI is unmeasurable in animals, several pathological measures are used as correlates for DCI (e.g., vasospasm, microthrombi formation, ischemia/infarct/cell death).

Several groups have reported the existence of microthrombi within the vasculature both locally, as well as distally from the SAH insult in experimental SAH models (83-86). In rodent models of SAH using autologous blood infusion, microthrombi and occluded blood vessels have been reported to occur throughout the brain at 2 days post-SAH (84) and can be observed for up to 7 days post-ictus (86). While microthrombi have been observed in puncture models of SAH (87, 88), it is the blood infusion models which offer the most insight into the potential role of thromboinflammation in clot formation after experimental SAH. Indeed, thrombi may be thrown downstream from the vessel rupture in endovascular perforation models as the mechanism by which microthrombi occur in the vasculature; however, no such vessel rupture is present in the autologous blood infusion models. In the blood injection SAH models, the likely cause of microthrombi formation and deposition within the cerebral vasculature distal from the SAH insult is inflammation.

Furthermore, following experimental SAH, endothelial damage resulting from leukocyte infiltration may lead to the downward spiral that is thromboinflammation. Indeed, post-SAH inflammation is devastating (19) and includes cytokine/ chemokine upregulation (89, 90), increased expression of adhesion molecules (91, 92), and leukocyte infiltration (93–95). In fact, either depleting neutrophils or reducing neutrophil activity decreases microvascular injury following SAH in rats (93).

Similar to clinical findings, P-selectin has been observed to increase after experimental SAH, leading to activation of platelets and thrombi formation (84). Interestingly, platelet aggregates have been observed to extravasate into the brain parenchyma in the rodent SAH autologous blood injection model which likely propagates pro-inflammatory signaling (22), further showing that there is cross talk between inflammation and thrombosis after SAH.

Evidence from experimental models of SAH, similar to clinical findings, suggest that significant overlap between inflammation and thrombosis occurs post-SAH and may be involved in secondary injury and neurological deterioration. Future studies are warranted to investigate the exact role(s) thromboinflammation plays in SAH and its potential as a therapeutic target.

THROMBOINFLAMMATION AS A THERAPEUTIC TARGET TO PREVENT DCI

The detrimental roles thromboinflammation play in brain pathologies has led to thromboinflammation to be suggested as a therapeutic target (32, 96), but not for SAH. Based on the review presented above, thromboinflammation should also be considered a therapeutic target for patients of SAH (54). Potential targets of thromboinflammation may include expression of adhesion molecules, release of factors activating leukocytes and platelets simultaneously (e.g., selectins), disrupting platelet-leukocyte formations, and targeting ADAMTS13. To date, no clinical trials have studied these factors as specific therapeutic targets. Below we review some of the clinical trials which have targeted either coagulation or inflammation, and show that targeting these physiological events separately does not seem to hold the answer for SAH treatment.

Previous Trials

Targeting Coagulation and Clot Clearance

Several early clinical trials investigated therapeutics directed at targeting coagulation following SAH, many of which used antiplatelet therapies. However, meta-analysis of antiplatelet therapy indicates that antiplatelet therapy has a trend for improving outcome in aSAH patients, with tendencies to decrease secondary ischemia (except for acetylsalicylic acid which shows no benefit) (97). Some of the antiplatelet therapies thus far investigated are acetylsalicylic acid, ticlopidine (adenosine diphosphate receptor inhibitor), dipyridamole (phosphodiesterase inhibitor), OKY-046/Calaclot (thromboxane synthetase inhibitor), a thromboxane A2 antagonist, and E5880 (inhibitor of platelet-activating factor receptor) (97). Of these agents, Calaclot and E5880 seemed to improve functional outcome, but additional studies need to be undertaken to determine the therapeutic benefit associated with antiplatelet therapies.

Studies have also examined the benefit of targeting clot clearance. In this regard, recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (administered intraventricularly) has been investigated in several clinical trials which have shown that although recombinant tissue plasminogen activator can improve clot clearance, it fails to attenuate cerebral vasospasm or DCI (98), reduce mortality (99), or improve functional outcome (100). These findings indicate that clot clearance alone may not be enough for aSAH.

Targeting Inflammation

Trials targeting inflammation have had varied success. Erythropoietin- β , despite having mechanisms of action against vasospasm and inflammation (101), had no effect on cerebral vasospasm, but did reduce DCI and improve functional outcome (102). This was a small study and is at high risk for bias (103), so additional trials are needed. Another anti-inflammatory agent, methylprednisolone, was found to improve functional outcome at 1 year despite having no effect on cerebral vasospasm or hypodensity on CT scans (104). It should be noted that methylprednisolone is an anti-inflammatory and thus may have no effect on vasospasm, although the lack of change in CT hypodensity is puzzling. Regardless, these trials suggest that inflammation indeed plays a major role in SAH outcome. Since there is considerable feedforward/back mechanisms between thrombosis and inflammation, anti-inflammatory agents may indirectly reduce thromboinflammation. While previous trials have shown promise, additional studies are needed to determine any benefit to patient outcome for anti-inflammatory agents as well as the relationship to thromboinflammation.

Current Trials

The lack of promising data for therapeutics targeting either cerebral vasospasm (100, 103) or clot clearance suggest that SAH prognosis may lie within inflammation, platelet activation, or at the intersection of the two (i.e., thromboinflammation). To date, the only FDA approved treatment after aSAH is nimodipine. While the initial mechanism of action was purported to be via anti-vasospasm (105, 106), its effects seem to be more than just preventing vasospasm. Indeed, nimodipine can improve patient outcome irrespective of vasospasm attenuation (107). Although the exact mechanism of nimodipine is unknown, it may reduce microthrombosis, be neuroprotective, and inhibit cortical spreading ischemia (14, 108). Furthermore, nimodipine has been implicated as being anti-inflammatory (109), and it is important to note that calcium channel blockers may reduce leukocyte infiltration (110), and therefore reduce thromboinflammation. Mechanistic studies for the role(s) of nimodipine are needed to clarify the mechanisms by which nimodipine improves patient outcome after SAH. These studies may also shed light onto the therapeutic targets for thromboinflammation.

Fasudil is currently used in Asia instead of nimodipine, because the latter is not commercially available. Fasudil is a rho-kinase inhibitor which is reported to reduce hemodynamic dysfunction (i.e., vasoconstriction, endothelial injury) and inflammation through downstream signaling pathways *via* inhibition of rhokinase (111). Initially, fasudil was used to target cerebral vasospasm, but fasudil was found to also reduce cerebral infarction, and improve functional outcome after aSAH (112). Thus, fasudil also seems to provide therapeutic benefit for aSAH patients, but still requires validation in large randomized controlled clinical trials (113). Being a rho-kinase inhibitor, fasudil may prevent a number of downstream signaling pathways involved in SAH pathophysiology [smooth muscle cell contraction and endothelial dysfunction (95, 114), inflammation, and leukocyte activation (115)], arguing that drugs with pleiotropic effects may be an answer. Similar to nimodipine, the exact mechanisms by which fasudil improves outcome following SAH remain a mystery, and translational studies for SAH will benefit for additional studies on the mechanism(s) of fasudil.

The recent study by Wessell et al. found that infusion of lowdose heparin administered with nimodipine is associated with increased odds of patient discharge (116), and, in a preliminary trial, heparin reduced cerebral vasospasm and infarct (117). These studies support the notion that combining therapies which reduce distinct injury mechanisms can provide increased effectiveness. Furthermore, these studies indicate that there may be therapeutic potential in anti-coagulation and anti-inflammation (103). Currently, heparin is currently being explored in the ASTROH trial (NCT02501434) which will examine the efficacy of heparin for reducing vasospasm and delayed neurological deficits in SAH patients.

Specific information regarding the role of thromboinflammation and its potential as a therapeutic target may be elucidated through the SoSTART trial (NCT03153150) and the etanercept (TNF α receptor antagonist) trial (NCT01865630). The SoSTART trial is set to investigate seven anti-coagulants for therapeutic benefit in patients of cerebral hemorrhage, including aSAH. These proposed drugs are known to be reduce coagulability and prevent inflammation (118, 119), which may reduce the overall thromboinflammation.

Challenges in Targeting Thromboinflammation

Several challenges exist when considering thromboinflammation as a therapeutic target for preventing DCI. First and foremost, special care needs to be taken when identifying potential therapies for thromboinflammation since the ideal candidate will only target newly formed microthrombi and not have any significant effect on the clot formed at the site of aneurysm rupture. Once the aneurysm has been secured with clip or coil, the aneurysm is of

REFERENCES

- Connolly ES Jr, Rabinstein AA, Carhuapoma JR, Derdeyn CP, Dion J, Higashida RT, et al. Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke* (2012) 43(6):1711–37. doi:10.1161/STR.0b013e3182587839
- Grunwald IQ, Kuhn AL, Schmitt AJ, Balami JS. Aneurysmal SAH: current management and complications associated with treatment and disease. *J Invasive Cardiol* (2014) 26(1):30–7.
- de Rooij NK, Linn FH, van der Plas JA, Algra A, Rinkel GJ. Incidence of subarachnoid haemorrhage: a systematic review with emphasis on region, age, gender and time trends. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2007) 78(12):1365–72. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2007.117655

less concern, but potential complications such as post-operative bleeding or bleeding along the ventriculostomy remain a risk.

In most pathologies, including SAH, both pro- and antiinflammatory pathways are activated to promote debris/toxin clearance and repair of injured tissue, respectively. Since proinflammatory cytokines and downstream signaling is linked with thromboinflammation (34), it is critical to pursue agents which mitigate pro-inflammatory cytokines. So far research has largely focused on this, however, anti-inflammatory signaling aids in repair and healing, thus this arm of inflammation should remain active (or upregulated) after reducing thromboinflammation.

Finally, although experimental studies are required to understand pathophysiology, uncover signaling mechanisms, and investigate novel drugs and potential therapeutic targets, animals (including non-human primates) have differences when it comes to coagulation (120, 121), as well as inflammation (122, 123). Therefore, it follows that animals may have distinct differences when it comes to thromboinflammation and its treatment. Future studies should examine these differences to aid in therapeutic development against thromboinflammation.

CONCLUSION

Thromboinflammation, the cross talk between the thrombotic and inflammatory pathways, likely plays a critical role in the development of DCI after SAH, thereby having significant impact on overall patient outcome. The current understanding of thromboinflammation and its role in SAH pathophysiology is only beginning to emerge, but evidence from experimental and clinical studies suggest that preventing thromboinflammation has the potential for benefiting patients of aSAH.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the conception and drafting of this article.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a NIH grant (JZ, NS081740) and by a seed grant provided by The Vivian L. Smith Department of Neurosurgery at The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston (DM).

- Cossu G, Messerer M, Oddo M, Daniel RT. To look beyond vasospasm in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Biomed Res Int* (2014) 2014:628597. doi:10.1155/2014/628597
- Foreman B. The pathophysiology of delayed cerebral ischemia. J Clin Neurophysiol (2016) 33(3):174–82. doi:10.1097/WNP.000000000000273
- Macdonald RL. Delayed neurological deterioration after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Nat Rev Neurol (2014) 10(1):44–58. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2013.246
- Brilstra EH, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, van Gijn J. Rebleeding, secondary ischemia, and timing of operation in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurology* (2000) 55(11):1656–60. doi:10.1212/WNL.55.11.1656
- Schweizer TA, Al-Khindi T, Macdonald RL. Mini-mental state examination versus montreal cognitive assessment: rapid assessment tools for cognitive and functional outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurol Sci* (2012) 316(1–2):137–40. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2012.01.003

- Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Rinkel GJ, Wijdicks EF, Muizelaar JP, et al. Definition of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as an outcome event in clinical trials and observational studies: proposal of a multidisciplinary research group. *Stroke* (2010) 41(10):2391–5. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.589275
- Frontera JA, Fernandez A, Schmidt JM, Claassen J, Wartenberg KE, Badjatia N, et al. Defining vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: what is the most clinically relevant definition? *Stroke* (2009) 40(6):1963–8. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.108.544700
- Schmidt JM, Wartenberg KE, Fernandez A, Claassen J, Rincon F, Ostapkovich ND, et al. Frequency and clinical impact of asymptomatic cerebral infarction due to vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2008) 109(6):1052–9. doi:10.3171/JNS.2008.109.12.1052
- Springer MV, Schmidt JM, Wartenberg KE, Frontera JA, Badjatia N, Mayer SA. Predictors of global cognitive impairment 1 year after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* (2009) 65(6):1043–50; discussion 50–1. doi:10.1227/01.NEU.0000359317.15269.20
- Dankbaar JW, Rijsdijk M, van der Schaaf IC, Velthuis BK, Wermer MJH, Rinkel GJE. Relationship between vasospasm, cerebral perfusion, and delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neuroradiology* (2009) 51(12):813–9. doi:10.1007/s00234-009-0575-y
- Etminan N, Vergouwen MDI, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL. Effect of pharmaceutical treatment on vasospasm, delayed cerebral ischemia, and clinical outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2011) 31(6):1443–51. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2011.7
- Kramer A, Fletcher J. Do endothelin-receptor antagonists prevent delayed neurological deficits and poor outcomes after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage? A meta-analysis. *Stroke* (2009) 40(10):3403–6. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.109.560243
- Macdonald RL, Higashida RT, Keller E, Mayer SA, Molyneux A, Raabe A, et al. Randomised trial of clazosentan, an endothelin receptor antagonist, in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage undergoing surgical clipping (CONSCIOUS-2). Acta Neurochir Suppl (2013) 115:27–31. doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-1192-5_7
- Rabinstein AA, Friedman JA, Nichols DA, Pichelmann MA, McClelland RL, Manno EM, et al. Predictors of outcome after endovascular treatment of cerebral vasospasm. *Am J Neuroradiol* (2004) 25(10):1778–82.
- Chamling B, Gross S, Stoffel-Wagner B, Schubert GA, Clusmann H, Coburn M, et al. Early diagnosis of delayed cerebral ischemia: possible relevance for inflammatory biomarkers in routine clinical practice? *World Neurosurg* (2017) 104:152–7. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2017.05.021
- Lucke-Wold BP, Logsdon AF, Manoranjan B, Turner RC, McConnell E, Vates GE, et al. Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and neuroinflammation: a comprehensive review. *Int J Mol Sci* (2016) 17(4):497. doi:10.3390/ ijms17040497
- Ascenzi P, Bocedi A, Visca P, Altruda F, Tolosano E, Beringhelli T, et al. Hemoglobin and heme scavenging. *IUBMB Life* (2005) 57(11):749–59. doi:10.1080/15216540500380871
- Fujii M, Yan J, Rolland WB, Soejima Y, Caner B, Zhang JH. Early brain injury, an evolving frontier in subarachnoid hemorrhage research. *Trans Stroke Res* (2013) 4(4):432–46. doi:10.1007/s12975-013-0257-2
- Sehba FA, Hou J, Pluta RM, Zhang JH. The importance of early brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Prog Neurobiol* (2012) 97(1):14–37. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.02.003
- McMahon CJ, Hopkins S, Vail A, King AT, Smith D, Illingworth KJ, et al. Inflammation as a predictor for delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. *J Neurointerv Surg* (2013) 5(6):512–7. doi:10.1136/neurintsurg-2012-010386
- Provencio JJ. Inflammation in subarachnoid hemorrhage and delayed deterioration associated with vasospasm: a review. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (2013) 115:233–8. doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-1192-5_42
- Chou SH, Feske SK, Atherton J, Konigsberg RG, De Jager PL, Du R, et al. Early elevation of serum tumor necrosis factor-alpha is associated with poor outcome in subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Investig Med* (2012) 60(7):1054–8. doi:10.2310/JIM.0b013e3182686932
- 26. Gruber A, Rossler K, Graninger W, Donner A, Illievich MU, Czech T. Ventricular cerebrospinal fluid and serum concentrations of sTNFR-I,

IL-1ra, and IL-6 after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol (2000) 12(4):297-306. doi:10.1097/00008506-200010000-00001

- Hendryk S, Jarzab B, Josko J. Increase of the IL-1 beta and IL-6 levels in CSF in patients with vasospasm following aneurysmal SAH. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* (2004) 25(1–2):141–7.
- Ramchand P, Nyirjesy S, Frangos S, Doerfler S, Nawalinski K, Quattrone F, et al. Thromboelastography parameter predicts outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage: an exploratory analysis. *World Neurosurg* (2016) 96:215–21. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2016.04.002
- Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, Coert BA, Stroes ES, Roos YB. Microthrombosis after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an additional explanation for delayed cerebral ischemia. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* (2008) 28(11):1761–70. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2008.74
- Salvarani C, Brown RD Jr, Hunder GG. Adult primary central nervous system vasculitis. *Lancet* (2012) 380(9843):767–77. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(12)60069-5
- Albert-Weissenberger C, Mencl S, Schuhmann MK, Salur I, Gob E, Langhauser F, et al. C1-Inhibitor protects from focal brain trauma in a cortical cryolesion mice model by reducing thrombo-inflammation. *Front Cell Neurosci* (2014) 8:269. doi:10.3389/fncel.2014.00269
- De Meyer SF, Denorme F, Langhauser F, Geuss E, Fluri F, Kleinschnitz C. Thromboinflammation in stroke brain damage. *Stroke* (2016) 47(4):1165–72. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.011238
- 33. Gragnano F, Sperlongano S, Golia E, Natale F, Bianchi R, Crisci M, et al. The role of von Willebrand factor in vascular inflammation: from pathogenesis to targeted therapy. *Mediators Inflamm* (2017) 2017:5620314. doi:10.1155/2017/5620314
- Kehrel BE, Fender AC. Resolving thromboinflammation in the brain after ischemic stroke? *Circulation* (2016) 133(22):2128–31. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.116.022858
- Hartz S, Menart B, Tschoepe D. Leukocyte apoptosis in whole blood involves platelet-dependent coaggregation. *Cytometry A* (2003) 52(2):117–21. doi:10.1002/cyto.a.10026
- Swystun LL, Liaw PC. The role of leukocytes in thrombosis. *Blood* (2016) 128(6):753–62. doi:10.1182/blood-2016-05-718114
- da Fonseca ACC, Matias D, Garcia C, Amaral R, Geraldo LH, Freitas C, et al. The impact of microglial activation on blood-brain barrier in brain diseases. *Front Cell Neurosci* (2014) 8:362. doi:10.3389/fncel.2014.00362
- Munakata A, Naraoka M, Katagai T, Shimamura N, Ohkuma H. Role of cyclooxygenase-2 in relation to nitric oxide and endothelin-1 on pathogenesis of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rabbit. *Trans Stroke Res* (2016) 7(3):220–7. doi:10.1007/s12975-016-0466-6
- Chauhan AK, Kisucka J, Brill A, Walsh MT, Scheiflinger F, Wagner DD. ADAMTS13: a new link between thrombosis and inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(9):2065–74. doi:10.1084/jem.20080130
- Vergouwen MD, Bakhtiari K, van Geloven N, Vermeulen M, Roos YB, Meijers JC. Reduced ADAMTS13 activity in delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2009) 29(10):1734–41. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2009.88
- Hendrix P, Foreman PM, Harrigan MR, Fisher WSR, Vyas NA, Lipsky RH, et al. Association of plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (SERPINE1 gene) polymorphisms and aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. World Neurosurg (2017) 105:672–77. doi:10.3171/2017.2.JNS162933
- McGee MP, Foster S, Wang X. Simultaneous expression of tissue factor and tissue factor pathway inhibitor by human monocytes. A potential mechanism for localized control of blood coagulation. *J Exp Med* (1994) 179(6):1847–54. doi:10.1084/jem.179.6.1847
- McCachren SS, Diggs J, Weinberg JB, Dittman WA. Thrombomodulin expression by human blood monocytes and by human synovial tissue lining macrophages. *Blood* (1991) 78:3128–32.
- 44. Galligan L, Livingstone W, Volkov Y, Hokamp K, Murphy C, Lawler M, et al. Characterization of protein C receptor expression in monocytes. *Br J Haematol* (2001) 115(2):408–14. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2141.2001.03187.x
- Shantsila E, Lip GY. The role of monocytes in thrombotic disorders. Insights from tissue factor, monocyte-platelet aggregates and novel mechanisms. *Thromb Haemost* (2009) 102(5):916–24. doi:10.1160/TH09-01-0023
- Pham CT. Neutrophil serine proteases: specific regulators of inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(7):541–50. doi:10.1038/nri1841

- Basavaraj MG, Gruber FX, Sovershaev M, Appelbom HI, Osterud B, Petersen LC, et al. The role of TFPI in regulation of TF-induced thrombogenicity on the surface of human monocytes. *Thromb Res* (2010) 126(5):418–25. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2010.07.014
- Belaaouaj AA, Li A, Wun TC, Welgus HG, Shapiro SD. Matrix metalloproteinases cleave tissue factor pathway inhibitor. Effects on coagulation. *J Biol Chem* (2000) 275(35):27123–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M004218200
- Massberg S, Grahl L, von Bruehl ML, Manukyan D, Pfeiler S, Goosmann C, et al. Reciprocal coupling of coagulation and innate immunity via neutrophil serine proteases. *Nat Med* (2010) 16(8):887–96. doi:10.1038/ nm.2184
- Stein SC, Browne KD, Chen XH, Smith DH, Graham DI. Thromboembolism and delayed cerebral ischemia after subarachnoid hemorrhage: an autopsy study. *Neurosurgery* (2006) 59(4):781–7; discussion 7–8. doi:10.1227/01. NEU.0000227519.27569.45
- Suzuki S, Kimura M, Souma M, Ohkima H, Shimizu T, Iwabuchi T. Cerebral microthrombosis in symptomatic cerebral vasospasm – a quantitative histological study in autopsy cases. *Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo)* (1990) 30(5):309–16. doi:10.2176/nmc.30.309
- Hirashima Y, Hamada H, Kurimoto M, Origasa H, Endo S. Decrease in platelet count as an independent risk factor for symptomatic vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2005) 102(5):882–7. doi:10.3171/jns.2005.102.5.0882
- Vinge E, Brandt L, Ljunggren B, Andersson KE. Thromboxane B2 levels in serum during continuous administration of nimodipine to patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (1988) 19(5):644–7. doi:10.1161/01.STR.19.5.644
- Boluijt J, Meijers JC, Rinkel GJ, Vergouwen MD. Hemostasis and fibrinolysis in delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* (2015) 35(5):724–33. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2015.13
- Ji Y, Meng QH, Wang ZG. Changes in the coagulation and fibrinolytic system of patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo)* (2014) 54(6):457–64. doi:10.2176/nmc.oa2013-0006
- Peltonen S, Juvela S, Kaste M, Lassila R. Hemostasis and fibrinolysis activation after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (1997) 87(2):207–14. doi:10.3171/jns.1997.87.2.0207
- Al-Hamodi ZH, Saif-Ali R, Ismail IS, Ahmed KA, Muniandy S. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 4G/5G polymorphism is associated with metabolic syndrome parameters in Malaysian subjects. *J Clin Biochem Nutr* (2012) 50(3):184–9. doi:10.3164/jcbn.11-48
- Sonneveld MA, de Maat MP, Portegies ML, Kavousi M, Hofman A, Turecek PL, et al. Low ADAMTS13 activity is associated with an increased risk of ischemic stroke. *Blood* (2015) 126(25):2739–46. doi:10.1182/ blood-2015-05-643338
- Mathiesen T, Edner G, Ulfarsson E, Andersson B. Cerebrospinal fluid interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and tumor necrosis factor-alpha following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (1997) 87(2):215–20. doi:10.3171/ jns.1997.87.2.0215
- Graetz D, Nagel A, Schlenk F, Sakowitz O, Vajkoczy P, Sarrafzadeh A. High ICP as trigger of proinflammatory IL-6 cytokine activation in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurol Res* (2010) 32(7):728–35. doi:10.1179/01 6164109X12464612122650
- Fassbender K, Hodapp B, Rossol S, Bertsch T, Schmeck J, Schutt S, et al. Inflammatory cytokines in subarachnoid haemorrhage: association with abnormal blood flow velocities in basal cerebral arteries. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2001) 70(4):534–7. doi:10.1136/jnnp.70.4.534
- Gaetani P, Tartara F, Pignatti P, Tancioni F, Rodriguez y Baena R, De Benedetti F. Cisternal CSF levels of cytokines after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurol Res* (1998) 20(4):337–42. doi:10.1080/01616412.1998. 11740528
- Hirashima Y, Nakamura S, Endo S, Kuwayama N, Naruse Y, Takaku A. Elevation of platelet activating factor, inflammatory cytokines, and coagulation factors in the internal jugular vein of patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurochem Res* (1997) 22(10):1249–55. doi:10.1023/ A:1021985030331
- Kikuchi T, Okuda Y, Kaito N, Abe T. Cytokine production in cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Neurol Res* (1995) 17(2):106–8. doi:1 0.1080/01616412.1995.11740296

- Mathiesen T, Andersson B, Loftenius A, von Holst H. Increased interleukin-6 levels in cerebrospinal fluid following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (1993) 78(4):562–7. doi:10.3171/jns.1993.78.4.0562
- Osuka K, Suzuki Y, Tanazawa T, Hattori K, Yamamoto N, Takayasu M, et al. Interleukin-6 and development of vasospasm after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir (Wien) (1998) 140(9):943–51. doi:10.1007/ s007010050197
- Osuka K, Watanabe Y, Aoyama M, Nakura T, Matsuo N, Takayasu M. Expression of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 in cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Neuroinflammation (2014) 11:142. doi:10.1186/ s12974-014-0142-2
- Takizawa T, Tada T, Kitazawa K, Tanaka Y, Hongo K, Kameko M, et al. Inflammatory cytokine cascade released by leukocytes in cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurol Res* (2001) 23(7):724–30. doi:10.1179/016164101101199243
- 69. Kubo Y, Ogasawara K, Kakino S, Kashimura H, Tomitsuka N, Sugawara A, et al. Serum inflammatory adhesion molecules and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein correlates with delayed ischemic neurologic deficits after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Surg Neurol* (2008) 69(6):592–6; discussion 6. doi:10.1016/j.surneu.2008.02.014
- Mack WJ, Mocco J, Hoh DJ, Huang J, Choudhri TF, Kreiter KT, et al. Outcome prediction with serum intercellular adhesion molecule-1 levels after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2002) 96(1):71–5. doi:10.3171/jns.2002.96.1.0071
- Mocco J, Mack WJ, Kim GH, Lozier AP, Laufer I, Kreiter KT, et al. Rise in serum soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 levels with vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2002) 97(3):537–41. doi:10.3171/jns.2002.97.3.0537
- Frijns CJ, Kasius KM, Algra A, Fijnheer R, Rinkel GJ. Endothelial cell activation markers and delayed cerebral ischaemia in patients with subarachnoid haemorrhage. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2006) 77(7):863–7. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2005.064956
- Nissen JJ, Mantle D, Gregson B, Mendelow AD. Serum concentration of adhesion molecules in patients with delayed ischaemic neurological deficit after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: the immunoglobulin and selectin superfamilies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2001) 71(3):329–33. doi:10.1136/jnnp.71.3.329
- Denis CV, Wagner DD. Platelet adhesion receptors and their ligands in mouse models of thrombosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2007) 27(4):728–39. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000259359.52265.62
- Ley K, Laudanna C, Cybulsky MI, Nourshargh S. Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7(9):678–89. doi:10.1038/nri2156
- Wagner DD. New links between inflammation and thrombosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2005) 25(7):1321–4. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000166521. 90532.44
- Crompton MR. The pathogenesis of cerebral infarction following the rupture of cerebral berry aneurysms. *Brain* (1964) 87:491–510. doi:10.1093/ brain/87.3.491
- Gallia GL, Tamargo RJ. Leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in chronic vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurol Res* (2006) 28(7):750–8. doi:10.1179/016164106X152025
- Hughes JT, Schianchi PM. Cerebral artery spasm. A histological study at necropsy of the blood vessels in cases of subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (1978) 48(4):515–25. doi:10.3171/jns.1978.48.4.0515
- Pluta RM, Zauner A, Morgan JK, Muraszko KM, Oldfield EH. Is vasospasm related to proliferative arteriopathy? *J Neurosurg* (1992) 77(5):740–8. doi:10.3171/jns.1992.77.5.0740
- Spallone A, Acqui M, Pastore FS, Guidetti B. Relationship between leukocytosis and ischemic complications following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Surg Neurol (1987) 27(3):253–8. doi:10.1016/0090-3019(87)90038-3
- Frontera JA, Provencio JJ, Sehba FA, McIntyre TM, Nowacki AS, Gordon E, et al. The role of platelet activation and inflammation in early brain injury following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2017) 26(1):48–57. doi:10.1007/s12028-016-0292-4
- Andereggen L, Neuschmelting V, von Gunten M, Widmer HR, Fandino J, Marbacher S. The role of microclot formation in an acute subarachnoid hemorrhage model in the rabbit. *Biomed Res Int* (2014) 2014:161702. doi:10.1155/2014/161702

- Sabri M, Ai J, Lakovic K, D'Abbondanza J, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL. Mechanisms of microthrombi formation after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neuroscience* (2012) 224:26–37. doi:10.1016/j. neuroscience.2012.08.002
- Tso MK, Macdonald RL. Acute microvascular changes after subarachnoid hemorrhage and transient global cerebral ischemia. *Stroke Res Treat* (2013) 2013:425281. doi:10.1155/2013/425281
- Wang Z, Chen G, Zhu WW, Bian JY, Shen XO, Zhou D. Influence of simvastatin on microthrombosis in the brain after subarachnoid hemorrhage in rats: a preliminary study. *Ann Clin Lab Sci* (2010) 40(1):32–42.
- Herz DA, Baez S, Shulman K. Pial microcirculation in subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke (1975) 6(4):417–24. doi:10.1161/01.STR.6.4.417
- Sehba FA, Mostafa G, Friedrich V Jr, Bederson JB. Acute microvascular platelet aggregation after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2005) 102(6):1094–100. doi:10.3171/jns.2005.102.6.1094
- Maddahi A, Ansar S, Chen Q, Edvinsson L. Blockade of the MEK/ERK pathway with a raf inhibitor prevents activation of pro-inflammatory mediators in cerebral arteries and reduction in cerebral blood flow after subarachnoid hemorrhage in a rat model. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* (2011) 31(1):144–54. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2010.62
- Maddahi A, Povlsen G, Edvinsson L. Regulation of enhanced cerebrovascular expression of proinflammatory mediators in experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage via the mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway. *J Neuroinflammation* (2012) 9:274. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-274
- Handa Y, Kubota T, Kaneko M, Tsuchida A, Kobayashi H, Kawano H, et al. Expression of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) on the cerebral artery following subarachnoid haemorrhage in rats. *Acta Neurochir* (1995) 132(1):92–7. doi:10.1007/BF01404854
- Lin CL, Dumont AS, Calisaneller T, Kwan AL, Hwong SL, Lee KS. Monoclonal antibody against E selectin attenuates subarachnoid hemorrhage-induced cerebral vasospasm. *Surg Neurol* (2005) 64(3):201–5; discussion 5–6. doi:10.1016/j.surneu.2005.04.038
- Friedrich V, Flores R, Muller A, Bi W, Peerschke EIB, Sehba FA. Reduction of neutrophil activity decreases early microvascular injury after subarachnoid haemorrhage. *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:103. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-8-103
- Hayman EG, Patel AP, James RF, Simard JM. Heparin and heparinderivatives in post-subarachnoid hemorrhage brain injury: a multimodal therapy for a multimodal disease. *Molecules* (2017) 22(5):724. doi:10.3390/ molecules22050724
- 95. Satoh S-I, Yamamoto Y, Toshima Y, Ikegaki I, Asano T, Suzuki Y, et al. Fasudil, a protein kinase inhibitor, prevents the development of endothelial injury and neutrophil infiltration in a two-haemorrhage canine subarachnoid model. *J Clin Neurosci* (1999) 6(5):394–9. doi:10.1016/S0967-5868(99)90034-6
- Stokes KY, Granger DN. Platelets: a critical link between inflammation and microvascular dysfunction. *J Physiol* (2012) 590(5):1023–34. doi:10.1113/ jphysiol.2011.225417
- Dorhout Mees SM, van den Bergh WM, Algra A, Rinkel GJ. Antiplatelet therapy for aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2007) 4:CD006184. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD006184.pub2
- Kramer AH, Roberts DJ, Holodinsky J, Todd S, Hill MD, Zygun DA, et al. Intraventricular tissue plasminogen activator in subarachnoid hemorrhage patients: a prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled pilot trial. *Neurocrit Care* (2014) 21(2):275–84. doi:10.1007/s12028-014-9965-z
- Litrico S, Almairac F, Gaberel T, Ramakrishna R, Fontaine D, Sedat J, et al. Intraventricular fibrinolysis for severe aneurysmal intraventricular hemorrhage: a randomized controlled trial and meta-analysis. *Neurosurg Rev* (2013) 36(4):523–30; discussion 30–1. doi:10.1007/s10143-013-0469-7
- 100. Etminan N, Beseoglu K, Eicker SO, Turowski B, Steiger H-J, Hanggi D. Prospective, randomized, open-label phase ii trial on concomitant intraventricular fibrinolysis and low-frequency rotation after severe subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2013) 44:2162–8. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA. 113.001790
- 101. Grasso G, Tomasello G, Noto M, Alafaci C, Cappello F. Erythropoietin for the treatment of subarachnoid hemorrhage: a feasible ingredient for a successful medical recipe. *Mol Med* (2015) 21(1):979–87. doi:10.2119/ molmed.2015.00177

- 102. Tseng MY, Hutchinson PJ, Richards HK, Czosnyka M, Pickard JD, Erber WN, et al. Acute systemic erythropoietin therapy to reduce delayed ischemic deficits following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a phase II randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Clinical article. *J Neurosurg* (2009) 111(1):171–80. doi:10.3171/2009.3.JNS081332
- 103. Veldeman M, Höllig A, Clusmann H, Stevanovic A, Rossaint R, Coburn M. Delayed cerebral ischaemia prevention and treatment after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: a systematic review. Br J Anaesth (2016) 117(1):17–40. doi:10.1093/bja/aew095
- 104. Gomis P, Graftieaux JP, Sercombe R, Hettler D, Scherpereel B, Rousseaux P. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, pilot trial of high-dose methylprednisolone in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2010) 112(3):681–8. doi:10.3171/2009.4.JNS081377
- 105. Mijailovic M, Lukic S, Laudanovic D, Folic M, Folic N, Jankovic S. Effects of nimodipine on cerebral vasospasm in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage treated by endovascular coiling. *Adv Clin Exp Med* (2013) 22(1):101–9.
- Castanares-Zapatero D, Hantson P. Pharmacological treatment of delayed cerebral ischemia and vasospasm in subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Ann Intensive Care* (2011) 1(1):12. doi:10.1186/2110-5820-1-12
- Raya AK, Diringer MN. Treatment of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Crit Care Clin (2014) 30(4):719–33. doi:10.1016/j.ccc.2014.06.004
- Etminan N, Macdonald RL. Management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Handb Clin Neurol* (2017) 140:195–228. doi:10.1016/ B978-0-444-63600-3.00012-X
- 109. SanzJM, ChiozziP, ColaiannaM, ZottiM, FerrariD, TrabaceL, etal. Nimodipine inhibits IL-1beta release stimulated by amyloid beta from microglia. Br J Pharmacol (2012) 167(8):1702–11. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.02112.x
- Martinez LL, Aparecida De Oliveira M, Fortes ZB. Influence of verapamil and diclofenac on leukocyte migration in rats. *Hypertension* (1999) 34(4 Pt 2):997–1001. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.34.4.997
- 111. Zhao J, Zhou D, Guo J, Ren Z, Zhou L, Wang S, et al. Efficacy and safety of fasudil in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage: final results of a randomized trial of fasudil versus nimodipine. *Neurol Med Chir (Tokyo)* (2011) 51(10):679–83. doi:10.2176/nmc.51.679
- 112. Liu GJ, Wang ZJ, Wang YF, Xu LL, Wang XL, Liu Y, et al. Systematic assessment and meta-analysis of the efficacy and safety of fasudil in the treatment of cerebral vasospasm in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* (2012) 68(2):131–9. doi:10.1007/s00228-011-1100-x
- Liu Y-F, Qiu H-Q, Su J, Jiang W-J. Drug treatment of cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage following aneurysms. *Chinese Neurosurg J* (2016) 2:4. doi:10.1186/s41016-016-0023-x
- 114. Liu AJ, Ling F, Wang D, Wang Q, Lu XD, Liu YL. Fasudil inhibits platelet-derived growth factor-induced human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell proliferation by up-regulation of p27kip(1) via the ERK signal pathway. *Chinese Med J* (2011) 124(19):3098–104.
- 115. Slotta JE, Braun OO, Menger MD, Thorlacius H. Fasudil, a Rho-kinase inhibitor, inhibits leukocyte adhesion in inflamed large blood vessels in vivo. *Inflamm Res* (2006) 55(9):364–7. doi:10.1007/s00011-006-6013-2
- 116. Wessell A, Kole MJ, Badjatia N, Parikh G, Albrecht JS, Schreibman DL, et al. High compliance with scheduled nimodipine is associated with better outcome in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage patients cotreated with heparin infusion. *Front Neurol* (2017) 8:268. doi:10.3389/fneur.2017. 00268
- 117. Simard JM, Aldrich EF, Schreibman D, James RF, Polifka A, Beaty N. Lowdose intravenous heparin infusion in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a preliminary assessment. *J Neurosurg* (2013) 119(6):1611–9. doi:10.3171/2013.8.JNS1337
- 118. Stapler S, Farris D, Luke C, Diaz J, Henke P, Wakefield T, et al. Efficacy of apixaban on thrombus resolution and anti-inflammation in a murine model of acute deep venous thrombosis. *J Vascular Surg Venous Lymphat Disord* (2016) 4(1):139–40. doi:10.1016/j.jvsv.2015.10.019
- 119. Zemer-Wassercug N, Haim M, Leshem-Lev D, Orvin KL, Vaduganathan M, Gutstein A, et al. The effect of dabigatran and rivaroxaban on platelet reactivity and inflammatory markers. *J Thromb Thrombolysis* (2015) 40(3):340–6. doi:10.1007/s11239-015-1245-z
- 120. Neville B, Fareed J, Florian-Kujawski M, Cera L, Duff R, Valero A, et al. Coagulation profiling of human, non-human, primate, pig, dog,

rabbit, and rat plasma: pharmacologic implications. *FASEB J* (2006) 20: A655–6.

- Siller-Matula JM, Plasenzotti R, Spiel A, Quehenberger P, Jilma B. Interspecies differences in coagulation profile. *Thromb Haemost* (2008) 100(3):397-404. doi:10.1160/TH08-02-0103
- Gordon S, Taylor PR. Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5(12):953–64. doi:10.1038/nri1733
- Sharp FR, Jickling GC. Modelling immunity and inflammation in stroke: differences between rodents and humans? *Stroke* (2014) 45(9):e179–80. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.005639

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 McBride, Blackburn, Peeyush, Matsumura and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Hypothesis on the Role of Cryptochromes in Inflammation and Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Outcome

Adriano Barreto Nogueira^{1,2*}, Ariel Barreto Nogueira³, José Carlos Esteves Veiga² and Manoel Jacobsen Teixeira^{1,4}

¹ Division of Neurosurgery Clinic, Hospital das Clinicas, Faculty of Medicine, University of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil, ² Discipline of Neurosurgery, Santa Casa Faculty of Medical Sciences, Department of Surgery, Sao Paulo, Brazil, ³ Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Hospital das Clinicas, University of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil, ⁴ Faculty of Medicine, Department of Neurology, University of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Testai, University of Illinois at Chicago, United States

Reviewed by:

Christoph Stretz, Yale University, United States Minjee Kim, Northwestern University, United States Benjamin Aaron Emanuel, Keck School of Medicine of USC, United States

*Correspondence:

Adriano Barreto Nogueira adriano.nogueira@hc.fm.usp.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 21 July 2017 Accepted: 14 November 2017 Published: 28 November 2017

Citation:

Nogueira AB, Nogueira AB, Veiga JCE and Teixeira MJ (2017) Hypothesis on the Role of Cryptochromes in Inflammation and Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Outcome. Front. Neurol. 8:637. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00637 We have recently found that the temperature variability (TV) in the day-night cycle may predict the mean intracranial pressure in the following 24 h (ICP₂₄) in subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) patients under multimodality monitoring, sedation, and hypothermia (<35°C). Specifically, we found that $ICP_{24} = 6$ (4 – TV) mmHg. TV is the ratio between the coefficient of variation of temperature during the nocturnal and the preceding diurnal periods. This result suggests that the circadian clock reflects brain plasticity mechanisms and its malfunctioning leads to deterioration of the neurologic status. The sleep-wake cycle is absent in these patients and their circadian clock can function properly only by environment light-independent mechanisms. One mechanism involves the circadian clock proteins named cryptochromes (CRYs). CRYs are highly preserved and widespread in the evolutionary tree, are expressed in different cell types in humans [type II CRYs, in two forms: human cryptochrome 1 and 2 (hCRY1 and hCRY2)], and in certain species, respond to blue light and play role in magnetoreception. Interestingly, SAH outcome seems to correlate with inflammation, and CRYs decrease inflammatory activity. Our hypothesis derived from these observations is that CRYs modulate the circadian oscillation of temperature even during therapeutic hypothermia and improve outcome in SAH through decrease in inflammation. A strategy to test this hypothesis is to measure periodically during the acute phase of high-grade SAH the level of CRYs in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and circulating white blood cells, and to correlate these levels with outcome, TV, ICP₂₄, and pro- and anti-inflammatory markers in CSF and blood. If this hypothesis is true, the development of therapies targeting inflammation in SAH could take advantage of cryptochrome properties. It has been shown that blue light phototherapy increases the expression of CRYs in blood mononuclear cells in jaundiced neonates. Likewise, visual stimulus with flashing light improves Alzheimer's disease features in experimental model and there is a prominent expression of CRYs in the retina. Remarkably, recent evidence showed that hCRY2 responds to electromagnetic fields, which could be one elusive mechanism of action of transcranial magnetic stimulation and a reason for its use in SAH.

Keywords: cryptochromes, subarachnoid hemorrhage, inflammation, neurogenesis, circadian rhythm, intracranial pressure prediction, therapeutic hypothermia, targeted temperature management

INTRODUCTION

Our previous work indicates that circadian rhythms are a primary factor to predict brain injury (1-6). First, we showed that the anterior hypothalamus displays a prominent expression of neurogenesis-related markers in adult humans (5, 6). The functions of the anterior hypothalamus include circadian rhythm control and thermoregulation. Because of these features, we suspected that the monitoring of circadian oscillation of temperature could measure putative brain regeneration and plasticity mechanisms and, therefore, anticipate the intensity of brain injury. Following this rationale, we discovered that the ratio between the mean temperature during the sleep and the preceding wake period correlates with the likelihood of seizure occurrence in the following 24 h in epileptic patients (1, 3). We have recently showed that this concept works even with high-grade subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) patients under sedation and therapeutic hypothermia induced by intravascular catheter (2). In this case, the ratio between the coefficient of variation of temperature during the nocturnal and the preceding diurnal periods correlates with the mean intracranial pressure in the following 24 h (ICP₂₄) (2). Collectively, these findings open the possibility to reduce brain injury through circadian rhythm modulation.

Circadian rhythms may be modulated by interfering on the level of the clock proteins cryptochromes (CRYs). CRYs are evolutionarily old flavoproteins expressed in two types, in species ranging from plants to humans (7). Mammals display ubiquitous expression of type II CRYs (8, 9). In humans, there are two forms of type II CRYs, named human CRY1 (hCRY1) and CRY2 (hCRY2) (8, 9). CRYs are highly expressed in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (10). The suprachiasmatic nucleus is the hypothalamus structure that orchestrates the circadian rhythms by the central nervous system. CRYs also interfere in the other mechanism of circadian rhythm control (peripheral mechanism), which includes immune system cells (7). Importantly, hCRY levels can be potentially modulated by blue light (11) and electromagnetic field (8), which are currently used in clinical practice.

HYPOTHESIS

We hypothesize that the ratio between the level of expression of hCRYs during the nocturnal and the preceding diurnal periods (CRY_{n/d}) correlates with inflammation and predicts neurologic signs in the following day–night cycle and long-term outcome in SAH.

RATIONALE OF THE HYPOTHESIS

Adult Human Neurogenesis

The discovery of adult mammalian neurogenesis opened a novel perspective on brain plasticity and neuroregeneration therapies (4-6). The current prevailing concept that the adult mammalian brain harbors two primary neurogenic niches in the subgranular zone of the dentate gyrus and in the subventricular zone replaced the long-lasting dogma of no-new neurons after birth (4-6). Adult human neurogenesis is controversial, but we have previously shown that the adult human brain harbors what we referred

to as potential neurogenic system (4–6). The potential neurogenic system was revealed by the detection of expression of neural stem cell markers in the circumventricular organs (4–6). The circumventricular organs are the brain structures located principally in the hypothalamus that display no blood–brain barrier. Moreover, brain structures adjacent to the circumventricular organs, which form part of the hypothalamic and limbic system circuits, express the immature or newly formed neuron marker doublecortin (DCX) (5, 6). We interpreted these results as a potential constitutive mechanism of neurogenesis that could participate in the maintenance of certain brain circuits and in their regeneration after injury. Next, we pursued a method to measure the effects of this potential plasticity mechanism in clinical practice.

Brain Injury Prediction through Circadian Rhythm Monitoring

Presence of Sleep–Wake Cycle

Because the hypothalamus displays robust expression of neurogenesis-related markers and modulates circadian rhythms and temperature, we suspected that these functions parallel endogenous brain plasticity. Indeed, alterations in the hypothalamus-related functions anticipate worsening in neurologic status, maybe partially due to alterations in endogenous neurogenesis mechanisms. In practice, we found that the ratio between the mean skin temperature during sleep and the preceding wake period ($T_{s/w}$) correlates with the likelihood of seizure occurrence in the following 24 h in epileptic patients (1, 3). This method is non-invasive and involves the use of wristband with sensors of vital signs (1, 3). Importantly, skin temperature has been shown to be a reliable circadian rhythm marker (1, 3).

Absence of Sleep–Wake Cycle

A stronger indication that the circadian rhythm is a primary factor to predict brain injury is being unveiled by our ongoing research showing that the pattern of oscillation of core body temperature in the day–night cycle in high-grade SAH patients correlates with further intracranial pressure (2). The patients analyzed in this study underwent sedation and targeted temperature management (33–33.9°C) using intravascular catheter. Circadian rhythm correlated with further neurologic signs even in this situation of decreased level of consciousness, lack of sleep–wake cycle, and strict temperature control. Specifically, the ratio between the coefficient of variation of the nocturnal (starting at 18:00) and the preceding diurnal periods (starting at 6:00) [temperature variability (TV)] correlated with ICP₂₄ (p < 0.001). The formula derived from regression analysis is ICP₂₄ = 6 (4 – TV) mmHg (2).

The findings of our line of research indicate the existence of a light-independent mechanism of circadian rhythm that participates in brain plasticity (9, 12). The discovery of a factor involved in this mechanism could lead to the development of a circadian rhythm-guided therapy to prevent brain injury.

Cryptochrome As Potential Prediction Factor in SAH

Cryptochromes display circadian expression in the suprachiasmatic nucleus (10) and in peripheral tissues (7) such as white blood cells (11) through light-independent (7, 9) and light-dependent mechanisms (8, 10, 12).

The expression of hCRYs decreases during the day and increases during the night (13). Insufficient increase in hCRYs during the night correlates with higher levels of inflammation in the following morning, as has already been demonstrated in rheumatoid arthritis patients (13). In SAH patients, inflammation seems to lead to poor outcome (4).

The circadian pattern of temperature oscillation correlates with further neurologic signs (i.e., seizure in epileptic patients and intracranial hypertension in high-grade SAH) (1–3), and an elusive mechanism of this finding is that a normal circadian rhythm reflects normal hypothalamic neurogenesis (**Figure 1**) (1–6). Intriguingly, another potential marker of circadian rhythm, which could theoretically form a loop involving hCRYs and neurogenesis is blue light emission by the body. Endogenous blue light emission has been shown from human body (14). This emission displays circadian pattern and correlates with metabolism and reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation (14). Blue light stimulates CRY expression (11), and both—CRY (15) and ROS (16)—stimulate neurogenesis. Conversely, neurogenesis could close the loop by decreasing ROS formation, blue light emission, and CRY stimulation.

These observations raise the possibility that the circadian pattern of CRY expression correlates with circadian patterns of markers of inflammation and neurogenesis, neurologic signs in the following day–night cycle, and outcome in high-grade SAH.

HYPOTHESIS TESTING

The primary analysis to test our hypothesis is the correlation of the ratio between the level of hCRYs in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) during the nocturnal and the preceding diurnal periods ($CRY_{n/d}$) of acute phase of high-grade SAH patients



with outcome after 1 year. This level can be determined by immune-enzymatic assay (ELISA). In addition, bearing in mind the relationship between CRYs and inflammation, the ratio can be calculated also regarding the expression of hCRYs in white blood cells (WBCC_{n/d}) (and their different types, e.g., mononuclear cells).

Due to potential therapeutic implications of the hypothesis (as detailed below), a crucial analysis is the correlation between CRY_{n/d} and TV and ICP₂₄. A caveat of this analysis is that TV has been shown to correlate with ICP₂₄ only under strict control of temperature, with daily mean <35°C (2).

The complete study to test the hypothesis proposed here includes our published protocol to assess multimodality monitoring, inflammation, and neuroregeneration markers in CSF and blood of highgrade SAH patients aiming at revealing a prognostic biomarker (4). Because of our previous work, we deem worthwhile including in our original protocol principally the analysis (from blood and CSF samples of SAH patients) of markers related to circadian rhythms (melatonin), thermoregulation (RANK) (17), and hypothalamusor hypophysis-produced hormones (growth hormone-releasing hormone, growth hormone, gonadotropin-releasing hormone, and oxytocin) (**Table 1**). Accordingly, the pineal gland and neurohypophysis are circumventricular organs, and the hormones mentioned above stimulate neurogenesis (18, 19).

Also bearing in mind its intriguing presence in the circumventricular organs [pineal gland (20)/habenular zone (21), choroid plexus (22), hypothalamus parenchyma (22)], it would be interesting to quantify through cell sorting mast cells in the CSF of the patients enrolled in this type of protocol. The potential neurogenic system arises from zones without blood-brain barrier, whose permeability is dynamic across the sleep-wake cycle (23). An indication that mast cells may contribute to dynamic features of blood-brain barrier is that they contain granules of histamine, which increases locally the permeability of bloodbrain barrier (21, 22). Histamine also decreases inflammation via activation of H2 receptor and is involved in neuroprotection associated with preconditioning (24). Furthermore, histamine increases neural stem cell proliferation and favors cell fate toward neuronal differentiation via activation of neural stem cell H2 and H1 receptors, respectively (24). The presence of mast cells in circumventricular organs, action of histamine to increase blood-brain barrier permeability, decrease inflammation, protect neurons from secondary injury, and stimulate neurogenesis suggest that mast cells may play a role in endogenous mechanisms of neuroprotection and neuroregeneration.

EXPECTED RESULTS

In decreasing order of importance, the expected results for the study protocol summarized above are:

- $CRY_{n/d}$ correlates with SAH outcome after 1 year;
- CRY_{n/d} correlates with TV and ICP₂₄;
- CRY_{n/d} correlates with CSF and/or blood biomarker(s) of inflammation or neuroregeneration.

Some remarks should be mentioned regarding hypothesis testing and expected results (**Table 1**).

Short-form 36

Discharge, 1, 3, 6, and 12mo

TABLE 1 | Parameters for correlation analysis with CRYn/d.

Parameter	Method	Function	Timing after night CRY assessment (18:00)
Molecular and cellular markers in blood or (SF		
WBCC _{n/d}	qRT-PCR	Systemic circadian CRY oscillation	-12 and 0 h
WBCC _{n/d} (mononuclear)	qRT-PCR	Systemic circadian CRY oscillation	-12 and 0 h
Blood and CSF, interleukin-6, TNF-α, and CRP	ELISA	Inflammation	12 and 24 h
Blood and CSF IL-10 and T_h	ELISA and FACS	Anti-inflammatory	12 and 24 h
CSF MCP-1 and SDF-1	ELISA	Inflammation/neurogenesis	12 and 24 h
Blood and CSF histamine	ELISA	Neuroprotection/neurogenesis	12 and 24 h
CSF microglia and mast cells	FACS (CD-68 and CD-117/c-kit)	Inflammation/neurogenesis	12 and 24 h
CSF CD133+ cells	FACS	Neurogenesis	12 and 24 h
CSF ATP and ADP	ELISA	Redox state/purinergic pathway	-12 and 0 h
CSF cytochrome c and phosphoethanolamine	ELISA	Redox state/mitochondrial respiration	-12 and 0 h
CSF hydrogen sulfide	ELISA	Neuroprotection/neurogenesis	-12 and 0 h
CSF neuroglobin	ELISA	Oxygen metabolism	-12 and 0 h
Blood and CSF GH, GHRH, GnRH, oxytocin,	ELISA	Circumventricular organ (median eminence,	-12 and 0 h
vasopressin, and melatonin		neurohypophysis, pineal gland) function	
CSF RANK	ELISA	Thermoregulation	-12 and 0 h
ICU multimodality monitoring			
TV	Continuous core body T monitoring	ICP ₂₄ prediction	-12 to 12 h
ICP ₂₄	Continuous ICP monitoring	Intracranial hypertension	12 to 36 h
Brain anatomy	CT scan	DCI	Clinical indication
P _{ti} O ₂	Parenchymal probe	Brain hypoxia	12 to 36 h
Lactate/pyruvate	Microdialysis	Brain metabolism	12 to 36 h (3 h intervals)
MCA _v , Lindegaard index, CO ₂ reactivity	Transcranial Doppler	Vasospasm/cerebral autoregulation	12 and 24 h
Alpha–delta ratio	Continuous EEG	DCI prediction	-12 to 12 h
Outcome			
mRS	Clinical assessment	Functional	Discharge, 1, 3, 6, and 12m
GOS	Clinical assessment	Functional	Discharge, 1, 3, 6, and 12m
Barthel index	Clinical assessment	Functional	Discharge, 1, 3, 6, and 12m
MMSE	Clinical assessment	Cognitive	Discharge, 1, 3, 6, and 12m
MoCA	Clinical assessment	Cognitive	Discharge, 1, 3, 6, and 12m
Sickness Impact Profile	Clinical assessment	Health-related QoL	Discharge, 1, 3, 6, and 12m

CSF collection at 6:00 and 18:00 at minimum every 3 days for CRY_{n/d} determination when external ventricular drain is placed, until 14 days after bleeding. Minimum, maximum, and mean CRY_{n/d} for each patient should be compared with any of the remaining parameters to search for correlation. WBCC_{n/d} and mononuclear WBC CRY levels can be used as an alternative parameter for circadian CRY level. Main parameters are in bold. The remaining parameters are options that can be selected according to the goal of the protocol or resources of the service.

Health-related QoL

Clinical assessment

ADP, adenosine diphosphate; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; CRP, C-reactive protein; CRY, cryptochrome; CRY_{nvt}, ratio between CRY level at night (18:00) and the preceding day (6:00) in CSF; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; DCI, delayed cerebral ischemia; EEG, electroencephalogram; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; FACS, fluorescent-activated cell sorting; GH, growth hormone; GHRH, growth hormone; GNRH, gonadotropin-releasing hormone; GOS, Glasgow Outcome Scale; ICP, intracranial pressure; ICP₂₄, mean ICP in the day following TV monitoring; ICU, intensive care unit; IL, interleukin; MCAv, middle cerebral artery velocity; MMSE, mini-mental status exam; MCP, monocyte chemoattractant protein; MoCA, Montreal cognitive assessment; mRS, modified Rankin scale; P₈D₂, brain tissue oxygen pressure; RANK, receptor-activator of nuclear factor κ B; qRT-PCR, real-time polymerase chain reaction; OoL, quality of life; SDF, stromal cell-derived factor; T, temperature; T₁, T helper; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; TV, temperature variability; WBCC_{nv6}, ratio between CRY expression in white blood cells at night (18:00) and the preceding day (6:00).

Cerebrospinal fluid collection for CRY determination will be carried out at 6:00 and 18:00, because they are the times of extreme core body temperature values. This procedure will be performed when an external ventricular drain is placed, at least every 3 days, and until 14 days after bleeding. For each patient, we will test three manners to calculate $CRY_{n/d}$: highest ratio, lowest ratio, and mean ratio of all daily $CRY_{n/d}$ values. CRY level will be calculated as hCRY1, hCRY2, and hCRY1 plus hCRY2 levels.

The role of inflammation in stroke and particularly in SAH pathophysiology is not totally established (25). For example, tumor necrosis factor alpha correlates with neuron damage or protection depending on the membrane receptor on which it acts (4). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) shows a similar dual effect depending on microenvironment conditions (4). Likewise, microglia

participates in inflammation in the acute phase of stroke model, but in a later phase contributes to migration and differentiation of newly formed immature neurons (i.e., neuroblasts) (4).

The multifactorial nature of SAH pathophysiology hampers the determination of correlation between outcome and inflammation (25). SAH and brain injury trigger clinical features that lead to systemic inflammation (26), which on its turn may cause brain damage through seizures, for example (26). However, some studies showed that serum level of inflammation markers such as C-reactive protein (CRP) (27) and IL-6 (28, 29) correlates with SAH outcome.

Cerebrospinal fluid composition could in theory reflect a more straightforward level of brain inflammation, but factors such as amount of bleeding and use of external ventricular drain may interfere on results. A stronger correlation in comparison with serum inflammation markers was demonstrated between CSF level of the inflammation-related marker high mobility group box-1 protein and SAH outcome after 3 months (30). This marker and CRP (27) also correlated with clinical (Hunt and Hess, World Federation of Neurological Societies, and Glasgow Coma scales) and radiological (Fisher) scales known to be prognostic factors in SAH.

The use of the ratio between CRY level during day and night is necessary to assess the role of circadian rhythm in SAH and is an approach that may contribute to overcome certain caveats mentioned above.

First, a higher $CRY_{n/d}$ would result from more remarkable sequential alterations between increase and decrease CRY level collected, respectively, during night and day, supposedly reflecting a closer to normal circadian rhythm. The use of this proportion instead of absolute values may diminish the influence of amount of bleeding on results.

Second, because CRY expression is ubiquitous, the cell type that serves as source of CRY in the CSF cannot be determined in this study protocol. A low $CRY_{n/d}$ may reflect low increase in CRY expression in white blood cells during night and, therefore, a lower anti-inflammatory activity. Additionally, a low $CRY_{n/d}$ may reflect a lower number of hypothalamus neurons in the same way that the level of the hypothalamus-produced hormones oxytocin and vasopressin is lower in the CSF of SAH cases with poor outcome (31). An indication whether the level of CRY in the CSF is altered due to less intense increase of CRY expression in white blood cells or due to brain damage may be revealed from the analysis of WBCC_{n/d} (or alternatively of CRY expression in CSF leukocytes).

This study protocol intends to be a pilot study and the primary endpoint will be 1-year outcome defined according to modified Rankin scale as good (0–3) or poor (4–6). This option may yield a preliminary conclusion using Mann–Whitney *U*-test.

Complementary, we will analyze other functional scales, namely, Glasgow Outcome Scale and Barthel Index. Because half of the survivors after SAH displays good functional outcome measured by modified Rankin scale, but half of these patients shows neuropsychological alterations (32), we will explore this issue through the Mini-Mental Status Exam (33) and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) (32, 34, 35). Moreover, SAH outcome studies have been taking into account analyses of health-related quality of life, which in our study will be evaluated through Sickness Impact Profile and Short-Form 36 (36, 37). Regarding timing, all outcome tests will be performed at discharge, and 1, 3, 6, and 12 months after bleeding.

POTENTIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE HYPOTHESIS

The confirmation of the expected results would represent one more piece of evidence that circadian rhythms parallel endogenous mechanisms of brain plasticity and can be used to predict neurologic status (**Figure 1**). Regarding the study protocol we propose here, neurologic status corresponds to intracranial hypertension during the acute phase of SAH and to functional outcome in the long term.

This confirmation may underpin therapies guided by circadian rhythm modulation. A recent study showed that hCRY2 senses magnetic field (8). Magnetic field can be manipulated in clinical practice through transcranial magnetic stimulation, which interestingly increases neurogenesis (38). Perhaps transcranial magnetic stimulation improves neurologic outcome in a series of neuropsychiatric diseases through stimulation of hCRY expression and consequent neurogenesis.

Blue light stimulation is another clinical measurement that may modulate circadian rhythm. In this regard, flashing light improves Alzheimer's disease in experimental model (39). The retina is a major structure where hCRYs are expressed (10). Blue light also acts on hCRY expression in peripheral tissues. For example, jaundice improvement in children with blue light phototherapy correlates with increase in hCRY expression in mononuclear white cells (11). Therefore, blue light interferes in the level of hCRYs through central and peripheral mechanisms, and this is the reason for which it is interesting to assess hCRY expression in CSF and white blood cells in high-grade SAH patients and the correlation of this expression with TV and ICP24. In clinical practice, monochromatic phototherapy could follow the protocol described by Chen et al. who demonstrated CRY increase during treatment of jaundice in neonates (11). For example, in the first day of treatment, 20 W cool fluorescent bulbs could be used from 18:00 to 6:00 of the next day to reach 500 μ W/cm² measured by a illuminance meter. This procedure is expected to increase CRY during night (which could be monitored by further CSF collections). In the following days, light exposure could be tailored aiming at reaching a CRY_{n/d} that further studies occasionally reveal to be associated with good outcome.

If $CRY_{n/d}$ or $WBCC_{n/d}$ correlates with TV and ICP_{24} and transcranial magnetic stimulation and blue light interfere in the level of hCRYs, then the endpoint of these therapies in high-grade SAH could also be the value of $CRY_{n/d}$ or $WBCC_{n/d}$ that leads to a TV higher than 0.666 and consequently to a predicted ICP_{24} lower than 20 mmHg (**Figure 2**). Nonetheless, it is important to emphasize that these remarks are highly speculative and the practical use of these concepts depends on the confirmation of



FIGURE 2 | Key temperature variability (TV) values and corresponding predicted mean intracranial pressure in the following 24 h (ICP₂₄). This figure is a schematic representation of key TV values and their corresponding predicted ICP₂₄ [for detailed explanation, please see Ref. (2)]. Numbers between parentheses correspond to 80% prediction interval. These values could guide a further circadian rhythm modulation by stimulation of hCRY expression through transcranial magnetic and blue light stimulations.



(C,F) shows the ICP curves of the next day. The predicted ICP (pICP₂₄) matches ICP₂₄ only during hypothermia. For details regarding calculation, please see Ref. (2), from which (A–C) were adapted; (D–F) have not been published previously.

the hypothesis explained here, the replication of the study on ICP prediction by TV, and in the improvement of the TV analysis in such a way that it includes mean daily temperature values higher than 34.9° C (**Figure 3**). In our series, days with mean daily temperature higher than 34.9° C displayed higher temperature range. In these cases, the night–day ratio of coefficient of variation (SD/ mean) was significantly different from the night–day ratio of SD, because mean night temperature over mean day temperature was not equal to one (contrarywise to what happens during hypothermia) (**Figure 3**). We are currently testing whether ICP₂₄ can be predicted by TV during non-hypothermia periods using variables derived from the mean coefficient of variation of harmonics of 12 h obtained during day or night, similar to the formula to predict ICP₂₄ already described (**Figure 3**).

CONCLUSION

We have previously shown that the adult human brain harbors a potential neurogenic system whose integrity could be monitored by the analysis of circadian rhythms such as temperature oscillation. The pattern of circadian rhythms correlates with further brain injury, even under conditions in which the sleep-wake

REFERENCES

- Kim B, Nogueira AB, Thome-Souza S, Kapur K, Klehm J, Jackson M, et al. Diurnal and nocturnal patterns of autonomic neurophysiological measurements are related to timing of seizures. *Ann Neurol* (2015) 78(S19): S174–5. doi:10.1002/ana.24477
- Nogueira AB, Annen E, Boss O, Farokhzad F, Sikorski C, Keller E. Temperature variability in the day-night cycle is associated with further intracranial pressure during therapeutic hypothermia. *J Transl Med* (2017) 15:170. doi:10.1186/ s12967-017-1272-y
- Nogueira AB, Loddenkemper T, Inventors; Children's Medical Center Corporation, Assignee. Seizure Prediction Based on Comparison of Biological

cycle is absent and the temperature is strictly controlled. This finding led us to postulate that light-independent mechanisms of circadian rhythm control may be involved in endogenous brain plasticity.

The circadian proteins CRYs display light-independent mechanism of circadian rhythm control, can be assessed in acute severe neurologic conditions, and their expression could theoretically be modulated by blue light and transcranial magnetic stimulation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AN (first author): developed the hypothesis and wrote the paper. AN (second author): participated in previous work of the group on the paper subject, provided ideas, and revised the manuscript. JV and MT: participated in previous work of the group on this subject, provided ideas, and revised the manuscript.

FUNDING

National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (*Conselho Nacional para o Desenvolvimento Científico e* Tecnológico (CNPq)), grant #401002/2013-6.

Information Across Wake and Sleep Periods. World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) WO2017/007808, United States patent pending PCT/ US2016/041085 (2016).

- Nogueira AB, Nogueira AB, Esteves Veiga JC, Teixeira MJ. Multimodality monitoring, inflammation, and neuroregeneration in subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* (2014) 75:678–89. doi:10.1227/NEU.00000000000512
- Nogueira AB, Nogueira AB, Esteves Veiga JC, Teixeira MJ. Letter: extensive migration of young neurons into the infant human frontal lobe. *Neurosurgery* (2017) 81:E16–8. doi:10.1093/neuros/nyx202
- Nogueira AB, Sogayar MC, Colquhoun A, Siqueira SA, Nogueira AB, Marchiori PE, et al. Existence of a potential neurogenic system in the adult human brain. *J Transl Med* (2014) 12:75. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-12-75

- Reppert SM, Weaver DR. Coordination of circadian timing in mammals. Nature (2002) 418:935–41. doi:10.1038/nature00965
- Foley LE, Gegear RJ, Reppert SM. Human cryptochrome exhibits lightdependent magnetosensitivity. *Nat Commun* (2011) 2:356. doi:10.1038/ ncomms1364
- Vieira J, Jones AR, Danon A, Sakuma M, Hoang N, Robles D, et al. Human cryptochrome-1 confers light independent biological activity in transgenic *Drosophila* correlated with flavin radical stability. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e31867. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031867
- Miyamoto Y, Sancar A. Vitamin B₂-based blue-light photoreceptors in the retinohypothalamic tract as the photoactive pigments for setting the circadian clock in mammals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95:6097–102. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.11.6097
- Chen A, Du L, Xu Y, Chen L, Wu Y. The effect of blue light exposure on the expression of circadian genes: bmal1 and cryptochrome 1 in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of jaundiced neonates. *Pediatr Res* (2005) 58:1180–4. doi:10.1203/01.pdr.0000183663.98446.05
- Nießner C, Denzau S, Malkemper EP, Gross JC, Burda H, Winklhofer M, et al. Cryptochrome 1 in retinal cone photoreceptors suggests a novel functional role in mammals. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:21848. doi:10.1038/srep21848
- Hand LE, Hopwood TW, Dickson SH, Walker AL, Loudon AS, Ray DW, et al. The circadian clock regulates inflammatory arthritis. *FASEB J* (2016) 30: 3759–70. doi:10.1096/fj.201600353R
- Kobayashi M, Kikuchi D, Okamura H. Imaging of ultraweak spontaneous photon emission from human body displaying diurnal rhythm. *PLoS One* (2009) 4:e6256. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006256
- Schnell A, Sandrelli F, Ranc V, Ripperger JA, Brai E, Alberi L, et al. Mice lacking circadian clock components display different mood-related behaviors and do not respond uniformly to chronic lithium treatment. *Chronobiol Int* (2015) 32:1075–89. doi:10.3109/07420528.2015.1062024
- Hameed LS, Berg DA, Belnoue L, Jensen LD, Cao Y, Simon A. Environmental changes in oxygen tension reveal ROS-dependent neurogenesis and regeneration in the adult newt brain. *Elife* (2015) 4:e08422. doi:10.7554/eLife.08422
- Hanada R, Leibbrandt A, Hanada T, Kitaoka S, Furuyashiki T, Fujihara H, et al. Central control of fever and female body temperature by RANKL/RANK. *Nature* (2009) 462:505–9. doi:10.1038/nature08596
- Fredrich M, Hampel M, Seidel K, Christ E, Korf HW. Impact of melatonin receptor-signaling on Zeitgeber time-dependent changes in cell proliferation and apoptosis in the adult murine hippocampus. *Hippocampus* (2017) 27:495–506. doi:10.1002/hipo.22706
- Rankin SL, Partlow GD, McCurdy RD, Giles ED, Fisher KR. Postnatal neurogenesis in the vasopressin and oxytocin-containing nucleus of the pig hypothalamus. *Brain Res* (2013) 971:189–96. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(03)02350-3
- Machado AB, Faleiro LC, da Silva WD. Study of mast cell and histamine contents of the pineal body. Z Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat (1965) 65:521–9. doi:10.1007/BF00337066
- Zhuang X, Silverman AJ, Silver R. Brain mast cell degranulation regulates blood-brain barrier. *J Neurobiol* (1996) 31:393–403. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1097-4695(199612)31:4<393::AID-NEU1>3.0.CO;2-4
- Hendriksen E, van Bergeijk D, Oosting RS, Redegeld FA. Mast cells in neuroinflammation and brain disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2017) 79:119–33. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.05.001
- 23. Keaney J, Campbell M. The dynamic blood-brain barrier. *FEBS J* (2015) 282:4067–79. doi:10.1111/febs.13412
- Hu WW, Chen Z. Role of histamine and its receptors in brain ischemia. ACS Chem Neurosci (2012) 3:238–47. doi:10.1021/cn200126p
- Miller BA, Turan N, Chau M, Pradilla G. Inflammation, vasospasm, and brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Biomed Res Int* (2014) 2014:384342. doi:10.1155/2014/384342
- Claassen J, Albers D, Schmidt JM, De Marchis GM, Pugin D, Falo CM, et al. Nonconvulsive seizures in subarachnoid hemorrhage link inflammation and outcome. *Ann Neurol* (2014) 75:771–81. doi:10.1002/ana.24166

- Fountas KN, Tasiou A, Kapsalaki EZ, Paterakis KN, Grigorian AA, Lee GP, et al. Serum and CSF C-reactive protein levels as predictors of vasospasm in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Clinical article. *Neurosurg Focus* (2009) 26:E22. doi:10.3171/2009.2.FOCUS08311
- McMahon CJ, Hopkins S, Vail A, King AT, Smith D, Illingworth KJ, et al. Inflammation as a predictor for delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. J Neurointerv Surg (2013) 5:512–7. doi:10.1136/ neurintsurg-2012-010386
- Höllig A, Remmel D, Stoffel-Wagner B, Schubert GA, Coburn M, Clusmann H. Association of early inflammatory parameters after subarachnoid hemorrhage with functional outcome: a prospective cohort study. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2015) 138:177–83. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro.2015.08.030
- 30. Sokół B, Woźniak A, Jankowski R, Jurga S, Wasik N, Shahid H, et al. HMGB1 level in CSF as a marker of treatment outcome in patients with acute hydrocephalus following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis (2015) 8:1897–904. doi:10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2015.05.002
- Martin J, Kagerbauer SM, Schuster T, Blobner M, Kochs EF, Landgraf R. Vasopressin and oxytocin in CSF and plasma of patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Neuropeptides* (2014) 48:91–6. doi:10.1016/j. npep.2013.12.004
- Wong GK, Lam SW, Wong A, Mok V, Siu D, Ngai K, et al. Early MoCAassessed cognitive impairment after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and relationship to 1-year functional outcome. *Transl Stroke Res* (2014) 5:286–91. doi:10.1007/s12975-013-0284-z
- 33. Gupta SK, Chhabra R, Mohindra S, Sharma A, Mathuriya SN, Pathak A, et al. Long-term outcome in surviving patients after clipping of intracranial aneurysms. *World Neurosurg* (2014) 81:316–21. doi:10.1016/j.wneu. 2013.01.034
- Chiti G, Pantoni L. Use of Montreal Cognitive Assessment in patients with stroke. Stroke (2014) 45:3135–40. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.004590
- Zweifel-Zehnder AE, Stienen MN, Chicherio C, Studerus-Germann A, Bläsi S, Rossi S, et al. Call for uniform neuropsychological assessment after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: Swiss recommendations. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)* (2015) 157:1449–58. doi:10.1007/s00701-015-2480-y
- Al-Khindi T, Macdonald RL, Schweizer TA. Cognitive and functional outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2010) 41:e519–36. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.581975
- 37. Kapapa T, Tjahjadi M, König R, Wirtz CR, Woischneck D. Which clinical variable influences health-related quality of life the most after spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage? Hunt and Hess scale, Fisher score, World Federation of Neurosurgeons score, Brussels coma score, and Glasgow coma score compared. *World Neurosurg* (2013) 80:853–8. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2012. 08.021
- Zhen J, Qian Y, Fu J, Su R, An H, Wang W, et al. Deep brain magnetic stimulation promotes neurogenesis and restores cholinergic activity in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Front Neural Circuits* (2017) 11:48. doi:10.3389/fncir.2017.00048
- Iaccarino HF, Singer AC, Martorell AJ, Rudenko A, Gao F, Gillingham TZ, et al. Gamma frequency entrainment attenuates amyloid load and modifies microglia. *Nature* (2016) 540:230–5. doi:10.1038/nature20587

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Nogueira, Nogueira, Veiga and Teixeira. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Time Courses of Inflammatory Markers after Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage and Their Possible Relevance for Future Studies

Anke Höllig^{1*}, Birgit Stoffel-Wagner², Hans Clusmann¹, Michael Veldeman¹, Gerrit A. Schubert¹ and Mark Coburn³

¹ Department of Neurosurgery, University Hospital RWTH Aachen, Aachen, Germany, ² Department of Clinical Chemistry and Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital Bonn, Bonn, Germany, ³ Department of Anesthesiology, University Hospital RWTH Aachen, Aachen, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

J. Marc Simard, University of Maryland, Baltimore, United States

Reviewed by:

Minjee Kim, Northwestern University, United States Robert F. James, University of Louisville, United States

*Correspondence: Anke Höllig ahoellig@ukaachen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 20 July 2017 Accepted: 04 December 2017 Published: 22 December 2017

Citation:

Höllig A, Stoffel-Wagner B, Clusmann H, Veldeman M, Schubert GA and Coburn M (2017) Time Courses of Inflammatory Markers after Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage and Their Possible Relevance for Future Studies. Front. Neurol. 8:694. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00694 **Object:** Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage triggers an intense inflammatory response, which is suspected to increase the risk for secondary complications such as delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI). However, to date, the monitoring of the inflammatory response to detect secondary complications such as DCI has not become part of the clinical routine diagnostic. Here, we aim to illustrate the time courses of inflammatory parameters after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) and discuss the problems of inflammatory parameters as biomarkers but also their possible relevance for deeper understanding of the pathophysiology after aSAH and sophisticated planning of future studies.

Materials and methods: In this prospective cohort study, 109 patients with aSAH were initially included, n = 28 patients had to be excluded. Serum and — if possible — cerebral spinal fluid samples (n = 48) were retrieved at days 1, 4, 7, 10, and 14 after aSAH. Samples were analyzed for leukocyte count and C-reactive protein (CRP) (serum samples only) as well as matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP9), intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1), and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) [both serum and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) samples]. Time courses of the inflammatory parameters were displayed and related to the occurrence of DCI.

Results: We illustrate the time courses of leukocyte count, CRP, MMP9, ICAM1, and LIF in patients' serum samples from the first until the 14th day after aSAH. Time courses of MMP9, ICAM1, and LIF in CSF samples are demonstrated. Furthermore, no significant difference was shown relating the time courses to the occurrence of DCI.

Conclusion: We estimate that the wide range of the measured values hampers their interpretation and usage as a biomarker. However, understanding the inflammatory response after aSAH and generating a multicenter database may facilitate further studies: realistic sample size calculations on the basis of a multicenter database will increase the quality and clinical relevance of the acquired results.

Keywords: inflammatory response, subarachnoid hemorrhage, early brain injury, delayed cerebral ischemia, observational research

62

INTRODUCTION

Early brain injury (EBI) after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) repeatedly has been associated with a rise of inflammatory parameters measured in serum and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). However, results are ambiguous concerning the prognostic value of inflammatory serum or CSF parameters. Several studies have proposed single inflammatory markers to be predictive for delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) or outcome (1-8). Thus far, due to the wide individual and interindividual range, inflammatory parameters are limited serving as biomarkers to detect complications as DCI or to predict outcome on an individual basis. However, current data are heterogeneous and partly conflicting as there is no consensus, e.g., on the compartment for sample acquisition (serum or CSF or extracellular fluid—ECF—acquired via microdialysis) or the time point for sampling. Neuroinflammation is a major aspect of EBI. However, it remains a challenge to differentiate beneficial from devastating inflammatory components. Furthermore, the inflammatory response to the initial injury consists of various components such as cellular reactions as in terms of microglia activation (9), induction of cytokines and chemokines (1, 8, 10), leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions (11), and modulation of receptor expression (12). A complex pattern of immunoreaction is initiated after aSAH. Besides the inflammatory activation, there are various other pathophysiological reactions, which are initiated after SAH; such as microthrombosis, cortical spreading depolarization, microvasospasm, and blood-brain barrier breakdown, altogether resulting in dysfunction of the cerebral microcirculation (13). In turn, microcirculatory dysfunction may aggravate the inflammatory activation. Thus, the interactions of the initiated reactions hamper the interpretation of a single parameter's dynamics. There is a vast amount of data on inflammatory parameters after aSAH usually in search for biomarkers predicting DCI. However, none of the examined parameters has found its way into clinical routine. This is most likely due to the abovementioned enormous individual and interindividual range and the low specificity of inflammatory parameters in general. Here, we present our data from a prospective observational study to illustrate the courses of various inflammatory parameters after aSAH. We hypothesize that monitoring of inflammatory parameters during the acute phase after aSAH does not allow an individual risk estimation (e.g., regarding the occurrence of DCI). However, detailed documentation of a vast amount of parameters may increase the understanding of the pathophysiological reaction after aSAH. Sophisticated knowledge of the pro-inflammatory reaction after aSAH and its interactions may possibly allow identification of specific anti-inflammatory therapeutic approaches.

Taken together, we aim to demonstrate that individual risk estimation for secondary complications after aSAH using inflammatory biomarkers is not promising. Instead, we vote for a multicenter database clarifying the courses and interactions of inflammatory parameters after aSAH to provide deeper insight of the pathophysiology of EBI.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The prospective cohort study was approved by the local ethics committee (Ethikkommission an der Medizinischen Fakultät Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn der Rheinischen Germany; EK 199/08), written informed consent according to the Declaration of Helsinki was obtained from patients or legal representatives. Data from this study have already been published elsewhere (8, 14, 15). A total of 109 consecutive patients with aSAH were screened for eligibility within a 21-month period. Patients were not eligible if they were younger than 18 years, enrolled in other clinical trials, admitted more than 12 h after onset or if informed consent could not be obtained. Due to these criteria, 28 patients were excluded (n = 15 declined participation or data were lost, n = 9 were delayed admitted, n = 4 participated in another trial). We documented demographic, clinical, laboratory, and radiological data within an anonymized file history. Inflammatory parameters in serum and CSF were assessed at days 1, 4, 7, 10, and 14 after aSAH. CSF was tested in patients with necessity for CSF drainage mostly due to hydrocephalus (n = 48). Sample acquisition regularly took place in line with routine diagnostic (between 5:00 and 6:00 a.m.).

Sample Processing

Blood and CSF samples were centrifuged for 10 min at 2,000 \times *g* before processing. Samples were analyzed at the Department of Clinical Chemistry and Clinical Pharmacology, University of Bonn, either as part of routine diagnostics [leukocyte count (G/L), determination of C-reactive protein (CRP, mg/L), and interleukin 6 (IL6, pg/mL)] or for study purposes, by means of enzyme-linked immunofluorescence assays for determination matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP9, ng/mL), intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1, ng/mL), and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF, pg/mL) in serum samples (all assays purchased by IBL International GmbH, Hamburg, Germany).

Analysis

Courses of serum parameters (all patients included), additionally CSF parameters and the corresponding serum parameters of the patients with CSF drainage were plotted dependent on time of sample acquisition. Graphs were acquired using GraphPad Prism[®] 6. Furthermore, courses were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. Occurrence of DCI was used as grouping variable to illustrate the usual approach in search of a biomarker indicating the occurrence of DCI. Therefore, DCI was defined as secondary neurologic worsening (increase in modified National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale >2 points). Furthermore, clinical improvement after induced hypertension and new cerebral ischemia or perfusion deficit confirmed by cranial computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging (in case of consciousness or sedation or persistent neurologic deficit) were defined as indicators of DCI (if not explained by other causes such as embolism during angiography). Other relevant known causes such as infection, seizure, and metabolic, or electrolyte disturbances were excluded before determination of DCI. Tests were carried out using SPSS® 21.

RESULTS

Baseline characteristics of the patients included is presented as supplemental data table (see Table S1 in Supplementary Material). Infectious complications occurred regularly with n = 8 (9.9%) at day 1, n = 27 (33.3%) at day 4, n = 38 (46.9%) at day 7, n = 36 (44.4%) at day 10, and n = 26 (32.1%) at day 14.

Interleukin 6

Serum course of IL6 differs from the pattern observed in CSF samples (**Figures 1B,C**). The peak of the measured serum level represents values obtained at day 1 after aSAH, whereas course of IL6 in CSF peaks somewhat later (at day 4) (**Figure 1A**). CSF values are far higher than serum levels (up to 10-fold). Of note, confidence intervals especially for serum values are huge due to the enormous variability of individual values.

Matrix Metallopeptidase 9

Matrix metallopeptidase 9 peaks earlier in CSF samples (at day 4) than in serum samples (at day 7) (**Figure 2**). Contrary to IL6, MMP9 is found in patients' serum in far higher concentrations then in CSF.

Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1

Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 is detectable in all of the acquired serum samples. In CSF samples, lower limit of detection

(6.3 ng/mL) was not reached in 45.8% (n = 22) of the samples. Highest value of CSF ICAM1 expression was 56.8 ng/mL. Of note, the peak of the course is observed at day 4 after aSAH (**Figure 3**). However, variability especially at day 4 is extraordinary high.

Leukemia Inhibitory Factor

Leukemia inhibitory factor was detected reliably in patients' CSF samples (LOD: 3.13 pg/mL). The course of LIF measured in CSF differs a lot from the one measured in serum samples (**Figure 4**): in CSF, a very early peak is observed followed by a rapid drop (**Figure 4A**). The assessed CSF levels are quite homogeneous demonstrated by low SDs. Serum levels of LIF are far lower (up to 10-fold) (**Figures 4B,C**).

CRP and Leukocyte Count

The levels of CRP and leukocyte count were only assessed in serum samples. Of note, courses of CRP and leukocyte count act almost inversely. At day 4 after aSAH CRP levels peaks (**Figure 5**), whereas leukocyte count shows its nadir (**Figure 6**).

Courses of Inflammatory Parameters Related to DCI

In 18 patients (22.2%), occurrence of DCI was detected (day 3: n = 1; day 4: n = 5; day 6: n = 2; day 7: n = 8; day 9: n = 1; day 10: n = 1). Comparing the courses of the assessed parameters related



FIGURE 1 | Time courses of interleukin 6 (IL6) in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) samples **[(A)**; IL6csf], serum samples of the patients with CSF samples **[(B)**; IL6serum], and all serum samples available **[(C)**; IL6serum all] and their 95% confidence interval are displayed. Differences between nadir and peak values assessed *via* Wilcoxon Rank Test: IL6serum: day 14 vs. day 1: p = 0.029; IL6csf: day 1 vs. day 4: p = 0.184.















day 1 vs. day 4: *p* < 0.0001.

to occurrence of DCI, no significant differences were detected (Mann–Whitney U test). Marginal significance was only seen for leukocyte count at day 4 (p = 0.054). Courses are provided in **Figure 7**.

Courses of Inflammatory Parameters Related to Fisher Scale Score

Courses of inflammatory parameters additionally were compared related to Fisher scale score. Grading according to Fisher scale score



FIGURE 6 | Time courses of leukocyte count in serum samples of the patients with cerebrospinal fluid samples **[(A)**; leukocyte countserum] and all serum samples available **[(B)**; leukocyte countserum all] and their 95% confidence interval are displayed. Differences between nadir and peak values assessed *via* Wilcoxon Rank Test: leukocyte count: day 4 vs. day 10: *p* < 0.0001.



was available for n = 81 patients [Fisher 1: n = 1 (1.2%); Fisher 2: n = 13 (16%); Fisher 3: n = 27 (33.3%); and Fisher 4: n = 40 (49.4%)]. For statistical purposes, Fisher grading was dichotomized according to severity of aSAH (Fisher A: Fisher 1 and 2; Fisher B: Fisher 3 and 4). Especially course of CRP was related to Fisher grading: the measured values significantly differed related to dichotomized Fisher scale score at day 1 (p = 0.019), day 4 (p = 0.001), and day 7 (p = 0.033; Mann–Whitney U test). Significant difference was also seen for serum IL6 at day 1 (p = 0.006) and day 4 (p = 0.002), further for serum LIF at day 7 (p = 0.038; Mann–Whitney U test). All courses are displayed in **Figure 8**.

Courses of Inflammatory Parameters Related to WFNS Scale Score

Courses of inflammatory parameters also have been related to the impact of hemorrhage expressed according to WFNS

scale score, which may reflect the EBI. The score was available for n = 81 patients [WFNS 1: n = 24 (29.6%); WFNS 2: n = 15(18.5%); WFNS 3: n = 5 (6.2%); WFNS 4: n = 14 (7.3%); WFNS 5: n = 23 (28.5%)]. Again, grading scale scores were dichotomized for statistical purposes (WFNS A: WFNS 1–3; WFNS B: WFNS 4 and 5). Particularly courses of IL6 levels were related to the impact of hemorrhage expressed according to WFNS scale score: significant differences of the values for the WFNS A vs. WFNS B group were found at day 1 (p = 0.001); day 7 (p = 0.007); day 10 (p = 0.010), and day 14 (p = 0.035; Mann–Whitney U test). From day 1 to 10, mean IL6 values in the WFNS A group were lower than in the WFNS B group, but at day 14 it changed to higher mean values in the WFNS A group compared with WFNS B.

Levels of CRP measured early after the impact of aSAH also were found to be related to WFNS scale score: at days 1 and 4 significantly higher values were seen in the WFNS B group



compared with the WFNS A group (day 1: p = 0.039; day 4: p = 0.034; Mann–Whitney *U* test).

No significant differences related to dichotomized WFNS scale score were found for leukocyte count, MMP9, LIF, and ICAM.

All courses are displayed in Figure 9.

DISCUSSION

Here, we illustrate the courses of several inflammatory parameters (IL6, MMP9, ICAM1, and LIF) in CSF and serum samples after aSAH, additionally courses of CRP and leukocyte count in serum. The levels of IL6 and LIF are far higher in CSF samples than in serum samples during the entire observation period, whereas MMP9 and ICAM1 were detected in higher concentrations in serum samples. The courses of CRP and leukocyte count nearly act inversely. Our evaluation of the measured values related to the occurrence of DCI illustrated the usual problem that the wide range of the measured values hampers their interpretation and usage as a biomarker. However, understanding the inflammatory response after aSAH and generating a database may facilitate further studies: realistic sample size calculations on the basis of a multicenter database will increase the quality and clinical relevance of the acquired results.

Interleukin 6 is a pleiotropic cytokine. Its secretion is induced by various stimuli (such as infectious disease, trauma, and other causes of tissue damage, but also during chronic conditions, e.g., depression or chronic pain). There are plenty of publications dealing with the influence of IL6 secretion after aSAH on outcome and occurrence of DCI (1, 2, 8, 10, 14, 16–19). Time courses of cytokine levels in CSF provided by us are similar to those illustrated by Niwa and colleagues (10), However, others



FIGURE 9 | Courses of serum inflammatory parameters related to dichotomized WFNS scale score (±95% confidence interval).

demonstrate a later peak (1, 20). In total, schedules for sampling acquisition differ a lot among the previously mentioned studies; thus, comparison of results or courses is hampered. Anyway, wide ranges of IL6 levels are seen in all of the studies. Of note, related to WFNS scale score IL6 levels were found to be indicators for injury's severity in our study. Nevertheless, the usage of IL6 as a biomarker is hampered by its non-specificity and its ambiguous effect showing both pro-inflammatory and destructive as well as regenerative aspects.

Higher levels of MMP9 have been associated with unfavorable outcome (21). Similar to our data, SDs (i.e., variance of measured values) are pronounced, and serum levels are more than 10-fold higher than the CSF levels.

The interpretation of ICAM1 in CSF samples is hampered by the LOD of the used assay, as the LOD was not reached in 45.8% of the samples. The ICAM1 CSF levels in our cohort are somewhat lower than those presented by Kaynar and colleagues (22), serum levels are similar. Nevertheless, comparison of time course is not possible due to different schedule for sample acquisition. Mack and colleagues also have presented ICAM1 serum levels over time after aSAH (23). Time courses seem to be similar; however, serum levels measured are slightly lower.

There are no previous data on LIF after aSAH. We demonstrate an early peak in CSF samples with far higher overall levels than in serum samples.

Leukocyte count and CRP levels have been associated with prognosis as well as vulnerability for DCI (5, 21, 24–27). Both parameters are unspecific and therefore not useful as biomarkers. Anyway, pronounced leukocytosis seems to reflect severity of disease and consecutively prognosis.

We present time courses of CSF and serum inflammatory parameters after aSAH. The results of the study are limited by the fact that time courses are displayed only descriptively. Furthermore, sample size of the presented data is quite low.

However, we estimate that mere description is useful to understand the complex inflammatory response after aSAH.

Due to their marginal specificity and wide interindividual range, inflammatory parameters hardly serve as biomarkers. Nevertheless, there is a distinct inflammatory response after aSAH, which includes a vast spectrum of parameters interacting with each other. Beneficial as well as damaging stimuli may result from the inflammatory reaction. The interactions of this reaction are poorly understood. As far as our experience goes, we hold that further illustration of courses and possible interactions of inflammatory reaction after aSAH is essential before associations with outcome or occurrence of DCI in search for a biomarker are promising. Generally, setting up multicenter databases to further illustrate and hopefully understand inflammatory response after aSAH has more prospect of success than searching for a single biomarker resulting in controversial, clinically irrelevant results. Furthermore, these data may lay the groundwork for further studies' realistic sample size calculations to create clinically relevant and reliable results. Thus, we encourage everyone involved in research of inflammation after aSAH to cooperate and build up networks to share acquired data.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of "Ethikkommission an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms Universität Bonn name of guidelines, name of committee" with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the local ethics committee (Ethikkommission an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Germany; EK 199/08).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AH conceived the study, analyzed the data, and wrote the preliminary draft. BS-W organized and supervised analysis of serum and CSF samples; assisted in interpretation of data. MV and HC participated in the analyses and helped to draft the manuscript. GS helped with data analyses and assisted the revision of the manuscript. MC participated in the design of the study and coordination and helped to draft the manuscript. All the authors read, revised, and approved the final manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur.2017.00694/ full#supplementary-material.

 TABLE S1 | Baseline characteristics of patients included.

REFERENCES

- Mathiesen T, Andersson B, Loftenius A, von Holst H. Increased interleukin-6 levels in cerebrospinal fluid following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (1993) 78(4):562–7. doi:10.3171/jns.1993.78.4.0562
- Muroi C, Hugelshofer M, Seule M, Tastan I, Fujioka M, Mishima K, et al. Correlation among systemic inflammatory parameter, occurrence of delayed neurological deficits, and outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* (2013) 72(3):367–75; discussion 375. doi:10.1227/ NEU.0b013e31828048ce
- Rothoerl RD, Axmann C, Pina AL, Woertgen C, Brawanski A. Possible role of the C-reactive protein and white blood cell count in the pathogenesis of cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage.

J Neurosurg Anesthesiol (2006) 18(1):68–72. doi:10.1097/01.ana.0000181693. 30750.af

- Tanriverdi T, Sanus GZ, Ulu MO, Tureci E, Uzun H, Aydin S, et al. Serum and cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of E-selectin in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Braz J Med Biol Res* (2005) 38(11):1703–10.
- Jeon YT, Lee JH, Lee HK, Hwang JW, Lim YJ, et al. The postoperative C-reactive protein level can be a useful prognostic factor for poor outcome and symptomatic vasospasm in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg Anesthesiol* (2012) 24(4):317–24. doi:10.1097/ANA. 0b013e31826047a2
- Triglia T, Mezzapesa A, Martin JC, Verdier M, Lagier D, Dufour H, et al. Early matrix metalloproteinase-9 concentration in the first 48 h after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage predicts delayed cerebral ischaemia:

an observational study. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* (2016) 33(9):662–9. doi:10.1097/ EJA.00000000000494

- McGirt MJ, Lynch JR, Blessing R, Warner DS, Friedman AH, Laskowitz DT. Serum von Willebrand factor, matrix metalloproteinase-9, and vascular endothelial growth factor levels predict the onset of cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* (2002) 51(5):1128–34; discussion 1134–25. doi:10.1097/00006123-200211000-00005
- Hollig A, Remmel D, Stoffel-Wagner B, Schubert GA, Coburn M, Clusmann H. Association of early inflammatory parameters after subarachnoid hemorrhage with functional outcome: a prospective cohort study. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2015) 138:177–83. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro.2015.08.030
- Schneider UC, Davids AM, Brandenburg S, Muller A, Elke A, Magrini S, et al. Microglia inflict delayed brain injury after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neuropathol (2015) 130(2):215–31. doi:10.1007/s00401-015-1440-1
- Niwa A, Osuka K, Nakura T, Matsuo N, Watabe T, Takayasu M. Interleukin-6, MCP-1, IP-10, and MIG are sequentially expressed in cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neuroinflammation* (2016) 13(1):217. doi:10.1186/s12974-016-0675-7
- Chaichana KL, Pradilla G, Huang J, Tamargo RJ. Role of inflammation (leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions) in vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *World Neurosurg* (2010) 73(1):22–41. doi:10.1016/j. surneu.2009.05.027
- Hanafy KA. The role of microglia and the TLR4 pathway in neuronal apoptosis and vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neuroinflammation* (2013) 10:83. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-83
- Terpolilli NA, Brem C, Buhler D, Plesnila N. Are we barking up the wrong vessels? Cerebral microcirculation after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2015) 46(10):3014–9. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.006353
- Chamling B, Gross S, Stoffel-Wagner B, Schubert GA, Clusmann H, Coburn M, et al. Early diagnosis of delayed cerebral ischemia: possible relevance for inflammatory biomarkers in routine clinical practice? World Neurosurg (2017) 104:152–7. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2017.05.021
- Hollig A, Thiel M, Stoffel-Wagner B, Coburn M, Clusmann H. Neuroprotective properties of dehydroepiandrosterone-sulfate and its relationship to interleukin 6 after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a prospective cohort study. *Crit Care* (2015) 19:231. doi:10.1186/s13054-015-0954-1
- McMahon CJ, Hopkins S, Vail A, King AT, Smith D, Illingworth KJ, et al. Inflammation as a predictor for delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoidhaemorrhage. *J Neurointerv Surg* (2013) 5(6):512–7. doi:10.1136/ neurintsurg-2012-010386
- Lenski M, Huge V, Briegel J, Tonn JC, Schichor C, Thon N. Interleukin 6 in the cerebrospinal fluid as a biomarker for onset of vasospasm and ventriculitis after severe subarachnoid hemorrhage. *World Neurosurg* (2017) 99:132–9. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2016.11.131
- Kao HW, Lee KW, Kuo CL, Huang CS, Tseng WM, Liu CS, et al. Interleukin-6 as a prognostic biomarker in ruptured intracranial aneurysms. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(7):e0132115. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0132115

- Nakahara T, Tsuruta R, Kaneko T, Yamashita S, Fujita M, Kasaoka S, et al. High-mobility group box 1 protein in CSF of patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2009) 11(3):362–8. doi:10.1007/s12028-009-9276-y
- Fassbender K, Hodapp B, Rossol S, Bertsch T, Schmeck J, Schutt S, et al. Inflammatory cytokines in subarachnoid haemorrhage: association with abnormal blood flow velocities in basal cerebral arteries. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2001) 70(4):534–7. doi:10.1136/jnnp.70.4.534
- Chou SH, Feske SK, Simmons SL, Konigsberg RG, Orzell SC, Marckmann A, et al. Elevated peripheral neutrophils and matrix metalloproteinase 9 as biomarkers of functional outcome following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Transl Stroke Res* (2011) 2(4):600–7. doi:10.1007/s12975-011-0117-x
- 22. Kaynar MY, Tanriverdi T, Kafadar AM, Kacira T, Uzun H, Aydin S, et al. Detection of soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in both cerebrospinal fluid and serum of patients after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2004) 101(6):1030–6. doi:10.3171/jns.2004.101.6.1030
- Mack WJ, Mocco J, Hoh DJ, Huang J, Choudhri TF, Kreiter KT, et al. Outcome prediction with serum intercellular adhesion molecule-1 levels after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2002) 96(1):71–5. doi:10.3171/ jns.2002.96.1.0071
- Juvela S, Kuhmonen J, Siironen J. C-reactive protein as predictor for poor outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir* (2012) 154(3):397–404. doi:10.1007/s00701-011-1243-7
- Badjatia N, Carpenter A, Fernandez L, Schmidt JM, Mayer SA, Claassen J, et al. Relationship between C-reactive protein, systemic oxygen consumption, and delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2011) 42(9):2436–42. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.614685
- Srinivasan A, Aggarwal A, Gaudihalli S, Mohanty M, Dhandapani M, Singh H, et al. Impact of early leukocytosis and elevated high-sensitivity C-reactive protein on delayed cerebral ischemia and neurologic outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *World Neurosurg* (2016) 90:91–5. doi:10.1016/j. wneu.2016.02.049
- Kasius KM, Frijns CJ, Algra A, Rinkel GJ. Association of platelet and leukocyte counts with delayed cerebral ischemia in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Cerebrovasc Dis* (2010) 29(6):576–83. doi:10.1159/000306645

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Höllig, Stoffel-Wagner, Clusmann, Veldeman, Schubert and Coburn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Heparin: The Silver Bullet of Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage?

Nicolas K. Khattar and Robert F. James*

Department of Neurological Surgery, University of Louisville School of Medicine, Louisville, KY, United States

Various neurological diseases have recently been associated with neuroinflammation and worsening outcomes. Subarachnoid hemorrhage has been shown to generate a potent neuroinflammatory response. Heparin is a potential effective anti-inflammatory agent to prevent initial injury as well as delayed neurological decline. Different mechanisms of action for heparin have been proposed including, but not limited to the binding and neutralization of oxyhemoglobin, decreased transcription and signal transduction of endothelin-1, inhibition of binding to vessel wall selectins and vascular leakage into the subarachnoid space as well as direct binding and neutralization of inflammatory molecules. With a reasonably safe side-effect profile, heparin has shown significant promise in small series in human studies of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage in decreasing both initial and delayed neurological injury. Further studies are needed to validate various neuroprotective features of heparin in subarachnoid hemorrhage as well as other disease states.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

J. Marc Simard, University of Maryland, Baltimore, United States

Reviewed by:

Jeanne Teitelbaum, McGill University, Canada Benjamin Aaron Emanuel, University of Southern California, United States

*Correspondence:

Robert F. James robert.james@louisville.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 09 September 2017 Accepted: 12 February 2018 Published: 27 March 2018

Citation:

Khattar NK and James RF (2018) Heparin: The Silver Bullet of Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage? Front. Neurol. 9:97. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00097 Keywords: unfractionated heparin, neuroprotection, neuroinflammation, subarachnoid hemorrhage, delayed neurological injury, vasospasm

INTRODUCTION

Neuroinflammation has been recently associated with worse functional outcomes in patients afflicted by a plethora of neurological diseases, but especially in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (aSAH) (1). Inflammation has been designated as a primary cytotoxic event affecting neurons in both acute and chronic neurological diseases. This has led to specific targeting of the inflammatory cascade (2). Unfractionated heparin (UFH) is a safe and commonly used anticoagulant in the treatment of deep venous thrombosis, pulmonary emboli, and other hypercoagulable conditions. In addition to its anticoagulant properties, UFH has been shown to have very promising significant neuroprotective anti-inflammatory properties, especially in association with subarachnoid hemorrhage (3–5). Studies have shown that heparin is prevalent in various invertebrates with no hematological system, indicating that its primary physiological role is not anticoagulation (6). Even though extrapolation to other species is not evident, the role of heparin is worth investigating. In this short review, we focus on the ever-expanding connection between heparin and neuroprotection in the setting of aSHA.

PROFILE: CHARACTERISTICS AND MECHANISM OF ACTION

Unfractionated heparin is a highly sulfated glycosaminoglycan polymer with the most negative charge of any biological molecule (7). Inflammatory mediators are generally positively charged and binding to the heparin molecule disturbs the biochemical and electrostatic microenvironment, effectively neutralizing the actions of these mediators (8). Particularly in hemorrhagic stroke, heparin is able
to bind to oxyhemoglobin and neutralize the toxic effects of free hemoglobin on other structures in the brain (9). Given the large size and uniform distribution of the negative charge along the protein, heparin can stoichiometrically bind four molecules of oxyhemoglobin, thereby quickly neutralizing the noxious effects of the oxygen free radicals on the endothelium as well as the brain parenchyma (9).

On the molecular level, heparin was found to have various neuroprotective interactions. It is able to decrease the transcription of endothelin-1 (ET-1) and the ET-1 promoter. In addition, heparin decreased the expression of the erythroid transcription factor family (GATA)-binding capacity, which is essential for ET-1 function in the endothelial cells (10, 11). ET-1 displays significant vasoconstrictive effects mediated in vascular smooth muscle cells through the epidermal growth factor, a ligand of EGFR, modulates its transactivation (12). Binding of heparin to the ligand prevents EGFR receptor transactivation and was found to dampen any peri-hemorrhagic vasoconstriction and further cerebral injury in both murine and human *in vitro* models (12, 13).

Heparin and its low-molecular weight derivatives are potent inhibitors of the adhesion molecules P- and L-selectin, which mediate leukocyte rolling, the initial event governing leukocyte transmigration from vessel walls into areas of inflammation (14, 15). These mechanisms mirror effects observed in cancer metastasis, where UFH (and not other anticoagulants) was able to decrease the speed of oncologic spread by inhibiting the selectins (15). This particular effect has been further explored in cancer research and has been shown to be potent with any type of adhesion molecules (galectins, integrins, etc.), in addition to being shown to be completely unrelated to the anticoagulant properties of heparin (16). All effects were preserved with modified 2- or 6-O desulfated, N-acetylated heparins in both the oncologic and neurovascular models (16, 17). Heparin was also found to bind all the pro-inflammatory molecules such as cytokines, chemokines, as well as mediators of inflammation such as elastase and major basic protein (18-20).

Translocation of inflammatory leukocytes into an injured area through vascular leakage is a hallmark of the initiation of the inflammatory response. Presence of leukocytes in the subarachnoid space is a specific marker of inflammation (21). The accepted mechanism of action of leukocyte extravasation is through interaction of cell glycoproteins with the selectin family of proteins, generally expressed on endothelial cells (22). Heparin has been shown to specifically decrease the number of leukocytes participating in the inflammatory response to any insult to the central nervous system (23, 24).

Prior studies have also shown that microthromboembolisms may have contributed to delayed neurological deficits, therefore possibly implicating the anticoagulation effect of heparin in the neuroprotective effects observed (25). This hypothesis has been demonstrated in experimental animal models of subarachnoid hemorrhage. Mice in the experimental group showed an increase in the number of microthrombi when compared with the sham group (26). On the other hand, the advent of modifications of heparin lacking the anticoagulation domains and showing anti-inflammatory neuroprotection provides some evidence to suggest microthromboemolisms do not represent the entire pathological picture of aSHA (27). A head-to-head comparison of both forms of heparin will need to be conducted to elucidate the roles of the various domains of heparin. The various proposed mechanisms of action of UFH are summarized in **Table 1**.

NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF HEPARIN IN SUBARACHNOID HEMORRHAGE

Some authors hypothesize that a combination of the hemorrhage volume, vasoparalysis, and decreased cerebrospinal fluid resorption associated with aSHA triggers an increase in intracranial pressure leading to significant transient ischemia. This has been considered by various authors to be the cause of the initial neurological injury following the ictus, especially when associated with loss of consciousness at presentation (28, 29). Heparin and its nonanticoagulant derivatives have been shown to effectively counter the initial injury in various rat models of ischemia/reperfusion mimicking the initial insult following aneurysmal rupture (27, 30). The caspase pathway is triggered in the initial phase of the injury of subarachnoid hemorrhage, especially given that activation of caspase 1 was first observed in ischemic stroke (31). Countering the early activation of caspases 1, 3, 8, 9, and 11 in global cerebral ischemia can prevent neurological devastation. Animal studies demonstrated a significant decrease in cleaved caspase 3 in samples obtained from subarachnoid hemorrhage animals that were

 TABLE 1 | Mechanisms of action of heparin to prevent delayed neurological injury associated with subarachnoid hemorrhage.

Direct chelation of hemoglobin in the subarachnoid space

 Heparin binds oxidized hemoglobin that is released from damaged erythrocytes. Oxyhemoglobin is believed to have a major role in the induction of vasospasm

Decreased free-radical release

 Heparin is able to directly bind to specific molecules and inhibit the formation of free radicals through the inhibition of various pro-inflammatory molecules that contribute to their formation

Inhibition of endothelin-1 (ET-1)

- Inhibition of mRNA transcription of ET-1
- Inhibition of transactivation of the epidermal growth factor receptor by binding of heparin to the specific ligand
- Suppression of release of intracellular calcium and inositol-triphosphate in addition to ET-1 release
- Inhibition of MAP-K and prevention of DNA synthesis induced by ET-1

Prevention of K⁺ channel down-regulation induced by oxyhemoglobin release

 Downregulation of potassium channels causes a depolarization of vascular smooth muscle cells, increased incidence of calcium influxes and increased activation causing increased vasoconstriction and neurological decline

Suppression of vascular smooth cell hyperplasia

 Smooth muscle and myofibroblast proliferation, associated with cell necrosis, lead to increased vasoconstriction, ischemia, and further neurological decline. Pathological proliferation of smooth muscle cells and neovascularization may prevent further progression of neurological injury

Inhibition of neuroinflammatory pathways

- Inhibition of the NF-kB pathway
- Binding of chemokines, cytokines, and other inflammatory proteins

given heparin pharmacotherapy. The downregulation of apoptotic effectors leads to decreased neuroinflammation, demyelination, and decreased burden of injury (32).

The evidence supporting heparin's anti-inflammatory role is further supported with evidence from traumatic brain injury (TBI) and chronic neurodegeneration research. Nagata et al. has shown that early administration of heparin is associated with a significant decrease in post-TBI inflammation and preservation of cognitive outcomes. These results were further supported by prior studies investigating the role of low-molecular weight fractionated heparin, enoxaparin (2, 23, 33-35). Human studies investigated the role of enoxaparin (low-molecular weight fractionated heparin) in aneurysmal SAH with mixed results (36, 37). There was a statistically significant reduction in delayed ischemia and vasospasm in the enoxaparin group in one trial but no obvious benefit in others (36, 37). A retrospective cohort study showed significant benefits of UFH in Fisher grade 3 subarachnoid hemorrhage patients (4). The patients in the heparin group had significantly less clinical and radiographic vasospasm, as well as a decrease in vasospasmrelated infarction. In addition, there were a significantly higher proportion of patients who were discharged home from the hospital, instead of having to be discharged to a rehabilitation facility (4). Human studies highlighting the neuroprotective effects of heparin in various disease states are summarized in Table 2.

In addition to the transient ischemia state associated with SAH, significant vasogenic edema and blood-brain barrier dysfunction plague this patient population and represent a dismal prognostic factor (39). Heparin has been shown to counter cerebral edema in general in various pathological states including but not limited to TBI, meningitis, ischemia, and intracerebral hemorrhages (23, 40–43). Various interactions in animal models have been reported between heparin and molecules specifically associated with cerebral edema (VEGF, bradykinin, etc.) but no proven connection linking the action of heparin on these molecules was proven.

These neuroprotective effects have been shown to correlate with a decrease in clinical vasospasm and a specific decrease in the delayed neurological injury, namely long-term cognitive decline following subarachnoid hemorrhage (32, 44, 45). Despite the fact that the number of patients included in these series remains limited; there is a positive trend and a budding interest in a closer

REFERENCES

- Xue M, Del Bigio MR. Intracerebral injection of autologous whole blood in rats: time course of inflammation and cell death. *Neurosci Lett* (2000) 283(3): 230–2. doi:10.1016/S0304-3940(00)00971-X
- Stutzmann J-MM, Mary V, Wahl F, Grosjean-Piot O, Uzan A, Pratt J. Neuroprotective profile of enoxaparin, a low molecular weight heparin, in in vivo models of cerebral ischemia or traumatic brain injury in rats: a review. *CNS Drug Rev* (2002) 8(1):1–30. doi:10.1111/j.1527-3458.2002.tb00213.x
- Lindahl U, Lidholt K, Spillmann D, Kjellen L. More to "heparin" than anticoagulation. *Thromb Res* (1994) 75(1):1–32. doi:10.1016/0049-3848(94)90136-8
- Simard JM, Aldrich EF, Schreibman D, James RF, Polifka A, Beaty N. Low-dose intravenous heparin infusion in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a preliminary assessment. *J Neurosurg* (2013) 119(6):1611–9. doi:10.3171/ 2013.8.JNS1337

 TABLE 2 | Human studies showing neuroprotection of heparin in various neurological injuries.

Prevention of delayed neurological injury following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage

- Low-dose IV heparin has been associated with a decrease in the rate of cerebral vasospasm (4)
- Low-dose IV heparin may be associated with improved cognitive outcomes and a decrease in delayed neurological deficits (38)

Prevention of neurological sequelae following traumatic brain injury (TBI)

- Early initiation of heparin therapy in TBI patients is associated with no neurological deterioration and decreased progression of injury on imaging (34)
- Prevention of metastasis in neoplasia
- Heparin has been associated with decrease/delay of metastasis in various cancers due to prevention of blood–brain barrier breakdown and spread of monoclonal cells into the central nervous system space (15)

correlation of heparin with improved cognitive outcomes. One such effort is the Aneurysmal Subarachnoid hemorrhage Trial RandOmizing Heparin, a Phase II multi-center randomized trial, studying the effects of low-dose intravenous heparin infusion on 90-day cognitive outcomes using the Montreal Cognitive Assessment test. Enrollment is expected to be complete in December 2018 (NCT02501434).

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Heparin is today a venerable, ever-young drug that has not ceased to bewilder and amaze. With its seemingly ubiquitous properties, heparin seems to show promise in various neuropathologies, with a predictable and manageable side-effect profile. Further research is needed to establish heparin as a completely safe and effective intervention in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. Together, with its success in other experimental neurological insults such as TBI, stroke, meningitis, cancer, etc., heparin seems to be emerging as a potential silver bullet for mitigating the delayed neurological injury commonly seen after aSHA.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RJ designed the concept of the review. NK conducted the review, compiled the information, and drafted the initial manuscript. Both authors critically reviewed and approved the final version of the manuscript.

- Lever R, Page CP. Novel drug development opportunities for heparin. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2002) 1(2):140. doi:10.1038/nrd724
- Medeiros GF, Mendes A, Castro RA, Bau EC, Nader HB, Dietrich CP. Distribution of sulfated glycosaminoglycans in the animal kingdom: widespread occurrence of heparin-like compounds in invertebrates. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2000) 1475(3):287–94. doi:10.1016/S0304-4165(00)00079-9
- Hirsh J, Anand SS, Halperin JL, Fuster V. Mechanism of action and pharmacology of unfractionated heparin. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2001) 21(7): 1094–6. doi:10.1161/hq0701.093686
- Young E. The anti-inflammatory effects of heparin and related compounds. *Thromb Res* (2008) 122(6):743–52. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2006.10.026
- Amiconi G, Zolla L, Vecchini P, Brunori M, Antonini E. The effect of macromolecular polyanions on the functional properties of human hemoglobin. *Eur J Biochem* (1977) 76(2):339–43. doi:10.1111/j.1432-1033.1977. tb11601.x

- Yokokawa K, Mandal AK, Kohno M, Horio T, Murakawa K, Yasunari K, et al. Heparin suppresses endothelin-1 action and production in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Am J Physiol* (1992) 263(5 Pt 2):R1035–41.
- Kuwahara-Watanabe K, Hidai C, Ikeda H, Aoka Y, Ichikawa K, Iguchi N, et al. Heparin regulates transcription of endothelin-1 gene in endothelial cells. *J Vasc Res* (2005) 42(3):183–9. doi:10.1159/000084656
- Chansel D, Ciroldi M, Vandermeersch S, Jackson LF, Gomez AM, Henrion D, et al. Heparin binding EGF is necessary for vasospastic response to endothelin. *FASEB J* (2006) 20(11):1936–8. doi:10.1096/fj.05-5328fje
- Kalmes A, Vesti BR, Daum G, Abraham JA, Clowes AW. Heparin blockade of thrombin-induced smooth muscle cell migration involves inhibition of epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor transactivation by heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor. *Circ Res* (2000) 87(2):92–8. doi:10.1161/01.RES.87.2.92
- Koenig A, Norgard-Sumnicht K, Linhardt R, Varki A. Differential interactions of heparin and heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycans with the selectins. Implications for the use of unfractionated and low molecular weight heparins as therapeutic agents. J Clin Invest (1998) 101(4):877–89. doi:10.1172/JCI1509
- Stevenson JL, Choi SH, Varki A. Differential metastasis inhibition by clinically relevant levels of heparins – correlation with selectin inhibition, not antithrombotic activity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11(19 Pt 1):7003–11. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1131
- Cassinelli G, Naggi A. Old and new applications of non-anticoagulant heparin. Int J Cardiol (2016) 212:S14–21. doi:10.1016/S0167-5273(16)12004-2
- Duckworth CA, Guimond SE, Sindrewicz P, Hughes AJ, French NS, Lian LY, et al. Chemically modified, non-anticoagulant heparin derivatives are potent galectin-3 binding inhibitors and inhibit circulating galectin-3-promoted metastasis. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(27):23671–87. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.4409
- Najjam S, Gibbs RV, Gordon MY, Rider CC. Characterization of human recombinant interleukin 2 binding to heparin and heparan sulfate using an ELISA approach. *Cytokine* (1997) 9(12):1013–22. doi:10.1006/cyto.1997.0246
- Hasan M, Najjam S, Gordon MY, Gibbs RV, Rider CC. IL-12 is a heparin-binding cytokine. J Immunol (1999) 162(2):1064–70.
- Spencer JL, Stone PJ, Nugent MA. New insights into the inhibition of human neutrophil elastase by heparin. *Biochemistry* (2006) 45(30):9104–20. doi:10.1021/bi060338r
- Xu HL, Garcia M, Testai F, Vetri F, Barabanova A, Pelligrino DA, et al. Pharmacologic blockade of vascular adhesion protein-1 lessens neurologic dysfunction in rats subjected to subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Brain Res* (2014) 1586:83–9. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2014.08.036
- 22. McEver RP. Selectins: initiators of leucocyte adhesion and signalling at the vascular wall. *Cardiovasc Res* (2015) 107(3):331–9. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvv154
- Nagata K, Browne KD, Suto Y, Kumasaka K, Cognetti J, Johnson VE, et al. Early heparin administration after TBI: prolonged cognitive recovery associated with reduced cerebral edema and neutrophil sequestration. J Trauma Acute Care Surg (2017) 83(3):406–12. doi:10.1097/TA.000000000001590
- Lee JH, Kim CH, Seo GH, Lee J, Kim JH, Kim DG, et al. Heparin attenuates the expression of TNFalpha-induced cerebral endothelial cell adhesion molecule. *Korean J Physiol Pharmacol* (2008) 12(5):231–6. doi:10.4196/kjpp.2008.12.5.231
- Sabri M, Ai J, Lakovic K, D'Abbondanza J, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL. Mechanisms of microthrombi formation after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neuroscience* (2012) 224:26–37. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.08.002
- Sabri M, Ai J, Lakovic K, Macdonald RL. Mechanisms of microthrombosis and microcirculatory constriction after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (2013) 115:185–92. doi:10.1007/978-3-7091-1192-5_35
- Mocco J, Shelton CE, Sergot P, Ducruet AF, Komotar RJ, Otten ML, et al. O-desulfated heparin improves outcome after rat cerebral ischemia/ reperfusion injury. *Neurosurgery* (2007) 61(6):1297–303; discussion 303–4. doi:10.1227/01.neu.0000306109.55174.e6
- Wang J, Alotaibi NM, Akbar MA, Ayling OG, Ibrahim GM, Macdonald RL, et al. Loss of consciousness at onset of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage is associated with functional outcomes in good-grade patients. *World Neurosurg* (2017) 98:308–13. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2016.10.099
- Suwatcharangkoon S, Meyers E, Falo C, Schmidt JM, Agarwal S, Claassen J, et al. Loss of consciousness at onset of subarachnoid hemorrhage as an important marker of early brain injury. *JAMA Neurol* (2016) 73(1):28–35. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.3188
- Quartermain D, Li YS, Jonas S. The low molecular weight heparin enoxaparin reduces infarct size in a rat model of temporary focal ischemia. *Cerebrovasc Dis* (2003) 16(4):346–55. doi:10.1159/000072556

- 31. Friedlander RM, Gagliardini V, Hara H, Fink KB, Li W, MacDonald G, et al. Expression of a dominant negative mutant of interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme in transgenic mice prevents neuronal cell death induced by trophic factor withdrawal and ischemic brain injury. *J Exp Med* (1997) 185(5):933–40. doi:10.1084/jem.185.5.933
- 32. Simard JM, Tosun C, Ivanova S, Kurland DB, Hong C, Radecki L, et al. Heparin reduces neuroinflammation and transsynaptic neuronal apoptosis in a model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Transl Stroke Res* (2012) 3(Suppl 1): 155–65. doi:10.1007/s12975-012-0166-9
- 33. Corrigan F, Thornton E, Roisman LC, Leonard AV, Vink R, Blumbergs PC, et al. The neuroprotective activity of the amyloid precursor protein against traumatic brain injury is mediated via the heparin binding site in residues 96–110. J Neurochem (2014) 128(1):196–204. doi:10.1111/jnc.12391
- Kim L, Schuster J, Holena DN, Sims CA, Levine J, Pascual JL. Early initiation of prophylactic heparin in severe traumatic brain injury is associated with accelerated improvement on brain imaging. *J Emerg Trauma Shock* (2014) 7(3):141–8. doi:10.4103/0974-2700.136846
- Župan Ž, Pilipović K, Dangubić B, Frković V, Šustić A, Župan G. Effects of enoxaparin in the rat hippocampus following traumatic brain injury. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry (2011) 35(8):1846–56. doi:10.1016/j. pnpbp.2011.08.005
- Siironen J, Juvela S, Varis J, Porras M, Poussa K, Ilveskero S, et al. No effect of enoxaparin on outcome of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *J Neurosurg* (2003) 99(6):953–9. doi:10.3171/jns.2003.99.6.0953
- Wurm G, Tomancok B, Nussbaumer K, Adelwohrer C, Holl K. Reduction of ischemic sequelae following spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage: a double-blind, randomized comparison of enoxaparin versus placebo. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2004) 106(2):97–103. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro.2004.01.006
- Robert FJ, Khattar N, Aljuboori Z, Page P, Shao EY, Carter LM, et al. Continuous infusion of low-dose unfractionated heparin after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a preliminary study of cognitive outcomes. *J Neurosurg* (2018) (in press).
- Hayman EG, Wessell A, Gerzanich V, Sheth KN, Simard JM. Mechanisms of global cerebral edema formation in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2017) 26(2):301–10. doi:10.1007/s12028-016-0354-7
- Li S, Eisenstadt R, Kumasaka K, Johnson VE, Marks J, Nagata K, et al. Does enoxaparin interfere with HMGB1 signaling after TBI? A potential mechanism for reduced cerebral edema and neurologic recovery. J Trauma Acute Care Surg (2016) 80(3):381. doi:10.1097/TA.000000000000935
- 41. Li PA, He QP, Siddiqui MM, Shuaib A. Posttreatment with low molecular weight heparin reduces brain edema and infarct volume in rats subjected to thrombotic middle cerebral artery occlusion. *Brain Res* (1998) 801(1–2):220–3. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(98)00559-9
- 42. Xi G, Wagner KR, Keep RF, Hua Y, de Courten-Myers GM, Broderick JP, et al. Role of blood clot formation on early edema development after experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke* (1998) 29(12):2580–6. doi:10.1161/01. STR.29.12.2580
- 43. Weber JR, Angstwurm K, Rosenkranz T, Lindauer U, Freyer D, Burger W, et al. Heparin inhibits leukocyte rolling in pial vessels and attenuates inflammatory changes in a rat model of experimental bacterial meningitis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (1997) 17(11):1221–9. doi:10.1097/00004647-199711000-00011
- 44. Simard JM, Schreibman D, Aldrich EF, Stallmeyer B, Le B, James RF, et al. Unfractionated heparin: multitargeted therapy for delayed neurological deficits induced by subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2010) 13(3):439–49. doi:10.1007/s12028-010-9435-1
- James RF, Kramer DR, Aljuboori ZS, Parikh G, Adams SW, Eaton JC, et al. Novel treatments in neuroprotection for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Curr Treat Options Neurol* (2016) 18(8):38. doi:10.1007/s11940-016-0421-6

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Khattar and James. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Neuroinflammation as a Target for Intervention in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage

Airton Leonardo de Oliveira Manoel^{1,2*} and R. Loch Macdonald³

¹ Adult Critical Care Unit, Hospital Paulistano – United Health Group, São Paulo, Brazil, ² Keenan Research Center for Biomedical Science, Department of Surgery, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ³ Division of Neurosurgery, St. Michael's Hospital, Labatt Family Centre of Excellence in Brain Injury and Trauma Research, Keenan Research Centre for Biomedical Science, Department of Surgery, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is a sub-type of hemorrhagic stroke associated with the highest rates of mortality and long-term neurological disabilities. Despite the improvement in the management of SAH patients and the reduction in case fatality in the last decades, disability and mortality remain high in this population. Brain injury can occur immediately and in the first days after SAH. This early brain injury can be due to physical effects on the brain such as increased intracranial pressure, herniations, intracerebral, intraventricular hemorrhage, and hydrocephalus. After the first 3 days, angiographic cerebral vasospasm (ACV) is a common neurological complication that in severe cases can lead to delayed cerebral ischemia and cerebral infarction. Consequently, the prevention and treatment of ACV continue to be a major goal. However, most treatments for ACV are vasodilators since ACV is due to arterial vasoconstriction. Other targets also have included those directed at the underlying biochemical mechanisms of brain injury such as inflammation and either independently or as a consequence, cerebral microthrombosis, cortical spreading ischemia, blood-brain barrier breakdown, and cerebral ischemia. Unfortunately, no pharmacologic treatment directed at these processes has yet shown efficacy in SAH. Enteral nimodipine and the endovascular treatment of the culprit aneurysm, remain the only treatment options supported by evidence from randomized clinical trials to improve patients' outcome. Currently, there is no intervention directly developed and approved to target neuroinflammation after SAH. The goal of this review is to provide an overview on anti-inflammatory drugs tested after aneurysmal SAH.

Keywords: neuroinflammation, subarachnoid hemorrhage, early brain injury, secondary brain injury, vasospasm, delayed cerebral ischemia

INTRODUCTION

Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is a complex cerebrovascular disease with profound systemic complications (1-3). Despite the advances achieved in the management of those patients, high disability and mortality rates continue to devastate this patients' population (4).

Aneurysm rebleeding is the most threatening early neurological complication and usually occurs in the first 24 h after the initial hemorrhage (5, 6). However, delayed cerebral ischemia (DCI) remains the major cause of morbidity and mortality among patients who survive after repair of the ruptured aneurysm (7, 8).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Testai, University of Illinois at Chicago, United States

Reviewed by:

Adel Helmy, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom Elisa R. Zanier, Istituto Di Ricerche Farmacologiche Mario Negri, Italy

*Correspondence:

Airton Leonardo de Oliveira Manoel airtonleo.manoel@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 15 February 2018 Accepted: 16 April 2018 Published: 02 May 2018

Citation:

de Oliveira Manoel AL and Macdonald RL (2018) Neuroinflammation as a Target for Intervention in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Front. Neurol. 9:292. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00292

75

For decades, angiographic cerebral vasospasm (ACV), a common neuroradiological finding after SAH, has been proposed as the primary cause of DCI and DCI-related cerebral infarction (9). In turn, severe angiographic vasospasm can cause DCI and DCI-related cerebral infarction, which made the prevention and treatment of ACV a major target in the management of SAH. Crowley et al. analyzed 381 patients who were part of a randomized clinical trial and all of whom underwent serial CT scanning and angiography (10). Angiographic vasospasm was graded as none/mild (209, 55%), moderate (118, 31%), or severe (54, 14%). Delayed cerebral infarctions occurred in 3% of those with no/mild, 10% with moderate, and 46% with severe vasospasm. The data also show that a minority of patients can develop DCI without ACV (10). Angiographic vasospasm occurs in approximately 70% of patients during the first 2 weeks after SAH, but the incidence of DCI is only around 30% (7). Some patients with severe ACV do not develop ischemia or infarction for the same reasons that a patient with a carotid artery occlusion may not, which includes (a) the recruitment of collateral blood flow through the anterior and posterior communicating arteries (i.e., the primary collateral pathway), or through the ophthalmic artery and leptomeningeal vessels (i.e., the secondary collateral pathway) (11, 12) and (b) the cerebral vasoreactivity status (i.e., intact versus impaired) (13). In addition, patients may develop cerebral infarction in vascular territories that are not affected by ACV (14, 15). Moreover, enteral nimodipine is the only pharmacological treatment shown to improve functional outcome, despite the fact that it does not lead to marked cerebral vasodilation (16, 17).

Also, a meta-analysis that included 14 randomized controlled trials in SAH, involving 4,235 patients, showed that the tested drugs significantly reduced angiographic vasospasm, but clinical outcomes remained unaffected (18).

Because of the failure of several pharmacological trials and the dissociation between vasospasm-related morbidity and functional outcomes, other possible mechanisms, such as early brain injury, cortical spreading ischemia, microthrombosis, cerebral autoregulation impairment, and capillary transit time heterogeneity, are thought to play a role in the pathophysiology of DCI and DCI-related cerebral infarction (1, 3, 19, 20). These additional mechanisms tend to be more difficult to assess clinically and the dissociation mentioned above could also be due to drug toxicity and off-target effects, effects of rescue therapy, inadequate trial sample size and other trial design problems, and testing of only one dose and dose regimen.

Another common biochemical mechanism after brain injury is neuroinflammation, which may also contribute to many of the causes of brain damage after SAH. Subarachnoid blood and subsequent hemoglobin degradation can in turn trigger the inflammatory cascade, which also develops in the brain probably secondary to ischemia, blood-brain barrier breakdown, and such. There is an increasing interest in the understanding of the role of neuroinflammation in the pathophysiology of DCI and other severe complications after SAH.

The main goal of this review article is to summarize the concept of neuroinflammation following SAH, and its potential contribution to ACV, DCI, and systemic complications. We also address the possible benefits of targeting the inflammatory cascade after aneurysmal SAH. Finally, we review studies of drugs directed at neuroinflammation after SAH (**Table 1**).

SEARCH STRATEGY

A PubMed search was performed from inception to November 2017 for articles published in English by using the terms "SubarachnoidHemorrhage" [Mesh] AND ("Neuroinflammation" [Title/Abstract] OR "inflammation" [Title/Abstract]). A total of 272 articles were found, including 155 articles on human subjects. The authors' own databases additionally were used as a source for this review article. This review was limited to studies in humans, because the literature on experimental animal models is vast, and it is beyond the scope of this article.

DCI and Angiographic Vasospasm

The majority of patients (approximately 70%) develop some radiological degree of vasospasm between 3 and 14 days after a single SAH (9). However, only 30% of those will progress to develop DCI and even fewer to delayed cerebral infarction (15, 34). While ACV is an important contributor to DCI, there is evidence that other processes are involved (1, 3, 35-38).

Two major neurological consequences of aneurysmal SAH are currently described, early brain injury and ACV/DCI. Early brain injury refers to the acute effects of aneurysm rupture. Arterialized blood flows into the subarachnoid space, which suddenly increases the intracranial pressure. Consequently, the cerebral perfusion pressure is acutely reduced leading to a reduction in cerebral blood flow that produces global cerebral ischemia. Clinically, the phenomenon is characterized by transient loss of consciousness that can progress to intracranial circulatory arrest in severe cases (39, 40). There also are probably effects from the subarachnoid blood as well as brain injury from other physical and biochemical processes. Ischemia with its associated cell death causes influx of inflammatory cells, activation of microglia and neuroinflammation. Patients who survive the initial hemorrhage are at risk of DCI that is the main determinant of unfavorable outcome after SAH (41). DCI is a clinical syndrome characterized by "the occurrence of focal neurological impairment (such as hemiparesis, aphasia, apraxia, hemianopia, or neglect) and/or a decrease of at least two points on the Glasgow coma scale (either on the total score or on one of its individual components, such as eye, motor on either side, or verbal) (7). This should last for at least 1 h, is not apparent immediately after aneurysm occlusion, and cannot be attributed to other causes by means of clinical assessment, computed tomographic, or magnetic resonance imaging of the brain and appropriate laboratory studies". The pathophysiology of DCI is multifactorial and remains to be completely elucidated, however, it is hypothesized that ACV is one if not the primary contributor, along with cortical spreading ischemia, impaired cerebral autoregulation and microcirculation constriction, microthrombosis, capillary transit time heterogeneity, and neuroinflammation (1, 3, 35-38, 42). The risk of DCI is increased by the amount of subarachnoid blood (i.e., the volume, density, and persistence of blood in the subarachnoid space) (43-45);

Drug	Design	Dose	Patients	Outcome	Mechanism of action	Conclusion
Cyclosporin A (21)	Prospective cohort study	Loading dose of 7.5 mg/kg Nine patients w Maintenance: enteral administration Fisher Grade 3 every 12 h for two doses, to maintain levels of 50–400 ng/kg	Nine patients with Fisher Grade 3	GOS at 6 months	Prevent vasospasm, inhibit IL-2 production, and prevent T-cell dysfunction	CycA proved safe to use but failed to prevent the development of cerebral vasospasm or delayed ischemic deficits in patients considered at high risk
Cyclosporin A (22)	Randomized clinical trial	Cyclosporine A orally 6–9 mg/kg/ day to maintain level of cyclosporine in the blood at 100–400 ng/ml	25 patients (9 received treatment)	Neurological state	Prevent vasospasm, inhibit IL-2 production, and prevent T-cell dysfunction	Patients freated with early clipping (up to 72 h after SAH) plus cyclosporine A had significantly better "neurological outcome" than controls
Methylprednisolone (23)	Case-control study	 Methylprednisolone started within 3 days following the tapering regimen: - 30 mg/kg q6h × 12. 15 mg/kg q6h × 4, and 1.5 BID × 2 BID × 2 - 30 mg/kg before aneurysm operation 	42 patients (21 received treatment)		Corticosteroids have multiple anti- inflammatory actions, mostly on chronic inflammation	
Methylprednisolone (24)	Double-blind, placebo- controlled, randomized trial	Methylprednisolone 16 mg/kg IV every day for 3 days (started within 6 h after angiographic diagnosis of aneurysm rupture), or placebo	95 patients	Symptomatic vasospasm ^a mRS in living patients GOS at 1 year after SAH, in all patients	Corticostercids have multiple anti- inflammatory actions, mostly on chronic inflammation	The treatment did not reduce the incidence of <i>symptomatic</i> vasospasm but improved functional outcome
Hydrocortisone (25)	Double-blind, placebo- controlled, randomized trial	Hydrocortisone 3 g IV BID, repeated 6 times	140 patients, 71 patients who received hydrocortisone	Mental, speech, and motor function	Hydrocortisone reduces vascular sensitivity to various vasoconstrictive stimuli. It inhibits phospholipase to reduce production of prostaglandins. It stabilizes the cell membrane and prevents cerebral edema	Patients who received hydrocortisone showed improvement in mental, speech, and motor function
Dexamethasone (26)	A propensity score analysis	Dexamethasone 4 mg q6h, then tapering down by 1 mg per dose every 24 h until discontinuation	309 patients, 101 (33%) received treatment	Unfavorable outcome (mRS > 3)		Dexamethasone was associated with a significant reduction in mRS >3, but its use had no association with DCI or infection
Simvastatin (1, 27)	Mete-analysis	Simvastatin 40 or 80 mg/day up to 21 days	Six randomized clinical trials, including 1,053 patients	Delayed ischemic deficit and delayed cerebral infarction	Neuroprotection independent of cholesterol reduction and exclusively associated with upregulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase	No effect on delayed ischemic deficit, delayed cerebral infarction, mRS ≤2, vasospasm, ICU stay, hospital stay, and mortality
						(Continued)

Frontiers in Neurology | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 1 Continued						
Drug	Design	Dose	Patients	Outcome	Mechanism of action	Conclusion
Acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin), ADP P2Y1₂ receptor antagonists (thienopyridines), and thromboxane synthase inhibitors (28)	Meta-analysis	Multiple regimens ^b	Seven randomized clinical trials, including 1,385 patients	Poor outcome (death, or dependence on help for activities of daily living)	Aspirin exerts its antiplatelet activity by the irreversible inhibition of COX-1 enzyme, thereby blocking the formation of thromboxane A2 in the platelets Because aspirin block the COX- 1 enzyme, which decreases prostaglandin synthesis, leading to an anti-inflammatory effect Thienopyridines are ADP P2Y ₁₂ receptor antagonists (e.g., ticlopicine) that inhibit the intracellular pathways leading to platelet activation	No effect on case fatality, aneurysmal rebleeding, poor outcome, secondary brain ischemia, and intracranial hemorrhagic complications. Ticlopidine was the sole antiplatelet agents associated with a significant reduction in the occurrences of a poor outcome (RR 0.37, 95% CI 95% CI 0.14–0.98), however, this result was based on one small RCT
Non-steroidal anti- inflammatory (29)	A propensity score- matched study	Multiple regimens not described ^e	 Patients were matched received non-steroidal anti- inflammatory drug (NSAIDs), did not] 	Clinical outcomes included 6-week mortality, 12-week modified Pankin scale (mRS) score, DCI, and delayed ischemic neurological deficit (DIND)	NSAIDs inhibit COX, which decreases prostaglandin synthesis; ibuprofen inhibits expression of endothelial adhesion molecules and reduces subarachnoid inflammation	No significant difference in functional outcome, in the development of DINDs, anglographic vasospasm, or need for rescue therapy
Clazosentan (19)	Meta-analysis	Multiple regimens ^d	Four randomized clinical trials, including a total of 2,181 patients	Glasgow Outcome Scale- extended and mortality	Synthetic endothelin A receptor antagonist, with reduction of anglographic vasospasm	Clazosentan had a significant impact in the reduction of DINDs and delayed cerebral infarction. However, functional outcomes or mortality were unaffected Side effects, such as hypotension, anemia, and pulmonary complications may have reduced the beneficial effects of the drug
Cilostazol (3.0)	Randomized, single- blind study		109 patients undergoing clipping of ruptured aneurysms		Selective phosphodiesterase III inhibitor, which inhibits platelets through an increase in intraplatelet cAMP levels. It has an antithrombotic, vascollatory, anti-smooth muscle proliferation, and cardiac inotropic and chronotropic effects. Clostazol also exhibits anti- inflammatory properties including inhibiting microglial activation	A multicenter randomized clinical trial of cilostazol has shown a decrease in angiographic vasospasm but no improvement in outcomes 6 months after SAH. Clostazol significantly reduced angiographic vasospasm, DCI and cerebral infarction but had no effect on outcome
						(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued						
Drug	Design	Dose	Patients	Outcome	Mechanism of action	Conclusion
Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) (31)	A small Phase II, double-blind, randomized controlled study	IL-1Pa (500 mg bolus, then a 10 mg/kg/h infusion for 24 h)	13 patients, 6 patients received IL-1Ra	Primary outcome: change in CSF IL-6 between 6 and 24 h	IL-1Ra limits brain injury in experimental stroke and reduces plasma inflammatory mediators associated with poor outcome	IL-1Ra appears safe in SAH patients. The concentration of IL-6 was lowered to the degree expected, in both CSF and plasma for patients treated with IL-1Ra. This did not reach statistical significance
Dual antiplatelet therapy (aspirin + clopidogrel) (32)	Single conter retrospective study	Not described	161 patients (85 patients received)	Frequency of symptomatic clinical vasospasm and DCI and of hemorrhagic complications	Aspirin has an anti-inflammatory and antiplatelet effect thorough the blockade of COX-1 enzyme Clopidogrel is an antiplatelet agent (ADP P2Y ₁₂ receptor antagonists)	The use of DAPT was associated with a lower risk of clinical vasospasm and DCl in patients treated for SAH, without an increased risk of hemorrhagic complications
Albumin (33)	Open-label, dose- escalation, Phase I pilot study	Tiler 1 = 0.625 g/kg Tiler 2 = 1.25 g/kg Tiler 3 = 1.875 g/kg Tiler 4 = 2.5 g/kg The treatment was used for 7 days	47 patients received treatment 20 in Tier 1, 20 in Tier 2, and 7 in Tier 3	This was a dose-escalation study; therefore, the maximum tolerated dose of albumin was established. Tolerability was based on the rate of severe-to-life- threatening heart failure and anaphylactic reaction. Also, functional outcome at 3 months was assessed	This was a dose-escalation Antioxidant and scavenger study; therefore, the properties maximum tolerated dose Modulate apoptosis Enhance of albumin was established. Microcirculatory blood flow he rate of severe-to-life- and anaphylactic reaction. Inflammatory response Also, functional outcome at 3 months was assessed	Doses up to 1.25 g/kg/ day x 7 days were well tolerated. Functional outcome trended toward better responses in those subjects enrolled in Tier 2 compared with Tier 1 (OR, 3.0513; Cl, 0.6586–14.1367)
*Symptomatic vasospasm (DIN *Suppositories of 100 mg ASA dipyridamole 100 mg/day orali, immediately after surgery; cata cata 'Salicytates (aspirin), propionic "GOS, Glasgow outcome scon	VDs associated with angiogn. I for 21 days after surgeny: A, y or 10 mg/day intravenously tolot 1 µg/kg/min via continu, acid denvatives ([buprofen, r acid denvatives ([buprofen, r e, mRS, modified Rankin sca	⁶ Symptomatic vasospasm (DNDs associated with angiographic arterial narrowing or accelerated flow on TCD, or both). ⁶ Suppositories of 100 mg ASA for 21 days after surgery. ASA 300 mg wice daily or rectal retention enema, starting 72 h after admission, before surgery; ticlopidine 100 mg 3 times a day orally for 2 weeks after the hemorthage; ⁶ Suppositories of 100 mg/day orally intravenously starting immediately after admission; first group 80 mg OKY-046 per day, second group 400 mg OKY-046 per day, by continuous infusion until 10–14 days, starting dipyridamole 100 mg/day orally or 10 mg/day intravenously starting immediately after admission; first group 80 mg OKY-046 per day, by continuous infusion until 10–14 days, starting dipyridamole surgery; cataclot 1 µg/kg/min via continuous infusion, starting after surgery continued for 8–14 days; Suppositories with 100 mg ASA once daily, starting after surgery for 14 days. ^c salicytates (appin), propionic acid derivatives (ilpuprofen, naproxen), acetic acid derivatives (indomethacin, ketorolac, diclofenac), enolic acid derivatives (meloxigen cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors {-coxib's}), ⁶ GOS, Glasgow outcome score; mRS, modified Rankin scale, DCI, delayed cerebral ischemia; COX, cyclooxygenase; SAH, subarachnoid hemorrhage; CSF, cerebral spinal fluid.	ow on TCD, or both), ention enema, starting 7 st group 80 mg OKY-04 ued for 8-14 days; Sup ethacin, ketorolac, diclo ć, cyclooxygenase; SAH,	2 h after admission, before surg 6 per day, second group 400 m oositories with 100 mg ASA onc fenac), enolic acid derivatives (r subarachnoid hemorrhage, CS)	ery: ticlopidine 100 mg 3 times a day o 9 OKY-046 per day, by continuous infu, e daily, starting after surgery for 14 day eloxicam), and selective cyclooxygena; c cerebral spinal fluid.	raily for 2 weeks after the hemorrhage: sion until 10–14 days, starting se-2 inhibitors (-coxib's).

by the initial level of consciousness (i.e., early brain injury) (46, 47); and by factors that alter the relationship between the brain oxygen/glucose supply and demand (1).

Inflammation as an Additional Contributor to DCI

There is recent evidence suggesting that neuroinflammation may play an important role in the damage of cerebral cells after SAH (42, 48). The products of erythrocyte degradation in the subarachnoid space lead to the accumulation of hemoglobin and its products (i.e., methemoglobin, heme, and hemin), which activate toll-like receptor 4, initiating the inflammatory cascade. Microglia, the resident inflammatory cells in the central nervous system, are activated, which triggers the upregulation of a large number of endothelial adhesion molecules, allowing the inflammatory cells to reach the subarachnoid space (49). Macrophages and neutrophils, once in the subarachnoid space, start the process of phagocytosis of the product of degraded red cells, with the attempt of removing the extravascular hemoglobin, the process of which may promote neuronal healing (50). The clearance of hemoglobin from subarachnoid space depends on and is accelerated by the ligation of hemoglobin to haptoglobin. The complex hemoglobin/haptoglobin is than phagocyted by immune cells (51).

Macrophages and neutrophils are indispensable for the clearance of subarachnoid blood, however, they may become imprisoned within the subarachnoid space after the eventual reestablishment of the blood–brain barrier, and also because of the changes occurring in the cerebral spinal fluid (CSF) flow. The main problem with the entrapment of inflammatory cell in the subarachnoid space is that they suffer degranulation, releasing several inflammatory and vasoactive factors, such as endothelins. Also, these inflammatory and vasoactive factors are not restricted to the subarachnoid space, but generalized throughout the central nervous system, inducing cerebritis, aseptic meningitis, and cerebral vasoconstriction (50).

Monitoring Inflammation After SAH

Several methods exist to monitor systemic and neurological inflammation in the patients with SAH. They include classic systemic signs of inflammation such as fever, leukocytosis, and systemic inflammatory response (SIRS), as well as the evaluation of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the peripheral blood, CSF, and cerebral extracellular fluid (52).

Increased levels of inflammatory cytokines are found in the CSF, cerebral extracellular fluid, and blood of patients with SAH (53). Two sets of authors reviewed published data reporting biomarkers for assessing outcome after SAH (54, 55). Neuron and astrocyte proteins, cell adhesion proteins, and extracellular matrix molecules, vascular, coagulation, and cardiac proteins have all been measured in various studies of CSF and blood after SAH. Inflammatory substances in blood that have been shown to be elevated after SAH included C-reactive protein (CRP), tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α), and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist

(IL-1Ra) and IL-6 (IL-6). Elevated levels of TNF- α , IL-1Ra, IL-6, and IL-8 were also described in the CSF (56–58). IL-1Ra concentrations were measured in blood and were significantly higher after SAH than in controls, in poor-grade SAH patients compared to good grades and in patients who had unfavorable as compared to favorable outcome (56). DCI further increased the concentration of IL-1Ra.

In one study, CSF TNF- α concentrations increased between 4 and 10 days after SAH in patients with unfavorable outcome whereas they did not if there was favorable outcome (56). The same rough correlation of increased CSF TNF- α and unfavorable outcome was reported by other investigators (59). Similarly, CSF levels of IL-6 and IL-8 were shown to be significantly elevated in SAH patients compared to controls, and this elevation was associated with the development of symptomatic vasospasm between day 5 and 7 (58).

Subarachnoid increases in IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α may precede the hemodynamic abnormalities detected by transcranial Doppler and to be associated with the development of severe ACV diagnosed by transcranial Doppler ultrasound.

Elevated IL-6 levels also may be an early marker of DCI and unfavorable outcome. Muroi et al. showed in a cohort of 138 SAH patients that early elevation of IL-6 (days 3–7) was significantly associated with the occurrence of DCI and unfavorable outcome, after the adjustment for confounding factors such as infection and therapeutic hypothermia (60). In addition, elevated IL-6 levels detected in the cerebral extracellular fluid by cerebral microdialysis in patients of all grades predicted the occurrence of DCI in one study (61).

Complement system is another important component of inflammatory response after SAH. Complement activation and the formation of membrane attack complex contribute to the development of cerebral edema and the disruption in the blood– brain barrier. Interestingly, the process of complement activation and membrane attack complex formation is also implicated in the inflammation and degradation of the cerebral aneurysm wall, with consequent aneurysm rupture (62).

The complement activation in association with the formation of membrane attack complex may contribute to the development of angiographic vasospasm (63). In one study investigated the role of sequential measurement of serum complements (i.e., CH50, C3, C4) in the first 3 weeks of hemorrhage. Hunt and Hess grade was associated with C4 levels, and C4 levels were also markedly reduced in patients with severe angiographic vasospasm with neurological deficits (64).

Although, the measurement of cytokines and their receptors in the CSF, cerebral extracellular fluid, and blood seem to be feasible, their use remains experimental. Also, inflammation is the fundamental response of tissues to injury and is generally required for tissue healing. There are situations where inflammation is detrimental. Therefore, it is going to be very complex to determine which aspect of cerebral inflammation is beneficial or harmful (52). More adequate, well controlled and thus basically prospective multicenter studies would be needed before we could draw conclusions on the clinical utility of inflammatory biomarkers (53).

Inflammation, Brain Injury, and Systemic Complications

There is systemic immune response activation after SAH and it is commonly manifested by high levels of circulating cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α (65). These are key mediators of systemic inflammation. Clinically, this process is usually manifested by fever, leukocytosis, tachycardia, and tachypnea. These are components of SIRS, which has been defined by the presence of two or more of the following: temperature <36 or >38°C, heart rate >90 bpm, respiratory rate of >20 breaths/ min, and white blood cell count of <4,000 or >12,000/mm³ (66, 67). In 2 reports that included 276 and 413 patients with SAH, respectively, SIRS was present on admission in over half and in 63-85% within 4 days (68-70). Its occurrence was associated with poorer neurological grade, larger amount of subarachnoid blood on computed tomography. In one of the two studies, it was an independent predictor of angiographic vasospasm, systemic complications, unfavorable outcome, and death.

Systemic inflammatory response is a relatively nonspecific clinical syndrome that reflects a complex interaction among inflammation, coagulation, sympathoadrenal activation, and endothelial cell activation and dysfunction (71). This complex process generates and perpetuates tissue hypoperfusion, ultimately culminating with microthrombosis and compromised microcirculation blood flow, which is manifested by the multiorgan dysfunction syndrome (71,72). In addition, catecholamines released into the systemic circulation after SAH may induce cardiac and pulmonary dysfunction (i.e., myocardial stunning and neurogenic pulmonary edema) (73, 74). Sympathoadrenal activation, represented by high circulating catecholamine levels, has also been shown to be highly associated with coagulopathy, endotheliopathy, and functional outcome in patients with isolated traumatic brain injury (75, 76).

Other indirect surrogate markers of systemic inflammatory activity after SAH include hyperthermia, elevated white blood cell count, hyperglycemia, high erythrocyte sedimentation rate, high CRP, transthyretin, and negative nitrogen balance (60, 64, 66, 72–82). Those systemic inflammatory parameters are associated with angiographic vasospasm, DCI, and unfavorable outcome (66, 68).

Platelet Activation and Inflammation After SAH

Inflammation is intimately related to platelet adhesion, activation of coagulation cascade, and consequently the formation of microthrombi (82). Injury to a blood vessel leads to endothelial platelet adhesion, which triggers the coagulation cascade. Thrombin, von Willebrand factor, and collagen are capable of activating the platelets, which release a large number of procoagulant factors, responsible for the development of a hemostatic clot (82–84).

In SAH patients, microthrombosis was described in an autopsy study of seven patients who died within 3 days of SAH (85). The density of thrombi (microclot burden) was associated with clinical and radiological evidence of delayed ischemia. Also, microclot burden was significantly associated with histological evidence of ischemia. Additional evidence for microthromboembolism includes a prospective study of SAH patients monitored with transcranial Doppler (86). Microembolic signals were detected in 16 of 23 patients (70%), and 44 of 138 arteries (32%) monitored. Microembolic signals were more common in patients with compared with patients without clinical vasospasm (83 versus 54%). These data at least show an association between inflammation, activation of coagulation cascade and formation of microthrombi after SAH and may be an additional component of DCI (83).

Inflammation and platelet activation have been associated with both early brain injury and DCI after SAH (82, 84). Frontera et al. (82), in a prospective study enrolled 106 consecutive SAH patients, comparing them with 26 control subjects. Compared to controls, SAH patients demonstrated higher levels o inflammatory biomarkers (i.e. higher levels of C-reactive protein), and higher levels of platelets activation by thromboelastography. Platelet activation and inflammation were related to the severity of early brain injury, and it was also associated with the development of DCI and unfavorable functional outcome (82).

Interestingly, nimodipine has been shown to increase endogenous fibrinolysis, which may partially explain the benefit of nimodipine use by the reduction in microthrombosis after SAH (87). However, the exact mechanism by which nimodipine exerts its beneficial effects remains to be determined, but its probably multifactorial, including fibrinolysis, inhibition of cortical spreading ischemia, and the blockage of calcium influx to neurons after ischemia (1, 20).

Antiplatelet Drugs After SAH

Cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes are fundamental for the balance of vascular homeostasis (88). Thromboxane A2 (TxA_2) is released by platelets as a result of COX-1 activity, and prostacyclin is synthetized mainly in vascular endothelium by COX-2 (**Figure 1**). TxA_2 induces platelet aggregation, vasoconstriction, and smooth muscle proliferation, while prostacyclin antagonizes TxA_2 effects in the macrovascular endothelium through smooth muscle relaxation and vasodilator effects. Prostacyclin also inhibits platelet aggregation through prostacyclin receptors.

Acetylsalicylic acid [aspirin, a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID)] inhibits cyclic prostanoid synthesis (TxA₂, prostacyclin and other prostaglandins, **Figure 2**). The mechanism of its antithrombotic effect is by irreversible acetylation of COX-1, an enzyme constitutively expressed platelets and most other cells. This inhibits platelet aggregation. Its anti-inflammatory effects are due to inhibition of COX-2, which is induced by inflammation and generates inflammatory prostaglandins.

Dorhout Mees et al. conducted a meta-analysis of seven randomized clinical trials (1,385 patients) that evaluated the effect of antiplatelet drugs on outcome, case fatality, secondary ischemia, hemorrhagic intracranial complications, and aneurysm rebleeding in patients with SAH (28). The studies tested different drugs and regimens, including suppositories or oral aspirin, oral ticlopidine, oral or intravenous dipyridamole, continuous infusion of OKY-046, and continuous infusion of cataclot (90–94). There was no effect of the antiplatelet drugs on any of the outcome measures. Ticlopidine was associated with a significant reduction



constitutively expressed in many cells and COX-2 that is induced by inflammatory stimuli.



in poor outcome but this was based on one randomized trial of 135 patients (95).

Steroids for SAH

Corticosteroids are anti-inflammatory. They inhibit the formation of adhesion molecules, arachidonic acid metabolites, cytokines, and chemokines. The mechanism of action that accounts for their anti-inflammatory effects is direct binding of the glucocorticoid to the glucocorticoid receptor, forming a glucocorticoid/glucocorticoid receptor complex. This is transported in to the nucleus where it binds to glucocorticoid responsive elements in the promoter region of genes, or interacts with other transcription factors, in particular activating protein-1 or nuclear factor- κ B (96).

Several different types doses and dose regimens of corticosteroids have been studied in patients with SAH. Overall, the studies show mixed results and sample sizes are too small to draw conclusions among other shortcomings of the studies (23–25). The largest study was a retrospective cohort that included 309 patients, 101 (33%) who received dexamethasone. Dexamethasone significantly reduced in the odds of unfavorable outcome although it had no effect on DCI or the rate of infections (26). Glucocorticoids are not recommended for routine use in patients with SAH.

Important to mention is that a large randomized clinical trial, including more than 10,000 patients with moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury, compared the effect of 48 h infusion of methylprednisolone with placebo. The risk of death from all causes was increased in the intervention group (97, 98). The exact cause of worse outcome with the use of steroids after traumatic brain injury is not well established.

Immune-Suppressive Treatment in SAH

There are at least two studies that tested the use of immunesuppressive treatment in SAH. The first study was a randomized clinical trial, which included 25 patients (22). Nine received the intervention (cyclosporine A orally 6–9 mg/kg/day to maintain level of cyclosporine in the blood at 100–400 ng/ml). Patients treated with early clipping (up to 72 h after SAH) plus cyclosporine A had significantly better neurological outcome. The second study treated nine SAH patients with Fisher Grade 3 SAH with cyclosporine A (21). Despite the small number of patients, cyclosporine A was considered to be safe but to not prevent ACV or DCI.

Many SAH patients admitted to the critical care unit are exposed to invasive procedures and catheter placement, such as mechanical ventilation, external ventricular drain, invasive intracranial monitors, and vascular catheters. These invasive tools are fundamental for the management of poor-grade SAH patients (1), however, they may increase the risk of hospital-acquired infections (99). Therefore, the use of immunosuppressive treatment, including the use of glucocorticoids, might increase the risk of infection in this patient population, which increases the hospital morbidity and mortality.

NSAIDs for SAH

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs inhibit COX (88). Traditionally they inhibited COX-1 and COX-2 although there are some specific COX-2 inhibitors. Thus, they inhibit inflammation mediated by COX-2. While aspirin is the classic NSAID, the effects differ between the newer NSAIDs and from aspirin probably due to the relative potencies against COX-1 and COX-2 and their effects on other targets. For example, ibuprofen reduces the expression of adhesion molecules by the endothelium, which in turn decreases the inflammation in the subarachnoid space. In a propensity score-matched study, Nassiri et al. studied 178 patients with SAH who were matched by propensity scoring into 89 who received NSAIDS and 89 who did not (29). Use of NSAIDs was associated with lower in-hospital mortality and shorter intensive care and hospital stay. There was, however, no significant difference in functional outcome, in the development of delayed ischemic neurological deficits, angiographic vasospasm or need for rescue therapy. Muroi and colleagues found that NSAID use was associated with lower systemic IL-6 and CRP concentrations and with better outcome in 138 patients with SAH (100). There is at least one randomized clinical trial of NSAIDs in 81 patients with SAH (101). Meloxicam had no significant effect on ACV or clinical outcome compared to placebo. Currently, the treatment of SAH patients with NSAIDs cannot be recommended.

Other Potentially Anti-Inflammatory Drugs

Several other medications with anti-inflammatory activity have been tested in patients with SAH (**Table 1**). The statins are the best studied and have been completely ineffective at least in the doses and dose regimens studied (102). Albumin has multiple systemic and cerebral effects, including antioxidant and scavenger properties; the capacity to modulate cellular apoptosis; enhance of microcirculatory and organ blood flow; and an antiinflammatory effect through the decrease in leukocyte rolling and adherence. Albumin has been studied in a dose-escalation, Phase I, pilot study (33). Doses up to 1.25 g/kg/day × 7 days were well tolerated, with a trend toward better 3-month functional outcome. A Phase III placebo control trial will be carried out in the near future.

CONCLUSION

There is an increasing interest in the understanding of the role of neuroinflammation in the pathophysiology of early brain injury and DCI after SAH. Inflammatory biomarkers are associated with the occurrence of ACV, DCI, and unfavorable outcome. However, the use of anti-inflammatory agents was studied in only a small numbers of subjects. Acetylsalicylic acid, other NSAIDs, thromboxane synthase inhibitors, steroids, nitric oxide donors, and immunosuppressant therapies have not shown beneficial clinical effects. On the other hand, none have been studied in enough detail or in adequate, well-controlled clinical trials to reach a definitive conclusion about safety and efficacy. Currently, there is no intervention directly developed and approved to target neuroinflammation after SAH, therefore anti-inflammatory treatments are not suggested in SAH, at least in the doses and dose regimens studied.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AM wrote the first version of the manuscript. RM made crucial extensive revisions.

FUNDING

RM receives grant support from the Brain Aneurysm Foundation, Canadian Institutes for Health Research, Genome Canada, and the Ontario Genomics.

REFERENCES

- de Oliveira Manoel AL, Goffi A, Marotta TR, Schweizer TA, Abrahamson S, Macdonald RL. The critical care management of poor-grade subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Crit Care* (2016) 20:21. doi:10.1186/s13054-016-1193-9
- Macdonald RL, Schweizer TA. Spontaneous subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Lancet* (2017) 389(10069):655–66. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30668-7
- Macdonald RL. Delayed neurological deterioration after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Nat Rev Neurol (2014) 10(1):44–58. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2013.246
- de Oliveira Manoel AL, Mansur A, Silva GS, Germans MR, Jaja BNR, Kouzmina E, et al. Functional outcome after poor-grade subarachnoid hemorrhage: a single-center study and systematic literature review. *Neurocrit Care* (2016) 25:338–50. doi:10.1007/s12028-016-0305-3
- Germans MR, Coert BA, Vandertop WP, Verbaan D. Time intervals from subarachnoid hemorrhage to rebleed. *J Neurol* (2014) 261:1425–31. doi:10.1007/ s00415-014-7365-0
- van Donkelaar CE, Bakker NA, Veeger NJGM, Uyttenboogaart M, Metzemaekers JDM, Luijckx G-J, et al. Predictive factors for rebleeding after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: rebleeding aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage study. *Stroke* (2015) 46:2100–6. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA. 115.010037
- Vergouwen MDI, Vermeulen M, van Gijn J, Rinkel GJE, Wijdicks EF, Muizelaar JP, et al. Definition of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage as an outcome event in clinical trials and observational studies: proposal of a multidisciplinary research group. *Stroke* (2010) 41:2391–5. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.589275
- Jaja BNR, Saposnik G, Lingsma HF, Macdonald E, Thorpe KE, Mamdani M, et al. Development and validation of outcome prediction models for aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: the SAHIT multinational cohort study. *BMJ* (2018) 360:j5745–5717. doi:10.1136/bmj.j5745
- 9. Weir B, Grace M, Hansen J, Rothberg C. Time course of vasospasm in man. J Neurosurg (1978) 48:173–8. doi:10.3171/jns.1978.48.2.0173
- Crowley RW, Medel R, Dumont AS, Ilodigwe D, Kassell NF, Mayer SA, et al. Angiographic vasospasm is strongly correlated with cerebral infarction after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2011) 42:919–23. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.110.597005
- Vernieri F, Pasqualetti P, Matteis M, Passarelli F, Troisi E, Rossini PM, et al. Effect of collateral blood flow and cerebral vasomotor reactivity on the outcome of carotid artery occlusion. *Stroke* (2001) 32:1552–8. doi:10.1161/01.STR.32.7.1552
- 12. Liebeskind DS. Collateral circulation. *Stroke* (2003) 34:2279–84. doi:10.1161/ 01.STR.0000086465.41263.06
- Silvestrini M, Vernieri F, Pasqualetti P, Matteis M, Passarelli F, Troisi E, et al. Impaired cerebral vasoreactivity and risk of stroke in patients with asymptomatic carotid artery stenosis. *JAMA* (2000) 283:2122–7. doi:10.1001/ jama.283.16.2122
- Rabinstein AA, Weigand S, Atkinson JLD, Wijdicks EFM. Patterns of cerebral infarction in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2005) 36:992–7. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000163090.59350.5a
- Vergouwen MDI, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL. Cerebral infarction after subarachnoid hemorrhage contributes to poor outcome by vasospasmdependent and -independent effects. *Stroke* (2011) 42:924–9. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.110.597914
- Petruk KC, West M, Mohr G, Weir BK, Benoit BG, Gentili F, et al. Nimodipine treatment in poor-grade aneurysm patients. Results of a multicenter double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *J Neurosurg* (1988) 68:505–17. doi:10.3171/jns.1988.68.4.0505
- Dorhout Mees SM, Rinkel GJE, Feigin VL, Algra A, van den Bergh WM, Vermeulen M, et al. Calcium antagonists for aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2007):CD000277. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD000277.pub3
- Etminan N, Vergouwen MD, Ilodigwe D, Macdonald RL. Effect of pharmaceutical treatment on vasospasm, delayed cerebral ischemia, and clinical outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2011) 31(6):1443–51. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2011.7
- 19. Shen J, Pan J-W, Fan Z-X, Xiong X-X, Zhan R-Y. Dissociation of vasospasmrelated morbidity and outcomes in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid

hemorrhage treated with clazosentan: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Neurosurg (2013) 119:180–9. doi:10.3171/2013.3.JNS121436

- Rowland MJ, Hadjipavlou G, Kelly M, Westbrook J, Pattinson KTS. Delayed cerebral ischaemia after subarachnoid haemorrhage: looking beyond vasospasm. Br J Anaesth (2012) 109:315–29. doi:10.1093/bja/aes264
- Manno EM, Gress DR, Ogilvy CS, Stone CM, Zervas NT. The safety and efficacy of cyclosporine A in the prevention of vasospasm in patients with Fisher grade 3 subarachnoid hemorrhages: a pilot study. *Neurosurgery* (1997) 40:289–93. doi:10.1097/00006123-199702000-00010
- Ryba M, Pastuszko M, Iwanska K, Bidzinski J, Dziewiecki C. Cyclosporine A prevents neurological deterioration of patients with SAH – a preliminary report. Acta Neurochir (1991) 112:25–7. doi:10.1007/BF01402450
- Chyatte D, Fode NC, Nichols DA, Sundt TM. Preliminary report: effects of high dose methylprednisolone on delayed cerebral ischemia in patients at high risk for vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* (1987) 21:157–60. doi:10.1097/00006123-198708000-00004
- Gomis P, Graftieaux JP, Sercombe R, Hettler D, Scherpereel B, Rousseaux P. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, pilot trial of high-dose methylprednisolone in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2010) 112:681–8. doi:10.3171/2009.4.JNS081377
- 25. Hashi K, Takakura K, Sano K, Ohta T, Saito I, Okada K. [Intravenous hydrocortisone in large doses in the treatment of delayed ischemic neurological deficits following subarachnoid hemorrhage – results of a multi-center controlled double-blind clinical study]. *No To Shinkei* (1988) 40:373–82.
- Mohney N, Williamson CA, Rothman E, Ball R, Sheehan KM, Pandey AS, et al. A propensity score analysis of the impact of dexamethasone use on delayed cerebral ischemia and poor functional outcomes after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *World Neurosurg* (2018) 109:e655–61. doi:10.1016/j. wneu.2017.10.051
- Liu H, Xu X. Effect of simvastatin in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Emerg Med* (2017) 35(12):1940–5. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2017.09.001
- Dorhout Mees SM, van den Bergh WM, Algra A, Rinkel GJ. Antiplatelet therapy for aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2007) (4):CD006184.
- Nassiri F, Ibrahim GM, Badhiwala JH, Witiw CD, Mansouri A, Alotaibi NM, et al. Propensity score-matched study of the use of non-steroidal antiinflammatory agents following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2016) 25:351–8. doi:10.1007/s12028-016-0266-6
- 30. Senbokuya N, Kinouchi H, Kanemaru K, Ohashi Y, Fukamachi A, Yagi S, et al. Effects of cilostazol on cerebral vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a multicenter prospective, randomized, open-label blinded end point trial. J Neurosurg (2013) 118:121–30. doi:10.3171/2012.9.JNS12492
- 31. Singh N, Hopkins SJ, Hulme S, Galea JP, Hoadley M, Vail A, et al. The effect of intravenous interleukin-1 receptor antagonist on inflammatory mediators in cerebrospinal fluid after subarachnoid haemorrhage: a phase II randomised controlled trial. *J Neuroinflammation* (2014) 11:1. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-11-1
- 32. Nagahama Y, Allan L, Nakagawa D, Zanaty M, Starke RM, Chalouhi N, et al. Dual antiplatelet therapy in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: association with reduced risk of clinical vasospasm and delayed cerebral ischemia. *J Neurosurg* (2017) 1–9. doi:10.3171/2017.5.JNS17831
- Suarez JI, Martin RH, Calvillo E, Dillon C, Bershad EM, Macdonald RL, et al. The albumin in subarachnoid hemorrhage (ALISAH) multicenter pilot clinical trial safety and neurologic outcomes. *Stroke* (2012) 43(3):683–90. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.633958
- 34. Shimoda M, Takeuchi M, Tominaga J, Oda S, Kumasaka A, Tsugane R. Asymptomatic versus symptomatic infarcts from vasospasm in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage: serial magnetic resonance imaging. *Neurosurgery* (2001) 49:1341–8; discussion 1348–50. doi:10.1097/00006123-200112000-00010
- 35. Winkler MK, Dengler N, Hecht N, Hartings JA, Kang EJ, Major S, et al. Oxygen availability and spreading depolarizations provide complementary prognostic information in neuromonitoring of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage patients. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2017) 37(5):1841–56. doi:10.1177/0271678X16641424
- 36. Stein SC, Browne KD, Chen X-H, Smith DH, Graham DI. Thromboembolism and delayed cerebral ischemia after subarachnoid hemorrhage:

an autopsy study. Neurosurgery (2006) 59:781-8. doi:10.1227/01.NEU. 0000227519.27569.45

- Budohoski KP, Czosnyka M, Kirkpatrick PJ, Smielewski P, Steiner LA, Pickard JD. Clinical relevance of cerebral autoregulation following subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2013) 9(3):152–63. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2013.11
- Ostergaard L, Aamand R, Karabegovic S, Tietze A, Blicher JU, Mikkelsen IK, et al. The role of the microcirculation in delayed cerebral ischemia and chronic degenerative changes after subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2013) 33(12):1825–37. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2013.173
- Hop JWJ, Rinkel GJG, Algra AA, van Gijn JJ. Initial loss of consciousness and risk of delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (1999) 30:2268–71. doi:10.1161/01.STR.30.11.2268
- Suwatcharangkoon S, Meyers E, Falo C, Schmidt JM, Agarwal S, Claassen J, et al. Loss of consciousness at onset of subarachnoid hemorrhage as an important marker of early brain injury. *JAMA Neurol* (2016) 73:28. doi:10.1001/ jamaneurol.2015.3188
- Jaja BNR, Cusimano MD, Etminan N, Hänggi D, Hasan D, Ilodigwe D, et al. Clinical prediction models for aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review. *Neurocrit Care* (2012) 18:143–53. doi:10.1007/ s12028-012-9792-z
- Lucke-Wold BP, Logsdon AF, Manoranjan B, Turner RC, McConnell E, Vates GE, et al. Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and neuroinflammation: a comprehensive review. *Int J Mol Sci* (2016) 17(4):497. doi:10.3390/ ijms17040497
- Frontera JA, Claassen J, Schmidt JM, Wartenberg KE, Temes R, Connolly ES, et al. Prediction of symptomatic vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: the modified fisher scale. *Neurosurgery* (2006) 59:21–7. doi:10.1227/01. NEU.0000218821.34014.1B
- Fisher CM, Kistler JP, Davis JM. Relation of cerebral vasospasm to subarachnoid hemorrhage visualized by computerized tomographic scanning. *Neurosurgery* (1980) 6(1):1–9. doi:10.1097/00006123-198001000-00001
- Reilly C, Amidei C, Tolentino J, Jahromi BS, Macdonald RL. Clot volume and clearance rate as independent predictors of vasospasm after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2004) 101:255–61. doi:10.3171/ jns.2004.101.2.0255
- 46. de Oliveira Manoel AL, Jaja BN, Germans MR, Yan H, Qian W, Kouzmina E, et al. The VASOGRADE: a simple grading scale for prediction of delayed cerebral ischemia after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2015) 46(7):1826–31. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.008728
- Rosengart AJ, Schultheiss KE, Tolentino J, Macdonald RL. Prognostic factors for outcome in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2007) 38:2315–21. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.484360
- Dumont AS, Dumont RJ, Chow MM, Lin C-L, Calisaneller T, Ley KF, et al. Cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage: putative role of inflammation. *Neurosurgery* (2003) 53:123–35. doi:10.1227/01. NEU.0000068863.37133.9E
- Gallia GL, Tamargo RJ. Leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in chronic vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurol Res* (2006) 28(7):750–8. doi:10.1179/016164106X152025
- Pradilla G, Chaichana KL, Hoang S, Huang J, Tamargo RJ. Inflammation and cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurg Clin N Am* (2010) 21(2):365–79. doi:10.1016/j.nec.2009.10.008
- Galea J, Cruickshank G, Teeling JL, Boche D, Garland P, Perry VH, et al. The intrathecal CD163-haptoglobin-hemoglobin scavenging system in subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurochem* (2012) 121:785–92. doi:10.1111/ j.1471-4159.2012.07716.x
- Thelin EP, Tajsic T, Zeiler FA, Menon DK, Hutchinson PJA, Carpenter KLH, et al. Monitoring the neuroinflammatory response following acute brain injury. *Front Neurol* (2017) 8:231–14. doi:10.3389/fneur.2017.00351
- Zeiler FA, Thelin EP, Czosnyka M, Hutchinson PJ, Menon DK, Helmy A. Cerebrospinal fluid and microdialysis cytokines in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a scoping systematic review. *Front Neurol* (2017) 8:379. doi:10.3389/fneur.2017.00379
- Hong CM, Tosun C, Kurland DB, Gerzanich V, Schreibman D, Simard JM. Biomarkers as outcome predictors in subarachnoid hemorrhage – a systematic review. *Biomarkers* (2014) 19:95–108. doi:10.3109/13547 50X.2014.881418
- 55. Lad SP, Hegen H, Gupta G, Deisenhammer F, Steinberg GK. Proteomic biomarker discovery in cerebrospinal fluid for cerebral vasospasm following

subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis (2012) 21(1):30–41. doi:10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2010.04.004

- Mathiesen T, Edner G, Ulfarsson E, Andersson B. Cerebrospinal fluid interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and tumor necrosis factor-alpha following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (1997) 87:215–20. doi:10.3171/ jns.1997.87.2.0215
- Fassbender K, Hodapp B, Rossol S, Bertsch T, Schmeck J, Schütt S, et al. Inflammatory cytokines in subarachnoid haemorrhage: association with abnormal blood flow velocities in basal cerebral arteries. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2001) 70:534–7. doi:10.1136/jnnp.70.4.534
- Osuka K, Suzuki Y, Tanazawa T, Hattori K, Yamamoto N, Takayasu M, et al. Interleukin-6 and development of vasospasm after subarachnoid haemorrhage. Acta Neurochir (1998) 140:943–51. doi:10.1007/s007010050197
- Nakahara T, Tsuruta R, Kaneko T, Yamashita S, Fujita M, Kasaoka S, et al. High-mobility group box 1 protein in CSF of patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2009) 11:362–8. doi:10.1007/s12028-009-9276-y
- Muroi C, Hugelshofer M, Seule M, Tastan I, Fujioka M, Mishima K, et al. Correlation among systemic inflammatory parameter, occurrence of delayed neurological deficits, and outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* (2013) 72:367–75. doi:10.1227/NEU.0b013e31828048ce
- Sarrafzadeh A, Schlenk F, Gericke C, Vajkoczy P. Relevance of cerebral interleukin-6 after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2010) 13:339–46. doi:10.1007/s12028-010-9432-4
- Tulamo R, Frösen J, Junnikkala S, Paetau A, Pitkäniemi J, Kangasniemi M, et al. Complement activation associates with saccularcerebral artery aneurysm wall degeneration and rupture. *Neurosurgery* (2006) 59:1069–77. doi:10.1227/01.NEU.0000245598.84698.26
- Park CC, Shin ML, Simard JM. The complement membrane attack complex and the bystander effect in cerebral vasospasm. *J Neurosurg* (1997) 87:294–300. doi:10.3171/jns.1997.87.2.0294
- Kawano T, Yonekawa Y. Serum complements as indicator for predicting vasospasm and its severity after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Nihon Geka Hokan* (1990) 59:189–97.
- Jung CS, Lange B, Zimmermann M, Seifert V. CSF and serum biomarkers focusing on cerebral vasospasm and ischemia after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke Res Treat* (2013) 2013:560305. doi:10.1155/2013/560305
- Yoshimoto Y, Tanaka Y, Hoya K. Acute systemic inflammatory response syndrome in subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2001) 32:1989–93. doi:10.1161/ hs0901.095646
- Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, Dellinger RP, Fein AM, Knaus WA, et al. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. *Chest* (1992) 101:1644–55. doi:10.1378/chest.101.6.1644
- Dhar R, Diringer MN. The burden of the systemic inflammatory response predicts vasospasm and outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2008) 8:404–12. doi:10.1007/s12028-008-9054-2
- 69. Tam AKH, Ilodigwe D, Mocco J, Mayer S, Kassell N, Ruefenacht D, et al. Impact of systemic inflammatory response syndrome on vasospasm, cerebral infarction, and outcome after subarachnoid hemorrhage: exploratory analysis of CONSCIOUS-1 database. *Neurocrit Care* (2010) 13:182–9. doi:10.1007/ s12028-010-9402-x
- Nyström PO. The systemic inflammatory response syndrome: definitions and aetiology. J Antimicrob Chemother (1998) 41(Suppl A):1–7. doi:10.1093/ jac/41.suppl_1.1
- Aird WC. The role of the endothelium in severe sepsis and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Blood* (2003) 101:3765–77. doi:10.1182/ blood-2002-06-1887
- Malham GM, Souter MJ. Systemic inflammatory response syndrome and acute neurological disease. Br J Neurosurg (2001) 15:381–7. doi:10.1080/ 02688690120082378
- Mashaly HA, Provencio JJ. Inflammation as a link between brain injury and heart damage: the model of subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Cleve Clin J Med* (2008) 75:26–30. doi:10.3949/ccjm.75.Suppl_2.S26
- Naredi S, Lambert G, Eden E, Zäll S, Runnerstam M, Rydenhag B, et al. Increased sympathetic nervous activity in patients with nontraumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2000) 31:901–6. doi:10.1161/01.STR.31.4.901
- 75. Di Battista AP, Rizoli SB, Lejnieks B, Min A, Shiu MY, Peng HT, et al. Sympathoadrenal activation is associated with acute traumatic coagulopathy and endotheliopathy in isolated brain injury. *Shock* (2016) 46:96–103. doi:10.1097/SHK.00000000000642

- 76. Rizoli SB, Jaja BNR, Di Battista AP, Rhind SG, Neto AC, da Costa L, et al. Catecholamines as outcome markers in isolated traumatic brain injury: the COMA-TBI study. *Crit Care* (2017) 21:1–10. doi:10.1186/s13054-017-1620-6
- Scaravilli V, Tinchero G, Citerio G; The Participants in the International Multi-disciplinary Consensus Conference on the Critical Care Management of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Fever management in SAH. *Neurocrit Care* (2011) 15:287–94. doi:10.1007/s12028-011-9588-6
- McMahon CJ, Hopkins S, Vail A, King AT, Smith D, Illingworth KJ, et al. Inflammation as a predictor for delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. J Neurointerv Surg (2013) 5:512–7. doi:10.1136/ neurintsurg-2012-010386
- McGirt MJ, Mavropoulos JC, McGirt LY, Alexander MJ, Friedman AH, Laskowitz DT, et al. Leukocytosis as an independent risk factor for cerebral vasospasm following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (2003) 98(6):1222–6. doi:10.3171/jns.2003.98.6.1222
- The Participants in the International Multi-disciplinary Consensus Conference on the Critical Care Management of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage, Schmutzhard E, Rabinstein AA. Spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage and glucose management. *Neurocrit Care* (2011) 15:281–6. doi:10.1007/ s12028-011-9601-0
- Badjatia N, Monahan A, Carpenter A, Zimmerman J, Schmidt JM, Claassen J, et al. Inflammation, negative nitrogen balance, and outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurology* (2015) 84:680–7. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000001259
- Frontera JA, Provencio JJ, Sehba FA, McIntyre TM, Nowacki AS, Gordon E, et al. The role of platelet activation and inflammation in early brain injury following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2016) 26:48–57. doi:10.1007/s12028-016-0292-4
- Vergouwen MD, Vermeulen M, Coert BA, Stroes ES, Roos YB. Microthrombosis after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: an additional explanation for delayed cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2008) 28(11):1761–70. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2008.74
- Boluijt J, Meijers JC, Rinkel GJ, Vergouwen MD. Hemostasis and fibrinolysis in delayed cerebral ischemia after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a systematic review. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* (2015) 35(5):724–33. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2015.13
- Stein SC, Graham DI, Chen X-H, Smith DH. Association between intravascular microthrombosis and cerebral ischemia in traumatic brain injury. *Neurosurgery* (2004) 54:687–91. doi:10.1227/01.NEU.0000108641. 98845.88
- Romano JG, Forteza AM, Concha M, Koch S, Heros RC, Morcos JJ, et al. Detection of microemboli by transcranial Doppler ultrasonography in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery* (2002) 50:1026–30; discussion 1030–1. doi:10.1097/00006123-200205000-00016
- Vergouwen M, Vermeulen M, de Haan RJ, Levi M, Roos YB. Dihydropyridine calcium antagonists increase fibrinolytic activity: a systematic review. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2006) 27:1293–308. doi:10.1038/sj.jcbfm. 9600431
- Young AMH, Karri SK, Ogilvy CS. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs used as a treatment modality in subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Curr Drug Saf* (2012) 7:197–201. doi:10.2174/157488612803251342
- Angiolillo DJ. Antiplatelet therapy in diabetes: efficacy and limitations of current treatment strategies and future directions. *Diabetes Care* (2009) 32:531-40. doi:10.2337/dc08-2064
- van den Bergh WM; MASH Study Group, Algra A, Dorhout Mees SM, van Kooten F, Dirven CMF, et al. Randomized controlled trial of acetylsalicylic acid in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: the MASH Study. *Stroke* (2006) 37:2326–30. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000236841.16055.0f

- Mendelow AD, Stockdill G, Steers AJ, Hayes J, Gillingham FJ. Double-blind trial of aspirin in patient receiving tranexamic acid for subarachnoid hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir (1982) 62:195–202. doi:10.1007/BF01403624
- Hop JW, Rinkel GJ, Algra A, Berkelbach van der Sprenkel JW, van Gijn J. Randomized pilot trial of postoperative aspirin in subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurology* (2000) 54:872–8. doi:10.1212/WNL.54.4.872
- Shaw MD, Foy PM, Conway M, Pickard JD, Maloney P, Spillane JA, et al. Dipyridamole and postoperative ischemic deficits in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg* (1985) 63:699–703. doi:10.3171/ jns.1985.63.5.0699
- 94. Suzuki S, Sano K, Handa H, Asano T, Tamura A, Yonekawa Y, et al. Clinical study of OKY-046, a thromboxane synthetase inhibitor, in prevention of cerebral vasospasms and delayed cerebral ischaemic symptoms after subarachnoid haemorrhage due to aneurysmal rupture: a randomized double-blind study. *Neurol Res* (1989) 11(2):79–88.
- Tokiyoshi K, Ohnishi T, Nii Y. Efficacy and toxicity of thromboxane synthetase inhibitor for cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. Surg Neurol (1991) 36:112–8. doi:10.1016/0090-3019(91)90228-2
- van der Velden VH. Glucocorticoids: mechanisms of action and anti-inflammatory potential in asthma. *Mediators Inflamm* (1998) 7(4):229–37. doi:10.1080/09629359890910
- 97. Roberts I, Yates D, Sandercock P, Farrell B, Wasserberg J, Lomas G, et al. Effect of intravenous corticosteroids on death within 14 days in 10008 adults with clinically significant head injury (MRC CRASH trial): randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet* (2004) 364:1321–8. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(04)17188-2
- Edwards P, Arango M, Balica L, Cottingham R, El-Sayed H, Farrell B, et al. Final results of MRC CRASH, a randomised placebo-controlled trial of intravenous corticosteroid in adults with head injury-outcomes at 6 months. *Lancet* (2005) 365:1957–9. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66552-X
- Chatzi M, Karvouniaris M, Makris D, Tsimitrea E, Gatos C, Tasiou A, et al. Bundle of measures for external cerebral ventricular drainageassociated ventriculitis. *Crit Care Med* (2014) 42:66–73. doi:10.1097/CCM. 0b013e31829a70a5
- 100. Muroi C, Hugelshofer M, Seule M, Keller E. The impact of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on inflammatory response after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurocrit Care* (2013) 20:240–6. doi:10.1007/ s12028-013-9930-2
- 101. Ghodsi SM, Mohebbi N, Naderi S, Anbarloie M, Aoude A, Habibi Pasdar SS. Comparative efficacy of meloxicam and placebo in vasospasm of patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Iran J Pharm Res* (2015) 14:125–30.
- 102. Kirkpatrick PJ, Turner CL, Smith C, Hutchinson PJ, Murray GD, STASH Collaborators. Simvastatin in aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage (STASH): a multicentre randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2014) 13:666–75. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70084-5

Conflict of Interest Statement: RM receives grant support from the Brain Aneurysm Foundation, Canadian Institutes for Health Research, Genome Canada, and the Ontario Genomics Institute; and he is Chief Scientific Officer of Edge Therapeutics, Inc. The other author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 de Oliveira Manoel and Macdonald. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

